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NEEF
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To all Shareholders,

| hereby announce the annual results of Xinming China Holdings
Company Limited (the "Company” or “Xinming China"), for the year
ended 31 December 2024 (the “Year under Review"), on behalf of
the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Director”) of the Company.

Looking back at the year 2024, China's real estate industry
continued to face difficulties, including unstable liquidity due to
mounting developers’ debt, weakened consumer confidence,
weakened demand for property and sales decline, and the continued
decline in property prices. As a result of the ongoing market
downturn, the total investment in the real estate sector during
the year ended 31 December 2024 amounted to approximately
RMB10.0 trillion, representing a year-on-year decrease of
approximately 10.6%. Investment in residential properties amounted
to approximately RMB7.6 trillion, representing a year-on-year
decrease of 10.5%. The sales area of commercial properties was
approximately 973.85 million square metres, representing a year-
on-year decrease of approximately 12.9%, with the sales area of
residential properties decreasing by approximately 14.1%. The
sales revenue of commercial properties was approximately RMB97
trillion, down approximately 17.1% from the previous year, with
the sales of residential properties decreasing by approximately
17.6%. The statistical data illustrated that the sales and investment
performance of the real estate market continued to be weakened.

In the past year, the Central Government has actively and steadily
implemented policies with the goal of reversing the downturn of
and supporting and stabilizing the real estate market, including
the introduction of a “white list” policy, lowering of down payment
ratios, reduction of restrictions on housing purchases and provision
of financing support to developers. However, the effects of these
policies will take time to yield results, with the industry set to
consolidate further.

During the Year under Review, the Group actively prioritized the
strategic focus of revitalizing assets and reducing liabilities. Through
practical actions and diverse approaches, it sought to resolve the
Company’s ongoing operational challenges and improve its long-
term viability.
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The Company focused on the residential property development of
Shandong Project, and completed the second and third phases of
presale. The main structure and exterior facade of Blocks no. 9 and
no. 16 of the fourth phase of the residential zone of the Shandong
Project has been completed. The remaining construction works of
the fourth phase is scheduled to commence in August 2025 and
the expected presale commencement and construction completion
date are March 2026 and June 2026, respectively.

Meanwhile, the Company will continue to actively negotiate with
various financial institutions to extend the repayment date or
refinance its outstanding borrowings, and will proactively seek
various feasible options in assets revitalization in the future,
including but not limited to change of property use and sale of
property in its overall strategy.

During the Year under Review, the total revenue of the Company
(together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) amounted to
approximately RMB86.8 million, representing a decrease of
approximately RMB333.5 million or approximately 79.4% as
compared with the corresponding period of last year. The loss
attributable to the shareholders of the Company amounted to
approximately RMB542.5 million, representing an increase of loss of
approximately RMB16.4 million or approximately 3.1% from a loss of
approximately RMB526.1 million for the corresponding period of last
year, mainly due to a decrease in revenue and an increase in other
expenses and finance costs during the Year under Review.

During the Year under Review, loss per share was approximately
RMBO0.289 (2023: approximately RMB0.281). As at 31 December
2024, total assets of the Group amounted to approximately
RMB2,144.7 million (31 December 2023: approximately RMB2,215.7
million); total liabilities were approximately RMB5,694.0 million (31
December 2023: approximately RMB5,175.2 million); total negative
equity was approximately RMB3,549.3 million (31 December 2023:
approximately RMB2,959.5 million); and net liabilities per share
were approximately RMB1.89 (31 December 2023: approximately
RMB1.58).
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During the Year under Review, the Group recorded property sales
of approximately RMB85.4 million, representing a decrease of
approximately RMB333.5 million or approximately 79.6% compared
to approximately RMB418.9 million in 2023. Total GFA of property
sales delivered was approximately 7,451.3 sg.m., representing
a decrease of approximately 88.3% compared to approximately
63,413.5 sg.m. in 2023. This was mainly due to the overall downturn
in the Chinese real estate market, as well as the cumulative
presold residential units delivered and recognised in 2023. As at
31 December 2024, the Group's property portfolio consisted of 5
property development projects in various cities in the PRC. These
projects were at different stages of development, with total GFA
amounting to approximately 382,000 sg.m., of which approximately
281,000 sg.m. had been completed, approximately 22,000 sg.m.
was under development, and approximately 79,000 sqg.m. was held
for future development.

Looking ahead to 2025, it is expected that China’s macro-economy
will remain steady, with various cities relaxing restrictions on
purchases and loans, followed by the introduction of “three-
arrow” measures such as guaranteeing the delivery of properties,
credit, debt issuance and equity financing, which are all favourable
to real estate enterprises. The property market and investment
sentiment is expected to gradually stabilise and recover, In the
National Economic Programme of the 20th National Congress of
the PRC government, the PRC government stated that it is required
to maintain stable and healthy development of the real estate
market, and adhere to the principle of “housing is for living in and
not for speculation”. As China’s demographic structure gradually
increases the rate of urbanisation and the economies of third and
fourth tier cities are expected to grow, the development of real
estate investment is expected to become the focus of the market.
The Group will actively accelerate its de-stocking of completed
properties while exploring feasibility of assets revitalisation,
including but not limited to changing of property use and sale of
properties in its entirety. Furthermore, the Group will negotiate
with different financial institutions in respect of its outstanding
borrowings, with a view to improving its liability and financial
gearing conditions.
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Xinming China is still facing the most difficult time in the history
of the domestic real estate industry. We will continue to adhere to
our original intention, fulfil our duties with a firm belief, overcome
difficulties, and find high-valued business opportunities, focus
on de-stocking and de-leveraging with dedicated efforts, thereby
creating best value to our shareholders.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to
express the heartfelt and sincere gratitude to our management and
all staff members for their persistent efforts in the previous year
and to all the shareholders for their support and trust.

Xinming China Holdings Limited
Chen Chengshou
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hangzhou, China
31 March 2025
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Looking back at the PRC real estate market in 2024, according to
data published by the National Bureau of Statistics, the construction
area of housing projects by property development enterprises
totaled 733,247,000 square meters, reflecting a 12.7% year-on-year
decrease. New commercial housing sales amounted to RMB9.675
trillion, down 17.1% compared to the previous year, with residential
property sales declining by 17.6%. The real estate industry was
inevitably impacted by the nationwide downturn in the property
market.

During the Year under Review, the Group adopted various
methods to improve the going concern issue of the Company by
revitalizing assets and reducing liabilities. The Company focused
on the residential property development of Shandong Project, and
completed the second and third phases of presale. Meanwhile,
the Company will continue to actively negotiate with various
financial institutions to extend the repayment date or refinance its
outstanding borrowings, and will proactively seek various feasible
options in assets revitalization in the future, including but not
limited to change of property use and sale of property in its overall
strategy.

During the Year under Review, the Group recorded property
sales of approximately RMB85.4 million, representing a decrease
of approximately RMB333.5 million or approximately 79.6% as
compared to approximately RMB418.9 million in 2023, it was mainly
due to the overall downturn in China’s real estate market. Despite
stabilization policies implemented by Chinese policymakers in
2024 and early 2025, the market environment has yet to recover
sufficiently to reflect the effects of these measures. The Company
anticipates that, starting from the second half of 2025, signs of
recovery will gradually emerge in China’s real estate market as
the impact of the government’s stabilization policies begins to
materialize. In practice, the Company recorded moderate sales
from its Shandong project; however, lower-than-expected revenue
from other projects due to the recent slump in China’s property
market contributed to the overall decline in revenue during the
Year under Review. Total GFA delivered during the Year under
Review was approximately 7,451.3 sg.m., representing a decrease
of approximately 88.3%, as compared to approximately 63,413.5
sg.m. of 2023. At the same time, various real estate developers
were eager to cash in through price reduction and sales promotion
which intensified competition. In this regard, the Group has actively
made business adjustments and explored the use of each project,
including but not limited to changing property use and selling
properties in its entirety to speed up the cash-out. Such measures,
however, have not been able to significantly enhance the Group's
revenue for the Year under Review.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Loss attributable to the shareholders of the Company amounted
to approximately RMB542.5 million, representing an increase
of approximately RMB16.4 million or approximately 3.1% from
approximately RMB526.1 million in 2023, mainly due to a decrease
in revenue and an increase in other expenses and finance costs
during the Year under Review. L0oss per share was approximately
RMBO0.289 (2023: loss per share amounted to approximately
RMBO0.281).

During the Year under Review, the Board did not recommend
payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2024.

As at 31 December 2024, total assets of the Group amounted
to approximately RMB2,144.7 million (31 December 2023:
approximately RMB2,215.7 million); total liabilities were
approximately RMB5,694.0 million (31 December 2023:
approximately RMB5,175.2 million); total negative equity
was approximately RMB3,549.3 million (31 December 2023:
approximately RMB2,959.5 million); and net liabilities per share
were approximately RMB1.89 (31 December 2023: approximately
RMB1.58).

Property development

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s property portfolio consisted
of 5 property development projects with an aggregate GFA of
approximately 382,000 sg.m. developed and under various stages of
development in various cities in the PRC.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEER WD

The summary of the portfolio of our property development projects
as at 31 December 2024 is set out in the table below:

TRAEZZE-_NF+_A=+—B&HMYE

FEBEEAAMEE -

COMPLETED UNDER DEVELOPMENT FUTURE DEVELOPMENT
[5d:an EE ARER
Non  Saleable GFA Saleable Estimated ~ Estimated Equity
GFA Saleable  saleable invemaining ~ GFAunder  Saleable GFA~ Planned dateof  stageof atiributable
Project Location Existing use Sitearea  completed GFA GFA unsold ~ development GFA pressold GFA completion  completion o the Group
BTAHE
BfEAT EE  FUEE RN WEYEE THERE CRERE  REE% it Bt 458
b it Ehfil WEER it [t A THEEE i it [t AR KIRE  RIKR  fkER
sqm. sm. sgm. sqm. sqm. sqm. sm. sgm. sqm. %
T T ThR ThR Thr T Thk ThR ThR %
Completed
BRI
Taizhou Xinming
Peningular
Bk
Phase 1 Xinming Peninsula, West Road, Residentil, 86,667 189,387 157,005 2% - - - - - - - 100%
Baiyunshan, Jiaojiang District, commercial
Taizhou City
-8 ANTRIEAZIERTALS ft= BB
Phase2-Stage  Xinming PeninsLla, West Road, Residentil, #6,600 121498 mm 9775 - - - - - - - 100%
Baiyunshan, igojiang District, commercil
Taizhou City
“H-ER ANTHIEREUERTS LS ftz &R
Phase2-Stage2  Xinming PeninsLla, West Road, Residentil, 52,540 152,624 158 280 8 - - - - - - 100%
Baiyunshan, igojiang District, commercial
Taizhou City
ZHoEG AMTIEREUERHSH LS iz
Xinming International  No. 8, North Section, Taizhou Boulevard,  Commercial 131768 207,908 100,151 107757 - - - - - - - 100%
Household Products  Jigojiang Distict, No. 27 Buiding,
Malland Exhibition ~ No. 8, North Section, Taizhou Boulevard,
Center Jaojiang District, Taizhou City
FRERFELE  ANTHIRSMKELASE WIE &R
BERETRL aMAEEsHIE
Xinming Lijang Garden - Xinming Lijang Garden, No. 8, North Residentil, 3431 210,988 177,466 B0 10383 - - - - - - 100%
Section, Taizhou Boulevard, Jiaojiang commercil
Distrct, Taizhou City
FRETR éﬁﬂﬁb&}lﬁéJ‘\\\K%Eit&Siﬁ%ﬁHH%}I iz
L
Wenshang Times e No. 1990, East Ring Boulevard, Jiaojang ~ Commerciel 4uan 67,251 a5 28% 301 - - - - - - 100%
Xinming Household  District, Taizhou City (Xinming
Decorations and Housefold Decorations and
Fittings City Fittings City)
BERR IRSRE ANTHIEREREWE(FRS AR
@)
Wenshang Times e No. 1990-1, East Ring Boulevard, Jiaojiang ~ Residential 10263 3994 3,405 433% - - - - - - - 100%
Xinming Apariment - Distict, Taizhou City
BERR LR ANTHIBREREN-R fiz
Shandong Xingmeng  Xingmeng International Commercial Commercial 89,100 83,505 8,39 2106 62677 - - - - - - 75%
Inteational City, Wultunzhuanpan, Tengzhou City,
Commercial City Shandong Province
IRERERERE  WRARITIETSEARERES AR
Shangha Xinming -~~~ No. 699, Liuxiang Road, Nanxiang Town, ~ Commercial 3720 186,904 18179 875 033 - - - - - - 7%%
Children’s World Jading District, Shanghai Municipelity
DETRREER  CETRRREARIIARON R
Hangzhou Xinming -~ No. 698, Xiaohe Road, Gongshu Distrct,  Commercial 049 147,754 147754 - - - - - - - - 100%
Children's World Hangzhou
THERREER  MNTHER)THRORR ER
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

== =4 A EEg A\
SpEEREC
COMPLETED UNDER DEVELOPMENT FUTURE DEVELOPMENT
BEgT s ARER
Non  Saleable GFA Saleable Estimated ~ Estimated Equity
GFA Saleable  saleable inremaining  GFAunder  Saleable GFA Planned dateof  stageof attributable
Project Location Existing use Sitearea  completed GFA GFA unsold ~ development GFA presold GFA completion  completion ~to the Group
BTAEE
BEST TEE  FUEE HRY WRYEE THERE DRERE  REER Bit i A5E
%8 bt BHRE HEER it i AR TEEER i it il BE AIRE RIRR KRR
som. sm. som. sgm. Sgm. sm. sm. som. sgm. %
AL RO RO SO RO AL RO SO SO %
Shandong Xingmeng  Thewiestem side of Luban Avenueend  Residental 5482 95402 92130 3 34,688 - - - - - - 5%
Yayuan the northern side of Jingfe West Road,
Tengzhou City, Shandong Province
LREERE URERNTRIABRR #AER  £E
B
Under Development
g
Shandong Xingmeng  Xingmeng International Commercial Residental 29,206 - - - - 108,186 1020% 986.3 - - 100% 75%
Yayuan City, Wultunzhuanpan, Tengzhou City,
Shandong Province
LREERR UREBNTIEIERRRAREN £
Total &5 694 1508162 121660 0511 10887973 108,188 102,026 9863 -

FATEERERAR —T-RFEFR 11

B



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENmED N

Property sales

During the Year under Review, the Group recorded property
sales of approximately RMB85.4 million, representing a decrease
of approximately RMB333.5 million or approximately 79.6% as
compared to approximately RMB418.9 million in 2023. Total GFA
of property sales delivered during the Year under Review was
approximately 7,451.3 sg.m., representing a significant decrease
of approximately 63,413.5 g.m. as compared with 2023, which was
mainly derived from the overall downturn in China’s real estate
market and the cumulative presold residential units delivered
and recognized in 2023. In this regard, the Group has actively
made business adjustments and assessed all potential project
applications, including but not limited to change of use and sale
of property. Such measures, however, have not yet resulted in a
measurable revenue contribution as at the date of this report.

The following table summarizes the property projects of the Group
sold during the Year under Review:

MEHE
REBFENRN  AEBSGSHEHEEELD
ARBESSABB L BT - =ZFHARKE

AM8I9BEE LR ARKIBSEE LKL
79.6% c REIBFE AR Y EEEEEER

HBR74513F 5K RZBEZ=FRKERD
#963,4135F 5K £ & %m#$l%m§m
SRBEX  URZEZ=FXMRER
Aﬁﬁﬁﬁ*“uo$ilaﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂ
XEBRAE  FEMEBENEERE B2
BTIRAEEFERAEMLEME - RAF
WA ZETHHATRAFTENRAER
Ej(o

TRENNEEFEAEEMEHERE M

&5 -
=

Average
Project Location GFA sold Income selling price
EHA vE HEEEERE WA FHEE
sg.m. RMB in million RMB/sqg.m.
77K ARBEEETT ARE FHK
By market sale
BRMGHE
Xingmeng International Commercial City Tengzhou 4,410.9 30.4 6,882.6
5 FA B B P JE
Residential
F=E
Shanghai Xinming Children’s World Shanghai 3,040.4 55.0 18,577.9
ETEAREH R abis]
Commercial
Bk
Total &&f 7,451.3 85.4 11,461
By court-ordered sale
BERBSTHE
Taizhou Xinming Taizhou 376.97 2.1 5,607.9
& M AR =
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Property leasing

The Group carries out property leasing business through leasing
its commercial properties held for investment and leasing the
sold commercial properties leased back from third parties by the
Group. As at 31 December 2024, the actual area leased out was
approximately 13,546.5 sq.m., representing approximately 90.2%
of the Group’s investment properties held-for-lease and the sold
commercial properties leased back from third parties purchasers.

During the Year under Review, the rental income was approximately
RMB1.5 million, representing a decrease of approximately RMB2.2
million or 59.8% as compared to approximately RMB3.7 million in
2023.

The following table summarises the commercial properties held by
the Group for investment during the Year under Review:

As at 31 December 2024
R-ZB-ME+=-A=+-A

Total GFA Leasable area
BREER AHEEE
sq.m. sq.m.
% %
Commercial investment properties for rental
purpose
ELERRNBRRENR
No. 8, North Section, Taizhou Boulevard, Jiaojiang 101,163.32 62,163.36

District, Taizhou City
AMTHIIE &M A B RS

Note: All properties were located in the PRC, and were held under medium
term lease.

EEENWED A

MEHEE

AEEBBLHAESERENHEDERDY
MAEERE=-ZFEHENEEREDE -
NEMEREEY -R_T-_WF+=A
—+—H EBRHEEBELNA135465F )
Ko EAEERBEHHERAENEEDERSE
BEZHFEROHENEERMEMEL0.2% °

REBEFEAR  HEWRANARKISEHS
T BR-ZEC=ZFHARKITEET R
MANRE22BEHTTHG.8% °

TERENNEBEFEARERFERENEE
MEMRE

Rental income
for the year

Average ended

occupancy 31 December

Leased area rate 2024

Bz

2 nF

t=A

=t-ALt

FEH

EHEER FRAR HERA

sq.m. % RMB million

P % AREBEET

13,546.5 21.8 1.5
MiEE - PRAMEBURSE  TRETHEER

o

—E_NEER



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENmED N

Court ordered sale of completed properties held for
sale

During the year ended 31 December 2024, an auction in respect of
certain completed properties held for sale of Taizhou Xinming has
taken place and the said completed properties held for sale had
been sold in the said auction for an amount of RMB2,114,000 which
is same as the aggregate reserve price and accordingly the loss on
court-ordered sale of approximately RMB3,319,000 was charged to
profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Land reserves

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s property portfolio consisted
of 5 property development projects located in a number of cities
throughout China. These projects were at various stages of
development, with total GFA amounting to approximately 382,000
sg.m., of which approximately 281,000 sg.m. was completed,
approximately 22,000 sg.m. was under development, and
approximately 79,000 sg.m. was held for future development.

Looking ahead to 2025, it is expected that China’s macro-economy
will remain steady, with various cities relaxing restrictions on
purchases and loans, followed by the introduction of “three-arrow”
measures such as guaranteeing the delivery of properties, credit,
debt issuance and equity financing, which are all favourable to real
estate enterprises. The property market and investment sentiment is
expected to gradually stabilise and recover.

In the National Economic Programme of the 20th National Congress
of the PRC government, the PRC government stated that it is
required to maintain stable and healthy development of the real
estate market, and adhere to the principle of “housing is for living
in and not for speculation”. As China’s demographic structure
gradually increases the rate of urbanisation and the economies of
third and fourth tier cities are expected to grow, the development
of real estate investment is expected to become the focus of the
market.

The Group will actively accelerate its de-stocking of completed
properties while exploring feasibility of assets revitalisation,
including but not limited to changing of property use and sale of
properties in its entirety. Furthermore, the Group will negotiate
with different financial institutions in respect of its outstanding
borrowings, with a view to improving its liability and financial
gearing conditions.

Annual Report 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Revenue

The Group’s revenue is primarily generated from property sales
and property leasing services, which contributed approximately
98.3% and 1.7%, respectively, to the revenue during the Year under
Review of approximately RMB86.8 million. Property sales, the
major revenue source of the Group, decreased by approximately
RMB333.5 million from approximately RMB418.9 million in the
same period of last year, mainly represented by the sale of the
Shandong residential project during the Year Under Review, which
was substantially less than the same period of last year due to the
completion of residential property development of the Shandong
Project of the second and third phases of legal property registration
that was recognised as sales in 2023. Property leasing recorded
a decrease of approximately RMB2.2 million as compared to
approximately RMB3.7 million in the same period of last year.

Cost of sales

During the Year under Review, the Group's cost of sales was
approximately RMB66.2 million, representing a decrease of
approximately RMB303.0 million or 82.1% as compared to
approximately RMB369.1 million in the same period of last year.
Such decrease was primarily attributable to a reduction of the
delivered properties sold during the Year under Review.

Gross profit

During the Year under Review, gross profit amounted to
approximately RMB20.7 million, representing a decrease of
approximately RMB32.8 million or approximately 61.3% as compared
to approximately RMB53.4 million in the same period of last year.
The gross profit margin was approximately 23.8%, which increased
as compared to approximately 12.6% last year, which was mainly
attributable to the effective cost control of Shandong residential
properties held for sale.

Other income and gains and losses

Other income and gains and losses during the Year under Review
amounted to approximately RMB21,000 as compared to a loss
of approximately RMB6.1 million in the same period of last year,
mainly due to no significant exchange loss arisen during the Year
under Review.

Selling and administrative expenses

During the Year under Review, the selling and administrative
expenses amounted to approximately RMB23.4 million, representing
a decrease of approximately RMB14.3 million or approximately
37.9% as compared to approximately RMB37.7 million last
year, mainly due to a decrease in administrative expenses by
approximately RMB13.3 million as compared to the same period of
last year through continued streamlining of the manpower of the
Group in line with the decrease in revenue.

EEENWED A

W 2

AEBEBEETERMEHE MM EHERS
EL  REBEFEANBANARKSSHE
T B D RIA) R98.3% K 1.7% - MK HE =
AEBETBWARR  BREFRBPHARE
MBIBEBTLRM D HARMEIISHET T &
ERBEFEANHEEILREEER  AHRAHEE
REFRMABRL  TBHR_T_=F
WRIBBE -_R=HEEMERETKEE
ERSLYERFHEE MEHELARE
FRPVNAREI7TEETRINARE22H
HIT °

HEMA

REBEFEER  AEBHEKAHDARK66.2
BET BEFRBHARYE369.1AETH
DPEIANREES03.0BH ETTHE2.1% © LK lEE
ZRAREEFEANLENCRADERD -

EF
REEFEANNEFNOARE207688T &
EERPNHARESIABETRIHARE
32.8BEE T #I61.3% o EFEL) A23.8%
BEFHN12.6%BEFT L TEHERARER
PRHIREHEE N LREEWEMRA -
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R#21,0007 - RERBOBRANAAR
BoIEEL FERANEBFELMES
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BE B WD T

Other expenses

Other expenses during the Year under Review was approximately
RMB473.8 million, representing an increase of approximately
RMB33.5 million or approximately 7.6% as compared to
approximately RMB440.3 million in the same period of last year,
mainly due to (i) increase in liquidated damages on borrowings,; (ii)
offset by a decrease in provision for impairment of properties due to
the expected decrease of their realisable value; and (iii) the market
of properties under development and completed properties held for
sale were adversely affected by the weak market sentiment during
the year ended 31 December 2024 and an impairment provision
of approximately RMB5.3 million was made during the year ended
31 December 2024 under the impact of the expected decrease of
realizable value on financial assets. Breakdown of other expenses
are set out below:

Hbp &
REBEFEANEMETOARBK4L73.868
UL REFREMHARKEAL40.35 8 Tig
MANREESZSEBETHLT7.6%  EZ2HA()
BRGELNSIBI : ()WY EREAETEH
W BEERERER DTS - &)
ERMERBELRENDERIMEMIS XD
BE_Z-_NE+_-_A=+—HILFEmTH
RABEBPIAEE  ELeMmEENEHRER
FEHTHRAFETREZ_Z-_NF+=A
=t+t—HLEFEFEHRERBHOARES3H
BT - B BEAENIT

2024 2023
—E_E S
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBT T
Liquidated damages on borrowings BRENS 412,709 314,859
Provision for impairment of properties [ E M IFEHENDET
under development and completed I ENRIER Y
properties held for sale 55,861 126,514
Impairment losses on financial assets, @ RIEZE 2 REBEFE
net 5,273 2,756
Total Bt 473,843 444,129
Change in fair value of investment properties RENERAREEED

During the Year under Review, the loss on change in fair value
of investment properties amounted to approximately RMB12.3
million, representing a decrease of approximately RMB5.6 million or
approximately 31.5% as compared to that of approximately RMB17.9
million in the same period of last year. The fair value of investment
properties decreased at a slower rate as compared to that in the
same period of last year as the downturn in the real estate sector
stabilised during the Year under Review.

Finance costs

During the Year under Review, the finance costs amounted
to approximately RMB96.7 million, representing an increase
of approximately RMB19.6 million or approximately 25.4% as
compared to approximately RMB77.1 million in the same period of
last year, mainly due to an increase in interest on interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings and a decrease of capitalised interest as
compared to the same period of last year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Operating loss

During the Year under Review, the operating loss amounted to
approximately RMB598.3 million, representing an increase of loss of
approximately RMB34.1 million or approximately 6.0% as compared
to the operating loss of approximately RMB564.2 million in the same
period of last year which was mainly due to a decrease in revenue
and the increase in liquidated damages on borrowings.

Income tax credit/expense

During the Year under Review, the income tax credit amounted to
approximately RMB8.6 million as compared to income tax expense
of approximately RMB28.5 million in the same period of last year,
mainly due to deferred tax movements and the decrease in land
appreciation tax.

Loss attributable to the shareholders

During the Year under Review, the loss attributable to the
shareholders amounted to approximately RMB542.5 million,
representing an increase of approximately RMB16.4 million or
approximately 3.1% as compared to the loss of approximately
RMB526.1 million in the same period of last year. The basic l0ss
per share was approximately RMB0.289 (2023: approximately
RMBO0.281).

Cash flows

As at 31 December 2024, cash and bank deposits of the Group,
including restricted cash, was approximately RMB2.1 million in
aggregate (31 December 2023: approximately RMB1.9 million),
representing an increase of approximately RMB0.2 million or
approximately 11.8%.

Borrowings

As at 31 December 2024, the total borrowings of the Group were
approximately RMB1,212.7 million, representing a decrease of
approximately RMB66.8 million or approximately 5.2% as compared
to approximately RMB1,279.5 million as at 31 December 2023.

The borrowings on demand and repayable within one year of the
Group were approximately RMB1,212.7 million, representing a
decrease of approximately RMB66.8 million or approximately 5.2% as
compared to approximately RMB1,279.5 million as at 31 December
2023. The decrease was due to the repayment of loan principals
through the court-ordered sales which covered repayment of
certain principals and default interests.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENmED N

Trade receivables, prepayments, other receivables and
other assets

As at 31 December 2024, the sum of trade receivables, prepayments,
other receivables and other assets of the Group was approximately
RMB48.7 million, representing an increase of approximately RMB7.0
million or approximately 16.9% as compared to approximately
RMB41.7 million as at 31 December 2023, mainly due to an increase
of prepayment in the Shandong Project.

Trade payables, contract liabilities and other payables
and accruals

As at 31 December 2024, the sum of trade payables, contract
liabilities, other payables and accruals of the Group was
approximately RMB3,118.4 million, representing an increase
of approximately RMB567.0 million or approximately 22.2% as
compared to approximately RMB2,551.4 million as at 31 December
2023. The increase was mainly due to an increase in accrual of
interest and penalties on interest and other payables for the
Shandong Project.

Assets and liabilities

As at 31 December 2024, the total assets of the Group was
approximately RMB2,144.7 million, representing a decrease of
approximately RMB71.0 million as compared to approximately
RMB2,215.7 million as at 31 December 2023. The total current
assets was approximately RMB1,010.3 million, representing
approximately 47.1% (31 December 2023: approximately 49.1%) of
the total assets, with a decrease of approximately RMB76.5 million as
compared to approximately RMB1,086.7 million as at 31 December
2023. The total noncurrent assets was approximately RMB1,134.5
million, representing approximately 52.9% (31 December 2023:
approximately 51.0%) of the total assets, with an increase of
approximately RMB5.5 million as compared to approximately
RMB1,129.0 million as at 31 December 2023.

As at 31 December 2024, the total liabilities of the Group was
approximately RMB5,694.0 million, representing an increase of
approximately RMB518.8 million as compared to approximately
RMB5,175.2 million as at 31 December 2023. The total current
liabilities was approximately RMB5,518.2 million, representing
approximately 96.9% (31 December 2023: approximately 96.7%) of
the total liabilities, with an increase of approximately RMB511.4
million as compared to approximately RMB5,006.9 million as at 31
December 2023. The total non-current liabilities was approximately
RMB175.7 million, representing approximately 3.1% (31 December
2023: approximately 3.3%) of the total liabilities, with an increase
of approximately RMB7.4 million as compared to approximately
RMB168.3 million as at 31 December 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As at 31 December 2024, the net current liabilities of the Group
was approximately RMB4,508.0 million, representing an increase
of approximately RMB587.8 million or approximately 15.0% as
compared to the net current liabilities of approximately RMB3,920.2
million as at 31 December 2023.

Current ratio

As at 31 December 2024, the current ratio of the Group, being the
ratio of the current assets divided by the current liabilities, was
0.18:1 (31 December 2023: 0.22:1).

Gearing ratio

As at 31 December 2024, the gearing ratio of the Group was
calculated based on net debt divided by the sum of total equity and
net debt. The Group’s net debt consists of interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings and convertible bonds, less cash and cash
equivalents. Total equity includes equity attributable to owners of
the parent and non-controlling interests. The gearing ratio of the
Group was (72.7)% (31 December 2023: (110)%).

Convertible bonds

On 1 June 2018, the Company issued convertible bonds in the
aggregate principal amount of HK$300,000,000 (the “Convertible
Bonds” or “CB") at the price of 100% of their principal amount.
The Convertible Bonds were redeemable at the option of the
bondholders at a price of HK$1.39 per bond on 1 June 2020. The
convertible bonds bore interest at the rate of 6.5% plus 1% handling
fee per annum (the “Coupon Rate”) and were payable in arrears
every six months. The convertible bonds were jointly guaranteed
by the Controlling Shareholder, Mr. Chen Chengshou, and the
nonexecutive director, Ms. Gao Qiaogin, pursuant to a deed of
guarantee, and secured by Xinxing Company Limited by 940,000,000
shares of the Company held by Xinxing Company Limited, a
company controlled by Mr. Chen Chengshou, of which the aforesaid
shares was completely sold and transferred to Share Purchasers on
16 January 2025

On 16 January 2025, the Company was informed by Chance Talent
(“CB Sellers”) that on 15 January 2025, Advance Day and CB Sellers
transferred the convertible bonds, free from all encumbrances,
together with all rights and entitlements attaching to them, to
the CB Purchaser, Motivational Mathematics Limited, at the total
consideration of HK$31.5 million.

For details, please refer to the Company’s announcements dated 16
January 2025 and 21 January 2025 respectively.

The principal amount of HK$300 million and interests have not been
settled as of the date of this report.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENmED N

Significant investments

During the Year under Review, the Group has no significant
investment.

Material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries

During the Year under Review, the Group has no material
acquisitions or disposals of any subsidiaries.

Guarantees on mortgage facilities

As at 31 December 2024, the Group provided guarantees over the
mortgage loans of certain purchasers of approximately RMB28.0
million (31 December 2023: approximately RMB28.6 million).

Assets guarantees

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has pledged or restricted
deposits in the bank deposits of RMB1.4 million (31 December 2023:
approximately RMBO0.5 million). In addition, partial other borrowings
of the Group were secured by the Group’s certain properties under
development, completed properties held for sale, investment
properties and the equity interests in certain subsidiaries of the
Group, and jointly guaranteed by the Controlling Shareholder of the
Group, Mr. Chen Chengshou (“Mr. Chen”), Mr. Chen’s children and
the non-executive Director, Ms. Gao Qiaogin, the Group’s related
company, Xinming Group Limited, and other minority shareholders
of certain subsidiaries of the Group free of charge.

Capital expenditure

During the Year under Review, the Group's total capital expenditure
was approximately RMBO million (31 December 2023: approximately
RMBO million).

Capital commitments

As at 31 December 2024, the capital commitments related to
activities of properties under development were approximately
RMB24.5 million (31 December 2023: approximately RMB3.7 million).

Exposure to exchange rate fluctuations

The Group operates mainly in Renminbi, and certain bank deposits
of the Group are denominated in Hong Kong dollars. Save as
disclosed above, the Group was not exposed to any material
exchange rate fluctuation risk and did not enter into foreign
currency hedging policies. However, the Group will monitor closely
the foreign exchange risk and may, as the case may be and
depending on the trend of foreign currencies, consider to apply
significant foreign currency hedging policies in the future.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Employees and remuneration policy

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has a total of 50 employees (31
December 2023: a total of 55 employees). The Group promoted the
upgrading of talents, cultivated and recruited excellent talents with
sales and management experience, improved the allocation system
of remuneration linked to performance and maintained harmonious
labor relations. The remuneration of employees of the Group will be
based on their performance, experience and the prevailing market
remuneration. Moreover, the Group has also adopted a share option
scheme and a share award scheme.

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2024, the Company had guarantees in respect
of mortgage facilities granted to purchasers of the Group's
properties of approximately RMB28.0 million (31 December 2023:
approximately RMB28.6 million).

The Auditor does not express an opinion on consolidated financial
statements of the Group. Because of the potential interaction of
the multiple uncertainties and their possible cumulative effect on
the consolidated financial statements as described in the Basis for
Disclaimer of Opinion section of their report, it is not possible for
them to form an opinion on these consolidated financial statements.
In all other respects, in their opinion the consolidated financial
statements have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for disclaimer of opinion

Multiple material uncertainties relating to going concern

As set out in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group incurred a net loss of approximately RMB589,691,000
for the year ended 31 December 2024. At 31 December 2024,
the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets by
approximately RMB4,507,983,000. In addition, at 31 December 2024,
the Group’s borrowings of approximately RMB1,212,708,000 and the
convertible bonds issued by the Group amounting approximately
RMB282,125,000 were overdue pursuant to the borrowing
agreements which constituted events of defaults. These conditions,
together with other matters disclosed in note 2 to the consolidated
financial statements, indicate the existence of material uncertainties
which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENmED N

The Management has been undertaking measures to improve the
Group’s liquidity and financial position, which are set out in note 2
to the consolidated financial statements. The validity of the going
concern assumption on which the consolidated financial statements
have been prepared depends on the outcome of these measures,
which are subject to multiple material uncertainties, including
(i) successfully negotiating with various financial institutions
on the renewal of or extension for repayment of outstanding
borrowings, including those with overdue principals and interests;
(ii) successfully negotiating with various financial institutions
and potential lenders/investors to identify various options for
additionally financing the Group’s working capital and commitments
in the foreseeable future; (iii) successfully accelerating the pre-
sale and sale of properties under development and completed
properties and speeding up the collection of outstanding sales
proceeds, and controlling costs and capital expenditure so as to
generate adequate net cash inflows; (iv) successfully procuring and
negotiating the preliminary terms with large property development
enterprises for the sale of individual property development project
at a price deemed appropriate; and (v) successfully accelerate the
de-stocking of the Group’s properties by selling the residential
properties in Shandong and the whole or portion of commercial
properties in Taizhou and Shanghai as a package, with a view to
accelerating the recovery of working capital to improve the Group's
liability and financial gearing conditions.

The auditors of the Group were unable to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence about the appropriateness of the use
of going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements. Should the Group be unable to
operate as a going concern, adjustments would have to be made
to write down the carrying values of the Group's assets to their
recoverable amounts, to provide for any further liabilities which
might arise, and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current
liabilities as current assets and current liabilities, respectively.
The effects of these adjustments have not been reflected in the
consolidated financial statements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Details of the Audit Modification and the
Management’s Position, View and Assessment on the
Relevant Audit Modification

In view of the detailed conditions set out in the note 2 to the
consolidated financial statement for the year ended 31 December
2024 in this report, the auditor is of the view that, there’s significant
uncertainties that may cast significant doubt regarding the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. The Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern is subject to the Group's ability to
generate sufficient financial and operating cash flows. As at 31
December 2024, the Group’s certain borrowings amounted to
approximately RMB1,212,708,000 and convertible bonds amounted
to approximately RMB282,125,000 were overdue in accordance with
repayment schedules pursuant to the borrowing agreements. In
view of these circumstances, in assessing whether the Group will
have sufficient financial resources to continue as a going concern,
the management of the Group (the “Management”) has taken into
full consideration of the future liquidity and performance of the
Group and its available sources of finance. To mitigate the liquidity
pressure and improve the cash flow position of the Group, the
Management has adopted and will continue to implement various
measures mentioned in this report. Therefore, the Directors are
of the opinion that it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2024 on a going concern basis.

The auditor was unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence about the appropriateness of the use of going concern
basis of accounting in the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements. Should the Group be unable to operate as a going
concern, adjustments would have to be made to write down the
carrying values of the Group's assets to their recoverable amounts,
to provide for any further liabilities from which might arise, and to
reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current
assets and current liabilities, respectively. The effects of these
adjustments have not been reflected in the consolidated financial
statements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENmED N

The Management has been continuously negotiating with the
Group’s existing lenders on the renewal of or extension for
repayment of outstanding borrowings such that no actions will be
taken by the relevant lenders to demand immediate repayment of
the borrowings with interest payments in default, including those
with cross-default terms and hope to extend the due date and
the repayment schedules of the outstanding borrowings. As of
31 December 2024, the outstanding amount of the total principal
is RMB1,212.7 million. According to the recent negotiations with
various financial institutions and the current market situations, the
Management considers that after repayment or waive of overdue
interests, the financial institutions will be willing to extend the
current repayment schedule of outstanding borrowings and waive
the penalty interest.

Mitigation measures disclosed in the 2023 annual report of
the Group
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Reasons such measures failed to resolve the Audit
Modification in 2024
HEERRERR-_E_NFEZRERENER

Continuously negotiating with various financial
institutions on the renewal of or extension for
repayment of outstanding borrowings, including those
with overdue principals and interests;
MEREFR(BEEABEASEFE) FRESRE AHE
HEERENEBRXNERENTY

The commercial real estate business environment in
the PRC has yet to fully recover. Banks and financial
institutions in the PRC tended to adopt a more
conservative and risk avoidance approach in granting
new loans or extending existing loans to the real
estate sector.

FRENEAXFEHEXBIRBEHATEIME - FEMR

i, Continuously negotiating with various financial TR EeEMEEERNEHETEERTERRLERERS
institutions and potential lenders/investors to identify Bk E ZIRENE AR KA ARG 70X -

various options for additionally financing the Group's
working capital and commitments in the foreseeable
future;
il. HERCMEEBURBEERA REEREERRY
BLEBEERAAEEA R BRNEEE S RARERINE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Mitigation measures disclosed in the 2023 annual report of
the Group
AEE_B_=FEHRRENERER

Accelerating the pre-sale and sale of properties under
development and completed properties, such as
Shandong Project and controlling costs and controlling
capital expenditure so as to generate adequate net
cash inflows;
bu‘ﬁﬁﬂ?@ MEREETIYE 7 FBEMBEEENLRIE
CARESATEGEARAY  fMEERERS
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Reasons such measures failed to resolve the Audit
Modification in 2024
HEERRERR - E_NFEXREEENER

The Group has partially completed the pre-sale and
sale of Block 9 and no. 16 of the 4th phase of the
residential zone of Shandong Project in 2024 and
continues to sell the rest of the Block 9 and no. 16 of
the residential properties.
REBCRZZTZMF K ILRIBEE ZHBAEERE?
BEREICENEDTEE RIFETIE - WHEEHEHRT
RSB B16REEME -

The main structure and exterior facade of Blocks
no. 9 and no. 16 of the fourth phase of the
residential zone of the Shandong Project has been
completed. The remaining construction works of
phase 4 of the Shandong Project is scheduled to
commence in August 2025 and the expected presale
commencement and construction completion date
are March 2026 and June 2026, respectively.
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The Management has been negotiating financing
arrangements with self-financed contractor, who
will advance construction costs during the contract
period, settlement will not occur at the topping-
off stage but rather at or around the handover
stage, with payments made according to the sales
proceeds. The number of contractors interested
in such arrangement has increased in light of
the policies and initiatives introduced by the PRC
policymakers to stabilise the PRC property market
and prevent further declines.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENmED N

Mitigation measures disclosed in the 2023 annual report of
the Group
AEE_ZB_=FERRBENEBEE

iv.

Actively procuring and negotiating the preliminary
terms with large property development enterprises for
the sale of individual property development project
or whole commercial property at a price deemed
appropriate.
HEREEREAAYERECEED B EERWE
FEIEE B REAEMV T ER(NREEREGE) -

Actively accelerate the de-stocking of its properties
by selling the residential properties in Shandong
and the whole or portion of commercial properties
in Taizhou and Shanghai as a package, with a view
to accelerating the recovery of working capital to
improve its liability and financial gearing conditions.
BEINREYEEERF - BURUROEEYE KR
ANk EENEEDNELBABIRELE - AMRE
WeEES  NEHBBERMBEERBINR -
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Reasons such measures failed to resolve the Audit
Modification in 2024
HEERRERR-_E_NFEZREEENER

The Group is negotiating with other property
development enterprise and investors in relation to
Shanghai property development project and have
done preliminary due diligence work but since the
real estate market has yet to fully recover, such
negotiations were either not fruitful or proceeded
very slowly.

AEEFHEAMYERBTLERREER LSWERN
ZERETERTYEAERVSIEBRESEIIE  BEHR
BHEMSZHMATEME  ZEXRAEXNRIGER

The Group is negotiating with other property
development enterprises and investors in relation
to Shanghai property development project and have
done preliminary due diligence work but since the
real estate market has yet to fully recover, such
negotiations did not proceed smoothly.
AEEFEAMYMERECLERREES LEWER
ZEBETERTVERAERNIEREEIH  EAR
BHEM S RATEME - BEERAREIEFEST -

The Management is also planning to renovate the
commercial properties in Shanghai and Taizhou
to increase its underlying value before selling the
commercial properties of the said project. The
renovation costs are expected to be funded by a
private investor through a profit-sharing scheme or
by advanced receipts from customers and operating
cash flow.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The action plan in response to the audit modification
of the group and the impact of the audit modification
on the financial position of the company

In response to the uncertainties that may cast doubt regarding the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and for the purpose
of the removal of the Audit Modification, the Company has adopted
and intends to continue the implementation of the following
measures, including but not limited to:

(i) continuously negotiating with various financial institutions
on the renewal of or extension for repayment of outstanding
borrowings, including those with overdue principals and
interests. The Management has been continuously negotiating
with the Group’s existing lenders on the renewal of or
extension for repayment of outstanding borrowings such that
no action will be taken by the relevant lenders to demand
immediate repayment of the borrowings with interest
payments in default, including those with cross-default terms
and hope to extend the due date and the repayment schedules
of the outstanding borrowings.

(i) continuously negotiating with various financial institutions and
potential lenders/investors to identify various opportunities
for additionally financing the Group’s working capital and
commitments in the foreseeable future. As of the date of this
report, the Company negotiated with current and other banks
and financial institutions using the lands held by the Group
as guarantees on the additional financing. The Management
has also been negotiating financial arrangements with self-
financed contractor, who will advance construction costs
during the contract period, settlement will not be occurred
at the topping-off stage but rather at or around the handover
stage, with payments made according to the sales proceeds.

(il) accelerating the pre-sale and sale of properties under
development and completed properties, such as Shandong
Project and controlling costs and containing capital
expenditure so as to generate adequate net cash inflows
for the Group. The Group has partially completed the pre-
sale and sale of Block 9 and no. 16 of the fourth phase of the
Shandong Project in 2024 and continues to sell the rest of
the Block 9 and no. 16 of the residential properties. The main
structure and exterior facade of Blocks no. 9 and no. 16 of the
fourth phase of the residential zone of the Shandong Project
has been completed. The remaining construction works of
the fourth phase is scheduled to commence in August 2025
and the expected presale commencement and construction
completion date are March 2026 and June 2026, respectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENmED N

(iv)

The Management considers the proceeds from the
aforementioned presales and sales are sufficient to complete
the remaining construction work for Blocks 9 and 16 of
the Shandong Project, while effectively controlling costs
and capital expenditures to achieve cash flow breakeven.
The Management has also been negotiating financing
arrangements with self-financed contractor, who will advance
construction costs during the contract period, settlement will
not occur at the topping-off stage but rather at or around the
handover stage, with payments made according to the sales
proceeds. Due to weak market conditions, the management
is committed to implementing attractive sales promotion
plans and strategies to sell residential properties, thereby
maintaining adequate cash inflows.

Majority of the net proceeds from the Shandong Project has
been and will be used for the repayment of the outstanding
borrowings.

actively procuring and formulating the preliminary terms
with large property developers to sell individual property
development projects or whole commercial properties at an
appropriate price.

The Group is in discussions with other property developers
and investors regarding the Shanghai real estate development
project and has completed preliminary due diligence.
However, due to the incomplete recovery of the real estate
market, these negotiations have yet to progress smoothly. The
Management is actively seeking new investors to participate in
the redevelopment projects in Shanghai and Taizhou, aiming
to increase their underlying value and to accelerate the sales
of commercial properties more rapidly and effectively.

The Management estimated that most of the net proceeds
from the Shanghai Project will be used for the repayment of
the outstanding borrowing. The sale of the Shanghai Project
might constitute a transaction of the Company subject to
announcement pursuant to Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules and
subject to the relevant requirements under the Listing Rules.

actively accelerate the de-stocking of its properties by selling
the residential properties in Shandong and the whole or
portion of commercial properties in Taizhou and Shanghai as
a package, with a view to accelerating the recovery of working
capital to improve its liability and financial gearing conditions.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Due to weak market conditions, the Company’s management
is committed to implementing attractive sales promotion
plans and strategies to sell residential properties, thereby
ensuring ample cash inflows. Additionally, the management
has initiated proposals for capital restructuring and a rights
issue to raise funds of up to HKD84.2 million, which will be used
to repay the Company’s borrowings and maintain sufficient
working capital to support its normal operations. For details,
please refer to the announcement dated 6 December 2024.

Under the influence of the negative property market debt crisis
since 2022 onward, the nationwide sale of the residential and
commercial properties has been severely and adversely affected.
Therefore, the Group failed to implement its previous plans
effectively, including accelerating the sale of its properties under
development or completed properties as expected or the sale of
the Shandong residential project to repay the borrowings during the
year ended 31 December 2024.

However, in view of the global economic downturn, deterioration of
geopolitical relationships and the drag on China’s overall real estate
market recovery, the central government of the PRC launched a
series of policies to stabilize the sound development of the real
estate market on 17 May 2024 and 24 September 2024 respectively,
including the introduction of a “white list” policy, lowering of down
payment ratios, reduction of restrictions on housing purchases
and provision of financing support to developers. With various
cities relaxing restrictions on purchases and loans, followed by the
introduction of “three-arrow” measures such as guaranteeing the
delivery of properties, credit, debt issuance and equity financing,
which are all favourable to real estate developers, the downturn of
the real estate market is expected to stabilise and gradually reverse.

The property market and investment sentiment is expected to
gradually stabilise and recover. In the best case scenario, assuming
(i) the Company could sell the whole or portion of commercial
properties in Taizhou and Shanghai as a package, (i) the Company
is able to successfully extend the repayment schedules of existing
borrowings; and (iii) financial institutions are willing to waive penalty
after repayment of overdue principal and/or interest, it will be able
to fully repay all overdue interests and principal.

Even if the Company could not sell the whole or portion of
commercial properties in Taizhou and Shanghai as a package,
assuming (i) the Company is able to sell its residential properties
in Shandong and commercial properties in Taizhou and Shanghai
to individual customers; (ii) the Company is able to sell whole of
commercial properties in Shanghai as a package; (iii) the Company
is able to successfully extend the repayment schedules of existing
borrowings; and (iv) financial institutions are willing to waive penalty
after repayment of overdue principal and/or interest, the Company
will be able to fully repay the overdue interest and principal of the
borrowings.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENmED N

The Management is of the view that the repayment terms of
the major liabilities of the Group, i.e. the bank borrowings and
convertible bond are negotiable. The Management has been
negotiating terms of the liabilities with its major creditors and
given the fact that most of the outstanding bank borrowings are
secured by properties and the market value of the properties held
by the Group exceed the principal amount of total bank borrowings
and convertible bonds, the Management considers the Group has
the ability to repay the principal amount of total bank borrowings
and convertible bonds of the Group and negotiate the waiver of
the interest and default penalties eventually in relation to the said
liabilities.

Additionally, the Group has been actively developing its existing
property development projects. The main structure and exterior
facade of Blocks no. 9 and no. 16 of the fourth phase of the
residential zone of the Shandong Project has been completed. The
remaining construction works of phase 4 of the Shandong Project is
scheduled to commence in August 2025 and the expected presale
commencement and construction completion date are March 2026
and June 2026, respectively. The Management has been negotiating
financial arrangements with self-financed contractor, who will
advance construction costs during the contract period, with
payments made according to the sales proceeds.

The Management is also planning to renovate the commercial
properties in Shanghai and Taizhou to increase its underlying value
before selling the commercial properties of the said projects. The
renovation costs are expected to be funded by a private investor
through a profit-sharing scheme or by advanced receipts from
customers and operating cash flows.

Having considered the above, the Management considers it is
appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 on a going concern
basis.

However, as the auditor was unable to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence about the appropriateness of the use of going
concern basis of accounting in preparation of the consolidated
financial statements, the auditor of the Group issued the disclaimer
of opinion on the Company’s consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2024.

The Audit Modification by itself does not have any material impact
on the financial position of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2024. As stated in the independent auditor’s report,
these events or conditions, along with other matters as set forth
in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, indicate that
material uncertainties exist that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Audit Committee has been closely communicating with the
Management and the Auditor on the Audit Modification. The
Management has reported regularly to the Audit Committee on
the measures taken to improve the conditions of the Group’s
cash flow and their progress during the year. The Board and the
Audit Committee have taken into account of the following actions
taken by the Management prior to publication of the unaudited
consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2024: including (i) renewal or extension of
outstanding borrowings; (i) additional financing; (iii) accelerating the
pre-sale and sale of properties under development and completed
properties; (iv) selling properties as a whole; and (v) developing
properties through joint efforts of the Company and its potential
investors. The Management also provides explanation to the Audit
Committee, the reasons that the Company failed to remove the
Audit Modification for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Having taken into consideration of the overdue interest of the
outstanding loans and the amount of the principal, the Board and
the Audit Committee understood that the action plan was still
ongoing as at the date of approval of the financial statements
and the Company will need time for completing the action plan,
in particular the disposal of investment properties which will lead
to the Group receiving substantial amount of proceeds and will
mitigate the Group's liquidity pressure and address the Audit
Modification.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENmED N

Based on the above, the Audit Committee believes the Management
has used its best endeavors to act in accordance with its previous
plan in order to address the Audit Modification and the Audit
Committee continues to support the Management point of view on
the Audit Modification and agrees that the Group will have sufficient
financial resources to continue as a going concern for the next 12
months and have been meeting regularly with the Management for
monitoring the progress of its actions taken to address the Audit
Modifications.

Given (i) the value of the investment properties owned by the Group
amounted to approximately RMB905.9 million as at 31 December
2024; and (ii) residential property market is expected to stabilise and
gradually recover in 2025 and the pre-sale and sale of residential
properties of the Shandong Project is ongoing, the Audit Committee
agreed with the Management that despite the previous plan failed
to adequately address the Audit Modification, the Company’s
revised action plan is reasonable and adequate to resolve the Audit
Modification.

The Audit Committee is also of the view that the Management
should continue to act in the best interests of the Shareholders in
implementing the actions and measures set out in the action plan
with the intention of mitigating the Group’s liquidity pressure and
removing the Audit Modification.

The Company will publish further announcement(s) disclosing any
developments and updates on (a) the Company’s negotiations with
banks and financial institutions; (b) the progress of the pre-sale and
sale of properties under development and completed properties;
and (c) the disposal of the residential properties in Shandong and
whole or portion of commercial properties in Taizhou and Shanghai
as a package.
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Mr. Chen Chengshou, aged 59, was appointed as an executive
Director, the chairman, chief executive officer, chairman of the
Nomination Committee and an authorized representative of the
Company on 16 January 2014. Mr. Chen ceased to be an authorized
representative of the Company as a result of his intention to
concentrate on his other role on the Board on 5 February 2020. He
is the founder of the Group and primarily responsible for corporate
strategic planning and overall business development of the Group.
Mr. Chen had over 30 years of experience in the real estate
industry. He has been the chairman of the board of Taizhou City
Xinming Real Estate Development Company Limited* (& MM 8HE
b 5 # B BR A /) since February 2007 and a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Chen has been first participated in
the management of the property development business in the PRC
since June 2001 when he was appointed as the chairman of
Hangzhou Taoyuan Shanzhuang Property Development Limited* (7
MBER LS B H E R A R A F) (“Taoyuan Property”).

Mr. Chen is the chairman of Hangzhou City Chamber of Commerce
for Enterprises Invested in Hangzhou* (fi /R M E ¥ (&
&) B 4& &), a member of the standing committee of Federation of
Industry & Commerce of Zhejiang Province* (# )L & L & B ), the
vice-chairman of Hangzhou Public Diplomacy Association* (A1 N 2
HINZ &), a member of the Eleventh Hangzhou City Committee of
the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference* (FF B A R
Boatme#E+—EMIMNTmEE ), the honorary chairman of the
Hangzhou City Wenzhou Chamber of Commerce* (il &M E <),
the chairman of the Nationwide Taishun Entrepreneurs Fellowship
Association* (% B 2= JIg 1 2 X Bt 38 € ) and the vice chairman of
Hangzhou City Chamber of Commerce* (#7 MM ™ 42 & € ). He was
appointed as the deputy director of the market committee of
Chinese General Chamber of Commerce* (FF B %84 €) in March
2013. He has also been a director of Wenzhou Bank since November
2012 and a part-time tutor of master degree in international
business of Zhejiang University (41T A22) since February 2014.

*  English name is for identification purpose only.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

BEEREREEEREN

Mr. Chen was awarded “Excellent Entrepreneur of Hangzhou* (£
#UFE)" in October 2016, "Outstanding Contribution of Entrepreneurs
of Wenzhou for years 2013 to 2015* (2013-2015F E A @ Qe HE
Bt A ¥ )" in September 2016, “Top ten in Zhejiang Real Estate
Industry in the “12th Five-Year Plan”* ((+ Z—R T EE+ KR EZ
A 1 )" in June 2016, “2016 Worldwide Outstanding 30 People of
Entrepreneur of Wenzhou (External)* (ZE—ANFHF A HRRAE
AN —FEIMEER B =+ A)" in February 2016; “Wenzhou People of
the Year* (ttt 58 ) A F E A #)" and “"One Hundred Excellent
Entrepreneur of Wenzhou* (it FURE B & B E A ¥)" in December
2014; “Entrepreneur with Good Character of Hangzhou* (S8 #1/3)"
jointly by Hangzhou Municipal Committee of the Communist Party
of China* ( & # #1 Ml ™ % ) and The People’s Government of
Hangzhou* ( 1 M @ A B B FF ) in October 2013, “Outstanding
Representative of Credible Entrepreneurs of Wenzhou* (1= R R4
£ K & )" jointly by Promotion Department of Wenzhou Municipal
Committee of the Communist Party of China* (BN Z ={&3f) and
Wenzhou Credibility Office* (& M 7 {5 B #f 2 =) in August 2011,
"Outstanding Builder of Socialist Undertaking* (BAFH & tHE%E
&) jointly by Hangzhou Municipal Committee of the Communist
Party of China* (7 £ #u /f 75 &) and The People’s Government of
Hangzhou* (0 A R EFT) in September 2010 and “Staff Caring
Excellent Entrepreneur* (B& 8 TEHF R EXK)" jointly by Federation
of Trade Union of Hangzhou* ( #1 /Il ™ # T & ) and Hangzhou
Federation of Industry and Commerce (41 I 1 I & B & 2 ) in
December 2009.

Mr. Chen obtained a graduation certificate in administrative
management (through online courses) from Huazhong University
of Science and Technology (22 £ K £) in the PRC in July 2013.
Mr. Chen obtained an executive master’'s degree in business
administration from Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business (&/T
P 2P7) in the PRC in September 2015. Mr. Chen obtained a master’s
degree in business administration from Tsinghua University in April
2018.

Mr. Chen is the spouse of Ms. Gao, who is a hon-executive Director.

Mr. Chen was deemed to be interested in 24,330,000 shares of
the Company (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ") (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong)), representing approximately 1.3% of the issued share capital
of the Company. Such interests are held by Xinxing Company
Limited (a company controlled by Mr. Chen) (“Xinxing"”). Save as
disclosed, Mr. Chen does not have any interests or short positions
in the shares of the Company or its associated corporations within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.

* English name is for identification purpose only.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Feng Cizhao, aged 49, was appointed as an executive Director
with effect from 31 October 2015.

Mr. Feng graduated from Zhejiang University of Finance &
Economics (47 JT B € 2 Pz ) and obtained his college degree in
accounting in 2005, and then obtained an MBA degree from
Zhejiang Gongshang University C#f)T T & A£2) in 2013.

Mr. Feng has extensive experiences in financing and management.
He served as a deputy chief financial officer of Taidi Holdings Group
Co. Ltd.* (ZHIZAR £ E B R A 7)) from August 2011 to September
2015. He worked with the finance department of Shaoxing Wantong
Real Estate* (43 £ & 18 /5 E) and Margaret Business Management
Company* (BB E 122 A)) (both subsidiaries of Taidi Group
(Z=Hb £ E)) as the chief financial officer from September 2006 to July
2011. Mr. Feng acted as the head of office for Hangzhou Qingcheng
Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.* (MM BEHEHERZEHR Q)
from October 2002 to September 2006. He held several positions
in Zhejiang Quzhou Transportation Group Co., Ltd.* (47 /T %5 M /5
HEHSB AR AR from July 1996 to September 2002, including
accountant with the planning and finance department of Zhejiang
Quzhou Transportation Group Co., Ltd.* CINT &N REEHEB AR
2~ |]), finance manager with the cargo container company and the
automobile repair company under Zhejiang Quzhou Transportation
Group Co., Ltd.* G T @M AEERERBRAA).

Mr. Feng Cizhao retired as an executive Director with effect on
14 April 2025.

Mr. Zhou Fenli, aged 55, was appointed as an executive Director on
9 August 2024. He served as the senior management of various
companies in China since 2006 and has accumulated over 18 years
of experience in finance and corporate management. Mr. Zhou is
currently the general manager and executive director of Shenzhen
Qianhai Zhongmao Commercial Factoring Co., Ltd.* CRIIT A& X
O R IE A B A Al), Asia Pacific Kunpeng Financial Leasing
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd* (T KRR EMRE COFI) BMR 2 7)) and
Zhunxing International Holdings (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.* (4 B BIFR 42 A%
GEIID AR 2] which provide financial services in China. Mr. Zhou
also currently serves as the independent non-executive director of
Millennium Pacific Group Holdings Limited, a company whose
shares are listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (stock code: 8147).

Mr. Zhou Fenli retired as an executive Director with effect on
14 April 2025.

*  English name is for identification purpose only.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

BEEREREEEREN

Mr. Cao Zhigiang, aged 40, was appointed as an executive Director
on 9 August 2024. He has 15 years of experience in financial audit,
bank compliance risk control and government credit financing. Mr.
Cao has served as senior management positions in various Chinese
enterprises, including RSM China Accounting Firm (Special General
Partnership) and China Everbright Bank Co., Ltd. Hefei Branch.
Mr. Cao obtained a Bachelor’'s Degree in Accounting from Anhui
University of Finance and Economics (Z &8 &K &) in China in July
2008.

Mr. Cao Zhigiang was re-designated as a non-executive Director
with effect on 11 April 2025.

Ms. Gao Qiaogqin, aged 56, was appointed as a non-executive
Director on 10 June 2014. She is responsible for advising on overall
strategic planning of our Group, but she doesn't participate in the
day-to-day management of our Group's business operation. She has
over 10 years of experience in the real estate industry.

Ms. Gao obtained a graduation certificate in computer information
management (through online courses) from Huazhong University of
Science and Technology (2E# EH% K &) in the PRC in June 2005.

Ms. Gao is the spouse of Mr. Chen, who is the chairman, executive
Director and chief executive officer of the Company.

Ms. Gao was deemed to have interests in the 24,330,000 shares of
the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO, representing
approximately 1.3% of the issued share capital of the Company.
Such interests are held by Xinxing (a company controlled by Mr,
Chen). Save as disclosed, Ms. Gao does not have any interests
or short positions in the shares of the Company or its associated
corporations within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.

Ms. Gao retired as a non-executive Director with effect on 14 April
2025.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Zhou Zhencun, aged 63, was appointed as a non-executive
Director on 17 November 2021. Mr. Zhou has accumulated more
than 41 years of experience in trading and energy fields. He has
been a deputy general manager of Central Century Energy
Investment Co., Ltd.* ( &F t 42 B2 JR &% B B R 22 7)) in Henan
Province since August 2016. He served as the deputy general
manager of China National Offshore Gas & Power (Guangdong) New
Energy Co., Ltd.* (F/8RE (FE=R)FaeRAR 2 7)) (formerly known
as CNOOC Meizhou New Energy Co., Ltd* ()& miEM#HeER AR A
Al)) from July 2015 to August 2016. From August 1980 to June 2015,
Mr. Zhou worked in the foreign trade department of Shantou Special
Economic Zone Light Industry Material Development Company* (il
SHAC B R T E % E A7) and his last position was an operation
manager. Mr. Zhou finished his high school education in Chaonan
District, Shantou, Guangdong Province in July 1980.

Mr. Zhou Zhencun retired as a non-executive Director with effect on
14 April 2025.

Mr. Choi Clifford Wai Hong, aged 66, was appointed as a non-
executive Director and a member of the Remuneration Committee
on 16 April 2021. On 25 November 2021, he was appointed as an
authorized representative of the Company.

Mr. Choi has extensive experience in finance, accounting and
management. Mr. Choi joined Pricewaterhouse (formerly known
as PricewaterhouseCoopers) in Hong Kong in January 1983 and
departed in July 1992 with his last position as manager. He was
subsequently a general manager in DCH MSC (China) Limited,
NHK Distribution Company Limited and Porsche Centre Hangzhou
from July 1992 to June 1999, July 1999 to December 2003 and
January 2004 to August 2012, respectively. He then joined Princess
Yacht Southern China Limited as a chief executive officer from
September 2012 to November 2012 and later on as a director in the
NHK Yacht Services division of NHK Distribution Company Limited
from December 2012 to August 2017. Mr. Choi then joined Beijing
Glory Star Centre Automotive Sales and Service Company Limited
GERiRx EBAEHERBS B R A ) as its general manager from
September 2017 to January 2018. He has rejoined NHK Distribution
Company Limited since 2018 and is currently serving as its director.

*  English name is for identification purpose only.
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BEEREREEEREN

Mr. Choi has also been an independent non-executive director of
C&D Newin Paper & Pulp Corporation Limited (formerly known as
Samson Paper Holdings Limited) (a company listed on the main
board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 731) since July 2020,
and was re-designated as an executive director since May 2021
and re-designated as a non-executive director on 26 January 2022,
respectively. Mr. Choi was an executive director and an authorised
representative of Arta TechFin Corporation Limited (formerly known
as Freeman FinTech Corporation Limited) (a company listed on
the main board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 279)) from 19
November 2020 to 29 October 2021, and a non-executive director of
Silk Road Logistics Holdings Limited (a company listed on the main
board of the Stock Exchange) from 4 June 2021 to 14 December
2021, and a non-executive director of Silk Road Logistics Holdings
Limited (a company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 988)) from 4 June 2021 to 14 December 2021. Mr. Choi
was an independent non-executive director of Bolina Holding Co.,
Ltd. (former Stock Code: 1190) from 29 January 2021 to 10 March
2021, a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited
liability and delisted from the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on
10 March 2021. From December 2021 to 15 January 2024, Mr. Choi
also served as an independent non-executive director of Dreameast
Group Limited (a company listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 593). Mr. Choi was an independent non-
executive director of South Shore Holdings Limited (provisional
liquidators appointed) (former Stock Code: 577) from 18 May
2021 to 30 June 2023 and an independent non-executive director
of EcoGreen International Group Limited (a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, Stock Code: 2341) from
8 November 2022 to 7 January 2024, respectively. Mr. Choi has
also been an independent non-executive director of Jiayuan
International Group Limited (in liquidation) (former stock code: 2768,
a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability
and is delisted from the main board of the Stock Exchange from 29
October 2024) since 4 June 2024 and an executive director of China
Evergrande New Energy Vehicle Group Limited (a company listed
on the main board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 708) since 6
August 2024, respectively.

Mr. Choi obtained a degree of Bachelor of Arts in Economic and
Social Studies from The Victoria University of Manchester, United
Kingdom (currently known as The University of Manchester), in
July 1982. Mr. Choi is a member of (i) The Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants, (ii) The Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales; (iii) The Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants; and (iv) The Taxation Institute of Hong Kong;
and is an accredited ESG planner of the International Council for
Sustainable Development. Mr. Choi currently holds the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants Practising Certificate.

Mr. Choi resigned as a non-executive Director with effect on
24 February 2025.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Khor Khie Liem Alex (formerly known as Mr. Khor Kee
Lin), aged 56, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director, chairman of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration
Committee, and a member of the Nomination Committee of the
Company on 16 August 2021. He has accumulated more than 30
years of experience in the field of finance, capital market, financial
reporting and financial compliance services. Mr. Khor has held CFO-
equivalent positions in several SGX-listed companies, including
Regional Finance Director of Showpla Asia Limited (1997-2000),
Group Finance Director of TEE International Limited (2000-2002) and
Group Finance Director of CFM Holdings Limited (2002-2004).

Since July 2004, Mr. Khor has founded KBS Capital Partners
(Singapore) Pte. Ltd. a strategy consulting company. Mr. Khor is
currently the Managing Director of KBS Capital Partners (Singapore)
Pte. Ltd. ("KBS Capital”). Mr. Khor has been involved in a wide range
of capital projects including IPOs, mergers and acquisitions and
project financing, as well as accounting, tax, company secretarial
compliance and corporate advisory services. Under Mr. Khor's
leadership, KBS Capital has successfully completed numerous initial
public offerings, mergers and acquisitions and project financing
projects for its clients in Singapore, Malaysia and China.

Mr. Khor has been an independent non-executive director and the
chairman of the audit committee of Sanai Health Industry Group
Company Limited (SEHK: 01889) since February 2021. Since March
2023, he has been the chairman of the nomination committee of
Pa Shun International Holdings Limited (SEHK: 00574). Mr. Khor has
been an Independent Non-Executive Director and Chairman of the
Audit Committee of Davis Communities Ltd (NASDAQ: DTCK) since
November 2023 and has been a member of the Audit Committee of
JLOGO Holdings Limited (SEHK: 8527) since April 2024.

Mr. Khor graduated from the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants (ACCA) in the United Kingdom and was granted
membership and fellow membership of ACCA in 1999 and 2002
respectively. Mr. Khor also graduated from the University of
Leicester in the United Kingdom in 2004 with a master degree
of Business Administration. Mr Khor is a Chartered Accountant
with the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Singapore and the
Malaysian Institute of Accountants.

Mr. Khor retired as an independent non-executive Director with
effect on 14 April 2025.

BEEREREEEGEN

SrE B St 4 (AT F8Khor Kee Lin%t4E) © 565%
RZE-—FNA+BEZTALAQARE
VIEHITES  BERZEgkTHEZEESE
FERREZEESRE  Tor  BEAMSE -
M ENNEERBEEEBIIFHNL
o LAY HEARTNERZM ETAF
BEEERUHEREET - B1EShowpla Asia
Limited & & 13 B 74 48 &5 (1997-20004F ) - TEE
International Limited & £ [ B 7% 48 &5 (2000~
20024 ) FICFM Holdings Limited &) & & B 7%
48 25 (2002-20044F ) °

BZZTWFELH - FFEEEIT TKBS
Capital Partners (Singapore) Pte. Ltd. & B
BHRBMRAA - FFEEB R —BEEKBS
Capital B R & EW (T'KBS Capitalj) R ITE
FoFAETEREREHER RETELIHE
FREENEREE BELM - WEAMIER
BMEZ - wigHeEsr  BE - AFNEER
MPEEFBARS - EFLENERET - KBS
CapitalE BEF MY - BRAGDTMABENE
FRINTK T REZERXARER - WHEME
BRtEZEIEE -

FEEE TS F_AREC-EREE
XEEERAA (BB Q%ﬁﬁ 01889)
MBYIENTEERERZZESERF - A=
T FZARETEIERBRIERERA
A (BEBBIAMBERE  00574) 2% Z 8
@IF B-_Z - =%+— A#ETDavis
Communities Ltd (# 8z 78 fx Z A5 - DTCK)
BUFNTEETRENZTESEIR - B2
— PU L PY A R ¥E 1T JLOGO Holdings Limited
(BB RIS : 8527) B IEHITESE -

‘a‘%?‘ﬁ’f%%#%l%ﬁﬁ;@é\ﬁrﬁﬁiﬂ@
(ACCA) * A FIR—NANFER=ZZTE_F
BEACCAZEREXEGE - ﬁf‘ﬁiﬂgﬁ\f? =
NEEXRERRTFEASE  EEIEHER
EL B - EHEEE?FMWEZ%?FQJEW% 2
MERAE SNBSS RTAD -

AEADREBUIFNTEE BT -1
FOA+HERER -

—E_NEER



PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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Mr. Chiu Kung Chak, aged 43, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director, a member of Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee of the
Company on 1 November 2021. He has accumulated 13 years
of experience in finance and real estate market in the People’s
Republic of China (the "PRC"). Mr. Chiu co-founded Vision Capital
Group Limited in 2014 and currently serves as its director and
principal. From April 2012 to June 2014, Mr. Chiu worked as a
business manager for the construction of Henderson Centre,
Guangzhou. From July 2008 to February 2012, he served as a
regional manager of Jiangsu Zhongli Group Co., Ltd., a company
listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 002309.
S7), and was responsible for overseeing business in the PRC. Mr.
Chiu obtained a bachelor of arts (honours) in social policy and
administration from the University of Nottingham in 2007. Mr. Chiu
obtained a master degree of science in international business from
the Business School of the University of Nottingham in 2008.

Mr. Chiu retired as an independent non-executive Director with
effect on 14 April 2025.

Mr. Lau Wai Leung, Alfred, aged 44, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director and a member of Audit
Committee of the Company on 17 November 2021. Mr. Lau has
accumulated more than approximately 20 years of experience
in accounting, corporate finance, debt restructuring and private
equity investment. Mr. Lau has been the company secretary of
Risecomm Group Holdings Limited (“Risecomm”) (stock code: 1679),
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, since
July 2020 and the financial controller of its subsidiary, Risecomm
(HK) Holding Co., Limited. Mr. Lau was a director of Risecomm from
November 2017 to June 2020, and was subsequently appointed
as an executive director of Risecomm since January. Mr. Lau has
served as an independent non-executive director of Sau Sau Tong
Holdings Limited (listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 8200) since December 2016. He was an independent non-
executive director of Samson Paper Holdings Limited (listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 731) from July 2020
to May 2021 and has been re-designated as an executive director
since May 2021. In January 2022, Mr Lau resigned as an executive
director of the company. Since August 2022, Mr Lau has been an
independent non-executive director of Seek Education Technology
Group Limited (listed on the NASDAQ Stock Exchange (Stock Code:
JZ)). He obtained a bachelor’s degree in business administration
from the City University of Hong Kong in 2002. He is a member
of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a
certified public accountant in Washington State of the United States
of America.

Mr. Lau resigned as an independent non-executive Director with
effect on 10 December 2024.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Lee Yin Man, aged 41, was appointed as an independent
executive Director on 9 August 2024. She has 15 years of
experience in human resources management, administration,
company secretarial services and corporate communications of
various companies listed on the Stock Exchange. From August
2016 to January 2018, Ms. Lee served as the human resources
director of China Innovation Investment Limited (stock code:
1217). From February 2018 to December 2019, Ms. Lee served as
the administration and human resources manager of Hope Life
International Holdings Limited, a company whose shares are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1683). From
January 2020 to March 2023, Ms. Lee served as the administration
and human resources director of Greater Bay Convergence Services
Limited. Ms. Lee holds a Bachelor of Arts Degree from the City
University of Hong Kong and a Master Degree in Human Resources
Management from Hong Kong Baptist University.

Ms. Huang Chunlian, aged 29, was appointed as an independent
executive Director on 9 August 2024. She has over 7 years of
experience in finance and corporate management. Ms. Huang has
served as the financial director of Shenzhen Guangyi Xiangtong
Trading Company Limited.* CRINIT EP B E 5 HBR 2 7)) since
2020. Ms. Huang obtained a Bachelor’'s Degree in Accounting from
South China Normal University (Z£rgE# A 22) in China in 2020.

Ms. Chan Wai Yan, aged 29, obtained a bachelor’s degree in
Accounting from University of Hull in England. Ms. Chan is a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Ms. Chan
has over 8 years of financial and accounting experiences. Ms. Chan
is currently an INED of Hope Life International Holdings Limited
(stock code: 1683), since October 2023, an INED of Royal Century
Resources Holdings Limited (stock code: 8125), since May 2024 and
an independent non-executive director of OneConstruction Group
Limited (Nasdaq stock code: ONEG) since the listing in December
2024.

Save as disclosed in this section, there are no other changes to the
Directors’ information as required to be disclosed pursuant to
Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

*  English name is for identification purpose only.
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The Directors present to the shareholders the Directors’ report
together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the Year.

The Company is an investment holding company and the current
and continuing principal activities of the Group are property
development, property investment and property leasing during the
Year under Review. The principal activities and other particulars of
its subsidiaries as at 31 December 2024 are set out in Note 39 to
the consolidated financial statements.

As required by the Schedule 5 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, business review regarding business of the Group can
be found in the Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion
and Analysis set out on pages 4 to 7 and pages 8 to 32 respectively.
An indication of possible future development in the Group’s
business can be found in the Management Discussion and Analysis
set out on page 14 of this annual report. This discussion forms part
of this Directors’ report.

Compliance with laws and regulations

To the best of the knowledge of the Board and the management,
the Group complied with the relevant laws and regulations which
constitutes material impact on the business and operation of the
Company and its subsidiaries in all material respects during the
year ended 31 December 2024.

Due to the nature of the business of the Group, the Directors are
of the opinion that there are no specific laws or regulations related
to environmental protection which have a significant impact on
the operations of the Group. Environmental protection policies and
performance regarding the Group are set out in “Environmental,
Social and Governance Report” on pages 94 to 129.

Relationship with employees, customers and suppliers
Remuneration packages of employees are determined generally with
reference to prevailing market terms and individual qualifications.
Salaries and wages are normally reviewed on an annual basis based
on performance appraisals and other relevant factors. Apart from
salary payments, there are other staff benefits including pension
and performance related bonus.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute certain percentage of their
payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The contributions are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the central pension scheme.
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Relationship with customers is the fundamental of business. The
Group fully understands this principle and thus maintains close
relationship with customers to fulfil their immediate and long-term
need. Given the nature of its business, the Group has no major
suppliers which have a material impact on its operations, but the
Group is striving to maintain fair and cooperative relationship
with suppliers. Details are set out in “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report”.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

(1

(2)

Intensified competition may materially and
adversely affect our business, results of operations
and financial condition

Competition within the PRC real estate industry is intense.
Both domestic and overseas property developers have also
entered the property development markets in cities where
we have operations. Some of them may have more financial,
marketing, technical or other resources than us. Competition
among property developers may cause an increase in
land premium and raw material costs, shortages in quality
construction contractors, surplus in property supply leading
to decreasing property prices, further delays in issuance
of governmental approvals, and higher costs to attract or
retain skilled employees. If we fail to compete effectively, our
business, results of operations and financial condition may be
materially and adversely affected.

PRC economic, political and social conditions as
well as government policies could adversely affect
our business and prospects

All of our revenue during the Year under Review was derived
from our operations in the PRC. Our Group anticipates that
China will remain our primary market in the foreseeable future.
Accordingly, our business, prospects, results of operation and
financial position are, to a significant extent, subject to the
economic, political and legal developments of the PRC.

The PRC economy differs from the economies of most of
the developed countries in many aspects, including political
structure, PRC government involvement and control of housing
policies.
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(3)

4)

The PRC economy has been transitioning from a centrally
planned economy to a more market-oriented economy. For
nearly three decades, the PRC government has implemented
economic reform measures to utilize market forces in
the development of the PRC economy. However, the PRC
government continues to exercise significant control over
the PRC economy through allocating resources, restricting
capital flow and foreign exchange, setting monetary and fiscal
policies, imposing industrial policies and various directives,
providing government grants and other preferential treatment
to particular industries and companies. The Group cannot
predict whether changes in the PRC's economic, political and
social conditions and in its laws, regulations and policies will
have any adverse effect on our current or future business,
results of operations and financial position. Moreover, even if
new policies may benefit or damage the real estate developers
in the long term, the Group cannot assure you the accuracy of
the forecasts on the business and financial condition.

Interest rate risk may aggravate the debt costs of
the Group

The main source of loan of the Group is derived from bank
loans. Therefore, the benchmark interest rate announced by
the People’s Bank of China will directly affect the Group’s
debt costs. Changes in future interest rates will have a certain
impact on the Group’s debt costs.

Uncertainties from the environmental policies

As the Group is subject to the intensive monitoring and
control from the PRC and its environmental policies relate to
production and operation, we shall comply with a number of
environmental protection laws and regulations concerning
air, water quality, waste disposal, energy consumption, public
health and safety, and receive inspections from the relevant
national environmental protection departments. Currently,
the Company has met the national environmental protection
standards. However, if the national environmental policies are
adjusted with higher environmental protection standards, our
investment in environmental protection will increase and that
may adversely affect our results of operations. We will spare
no effort in minimizing the potential adverse effects on our
environmental performance despite the uncertainties from the
policies and environments that are impossible to predict and
our inexperience of overall risk management in environmental
protection. The Company’s current directions, measures and
analyses regarding environmental policies are set out in the
ESG report.
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RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on
page 133.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board did not propose to declare a final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING AND CLOSURE OF
REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members will be closed from 20 May 2025 (Tuesday)
to 23 May 2025 (Friday), both days inclusive, during which period
no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to attend and vote
at the annual general meeting ("AGM"), all transfer documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificates and the transfer
forms must be lodged for registration with the Company’s branch
share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor
Services Limited, 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road,
Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on 19 May 2025 (Monday).

SEGMENT INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group's revenue and profit or loss for the
Year contributed by its principal activities is set out in Note 4 to
the consolidated financial statements. Details of the segment
information can be found in the Management Discussion and
Analysis set out on pages 8 to 32 of this annual report.

FIVE YEARS’ FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last five financial years is set out on pages 223 and 224, which does
not constitute part of the consolidated financial statements.

ISSUED CAPITAL

Details of the issued capital of the Company during the Year
under Review are set out in Note 27 to the consolidated financial
statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the Year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the details of change of the
Company’s and the Group's investment properties were set out in
Note 14 to the consolidated financial statement.
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RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during
the Year are set out on page 136 and Note 37(a) to the consolidated
financial statements respectively.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

No charitable donations were made by the Group during the Year
(2023: Nil).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association of the Company or the laws of Cayman Islands where
the Company is incorporated.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available
to shareholders by reason of their holdings in the shares of the
Company.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, no individual customer
accounted for 10% or more of the Group’s revenue. For the year
ended 31 December 2024, no supplier individually accounted for
10% or more of the Group’s purchases. All transactions between
the Group and the relevant suppliers and customers were entered
into on normal commercial terms. None of the Directors and their
close associates or any shareholder (which to the knowledge of the
Directors owns more than 5% of the issued shares of the Company)
had any interest in the above major suppliers.

SIGNIFICANT LITIGATION AND EVENTS

The Company does not have any significant litigation and events
during the Year under review.

-
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The Directors in the year and up to the date of this Directors’ Report
are:

Executive Directors
Mr. Chen Chengshou (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Feng Cizhao (retired on 14 April 2025)
Mr. Zhou Fenli (appointed on 9 August 2024 and
retired on 14 April 2025)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Cao Zhigiang (appointed on 9 August 2024 and
redesignated on 11 April 2025)

Ms. Gao Qiaogin (retired on 14 April 2025)

Mr. Zhou Zhencun (retired on 14 April 2025)

Mr. Choi Clifford Wai Hong (resigned on 24 February 2025)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Ms. Lee Yin Man (appointed on 9 August 2024)
Ms. Huang Chunlian (appointed on 9 August 2024)
Ms. Chan Wai Yan (appointed on 11 April 2025)

Mr. Khor Khie Liem Alex (retired on 14 April 2025)
Mr. Chiu Kung Chak (retired on 14 April 2025)
Mr. Lau Wai Leung, Alfred (resigned on 10 December 2024)

According to Article 108(a) of the Articles of Association of the
Company: “Notwithstanding any other provisions in these articles,
at each annual general meeting one-third of the Directors for the
time being, or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three,
then the number nearest to but not less than one-third, shall retire
from office by rotation provided that every Director (including those
appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. A retiring Director shall
be eligible for re-election. The Company at the general meeting at
which a Director retires may fill the vacated office.”

Mr. Chen Chengshou, an executive Director, Mr. Cao Zhigiang, a
non-executive Director, and Ms. Chan Wai Yan, an independent
non-executive Director, will retire from their positions at the AGM
and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Pursuant to Article 112 of the Articles of Association of the
Company, Ms. Chan Wai Yan, an independent non-executive
Director, being a Director appointed by resolution of the Board
immediately prior to the date of this annual report, will retire at the
AGM and, being eligible, offered herself for re-election at the AGM.
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Mr. Chen Chengshou, an executive Director, entered into a service
agreement with the Company for a term of three years from 6 July
2015 (“Listing Date"”), which will renew and prolong for one year
automatically after the expiry of the appointment, during which
such service agreements can be terminated by not less than three
months prior written notice to the other party and subject to the
early termination provisions contained therein.

Mr. Feng Cizhao, an executive Director, entered into a service
agreement with the Company for a term of three years from
31 October 2015, which will renew and prolong for one year
automatically after the expiry of the appointment, during which
such service agreements can be terminated by not less than three
months prior written notice to the other party and subject to the
early termination provisions contained therein. Mr. Feng Cizhao
retired as an executive Director with effect on 14 April 2025.

Ms. Gao Qiaogin, a non-executive Director, entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of three years from the
Listing Date. Ms. Gao Qiaogin retired as a non-executive Director
with effect on 14 April 2025.

Mr. Choi Clifford Wai Hong entered into a letter of appointment with
the Company as a non-executive Director, for a term of one year
commencing from 16 April 2021 which may be terminated by Mr.
Choi by giving at least three months’ written notice or otherwise in
accordance with the terms of the letters of appointment. Mr. Choi
Clifford Wai Hong resigned as a non-executive Director with effect
on 24 February 2025.

Mr. Khor Khie Liem Alex entered into a letter of appointment with
the Company as an independent non-executive Director, for a
term of one year commencing from 16 August 2021 which may be
terminated by Mr. Khor by giving at least three months’ written
notice or otherwise in accordance with the terms of the letters of
appointment. Mr. Khor Khie Liem Alex retired as an independent
non-executive Director with effect on 14 April 2025.

Mr. Chiu Kung Chak entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company as an independent non-executive Director, for a term
of one year commencing from 1 November 2021 which may be
terminated by Mr. Chiu by giving at least three months’ written
notice or otherwise in accordance with the terms of the letters of
appointment. Mr. Chiu Kung Chak retired as an independent non-
executive Director with effect on 14 April 2025.

Mr. Lau Wai Leung, Alfred entered into a letter of appointment
with the Company as an independent non-executive Director, for a
term of one year commencing from 17 November 2021 which may
be terminated by Mr. Lau by giving at least three months’ written
notice or otherwise in accordance with the terms of the letters of
appointment. Mr. Lau Wai Leung, Alfred resigned as an independent
non-executive Director with effect on 10 December 2025.
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Mr. Zhou Fenli entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company as an executive Director, for a term of one year
commencing from 9 August 2024 which may be terminated by Mr.
Zhou giving at least three months written notice or otherwise in
accordance with the terms of the letter of appointment. Mr. Zhou
Fenli retired as an executive Director with effect on 14 April 2025.

Mr. Cao Zhigiang entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company as a non-executive Director, for a term of one year
commencing from 11 April 2025 which may be terminated by Mr.
Cao giving at least three months written notice or otherwise in
accordance with the terms of the letter of appointment.

Ms. Lee Yin Man entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company as an independent non-executive Director, for a term of
one year commencing from 9 August 2024 which may be terminated
by Ms. Lee giving at least three months written notice or otherwise
in accordance with the terms of the letter of appointment.

Ms. Huang Chunlian entered into a letter of appointment with
the Company as an independent non-executive Director, for a
term of one year commencing from 9 August 2024 which may
be terminated by Ms. Huang giving at least three months written
notice or otherwise in accordance with the terms of the letter of
appointment.

Ms. Chan Wai Yan has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company as an independent non-executive Director, for a term of
one year commencing from 11 April 2025 which may be terminated
by Ms. Chan giving at least three months written notice or otherwise
in accordance with the terms of the letter of appointment.

In accordance with the Articles of Association and Appendix 14 to
the Listing Rules, not less than one-third of the Directors shall retire
from office by rotation annually. No Directors being proposed for
re- election at the AGM has any service contract with the Company
or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group
within one year without payment of compensation (other than
statutory compensation).

The Directors’ fees are determined by the Remuneration Committee
with reference to Directors’ duties, responsibilities and operating
results of the Company, which are subject to the review of the
Board and shareholders’ approval at annual general meetings.
Please refer to Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements on
pages 179 to 181 of this annual report.
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The shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange. As at the date of this annual report, the
interests or short positions of the Directors and chief executives
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
and its associated corporations, within the meaning of Part XV
of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ"), which (a)
were required to be notified to the Company and the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests and short positions which they are taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) were
required to be recorded in the register referred to therein pursuant
to section 352 of the SFO; or (c) were required to be notified to the
Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules were as follows:

Long positions in the shares and underlying shares

The Company

Name of Directors Capacity/Nature of interest

EEHS 510/ HEME

Mr. Chen Chengshou Interest of controlled corporation

(Note 1)
FeR ST 4 A A E 2 RS (Y EET)
Ms. Gao Qiaogin Interest of spouse (Note 2)
=BIEELL Ao B (5E2)

(L): represents long positions

Notes:
1. 24,330,000 shares are registered in the name of Xinxing Company
Limited which is wholly-owned by Mr. Chen.

2. Ms. Gao is the spouse of Mr. Chen. Under the SFO, Ms. Gao is deemed
to be interested in the same number of shares in which Mr. Chen is
interested in.
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Associated corporation - Xinxing Company Limited

Name of Directors Nature of interest
EElR EEME

Mr. Chen Chengshou Beneficial owner
PR AT A EmAA

Ms. Gao Qiaogin Interest of spouse
anExt [N

Notes:

1. The disclosed interest represents the interests in the associated
corporation, Xinxing Company Limited, which is held as to 100% by
Mr. Chen as at the date of this annual report.

2. Ms. Gao is the spouse of Mr. Chen. By virtue of the SFO, Ms. Gao is
deemed to be interested in the 1 share of Xinxing Company Limited
held by Mr. Chen.

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this annual report, none
of the Directors or chief executives of the Company had or was
deemed to have any interests or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were
required to be recorded in the register required to be kept under
section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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The register of substantial shareholders maintained by the
Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO shows that, as at
the date of this annual report, the following shareholders, other
than those disclosed in the section headed “Directors’ and Chief
Executives’ Interest in the Securities”, had notified the Company of
their interests and/or short positions in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

Long positions in the shares and underlying shares

Interest in the Company

Name of substantial
shareholders Capacity/nature of interest

TERREE 510/ HEME

Proyan Consultancy Limited Beneficial owner

(Note 1)
ETCERAERAR () EmAaA
(L): represents long positions

Note:

1. Proyan Consultancy Limited is a company incorporated in Hong
Kong with limited liability. Mr. Yau Yan Yuen held the entire issued
share capital of Proyan Consultancy Limited and was deemed to be
interested in the 187,862,200 Shares in which Proyan Consultancy
Limited was interested pursuant to the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this annual report,
the Company had not been notified by any persons, other than
Directors and chief executives of the Company, who had interests
or short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under section 336 of the SFO.
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Each of the controlling shareholders has made an annual declaration
with regard to their compliance with the terms of the deed of non-
competition. The details of the deed of non-competition are set out
in the section headed “Relationship with Controlling Shareholders”
of the Prospectus. The deed of non-competition by controlling
shareholders has taken effect from the Listing Date.

Each of the executive Directors has made an annual declaration
with regarding to their compliance with the terms of the deed
of non-competition. The deed of non-competition by executive
Directors has taken effect from the Listing Date. The INEDs had
reviewed and confirmed that the executive directors of the
Company have complied with the deed of non-competition and the
deed of non- competition has been enforced by the Company in
accordance with its terms.

The Company has adopted the share option scheme (the
“Share Option Scheme”) on 8 June 2015, which will be in force
for a period of 10 years. Under the Share Option Scheme, the
eligible participants of the scheme, including Directors, full-time
employees, advisers, suppliers and customers to our Company or
our subsidiaries, (the “Eligible Participants”) may be granted options
which entitle them to subscribe for shares, provided that the
number of shares to be subscribed under such option together with
the options granted under any other schemes initially shall not be
more than 10% of the shares in issue on the Listing Date.

The Share Option Scheme is a share incentive scheme and is
established to recognize and acknowledge the contributions
the Eligible Participants have made or may make to the Group.
The Share Option Scheme will provide the Eligible Participants
an opportunity to have a personal stake in the Company with
the view to achieving the following objectives: (i) motivating the
Eligible Participants to improve their performance efficiency for the
benefit of the Group; and (ii) attracting and retaining or otherwise
maintaining on-going business relationships with the Eligible
Participants whose contributions are or will be beneficial to the
long- term growth of the Group.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted (including shares in respect of which options, whether
exercised or still outstanding, have already been granted) under the
Share Option Scheme and under any other share option schemes of
the Company must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total number
of shares in issue on the Listing Date, excluding for this purpose
shares which would have been issuable pursuant to options which
have lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Share Option
Scheme (or any other share option schemes of the Company).
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Notwithstanding the foregoing, the shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Company at any time shall not exceed 30% of the
shares in issue from time to time (the “Maximum Limit"). No options
shall be granted under any schemes of the Company, including the
Share Option Scheme, if that will result in the Maximum Limit being
exceeded.

The Board may, at its discretion, offer to grant an option to the
Eligible Participants. An option shall be deemed to have been
granted and accepted by the grantee and to have taken effect
when the duplicate offer document constituting acceptance of the
options duly signed by the grantee, together with a remittance in
favor of the Company of HK$1.00 by way of consideration for the
grant thereof, is received by the Company on or before the relevant
acceptance date.

After receipt of the notice and the remittance and, where
appropriate, receipt of the certificate by the auditor or the approved
independent financial adviser (as the case may be) to the Company,
the Company shall allot and issue the relevant number of shares
to the grantee credited as fully paid and issue to the grantee
certificates in respect of the shares so allotted.

The total number of shares issued and which may fall to be issued
upon exercise of the options granted under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company
(including both exercised, outstanding options and shares which
were the subject of options which have been granted and accepted
under the Share Option Scheme or any other schemes of the
Company but subsequently cancelled) to each Eligible Participant in
any 12-month period up to the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of
the shares in issue as at the date of grant.

The subscription price of a share in respect of any particular option
granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be such price as the
Board in its absolute discretion shall determine, save that such price
will not be less than the highest of: (i) the closing price of the shares
as stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange's daily quotation sheets
on the date of grant, which must be a day on which the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange is open for the business of dealing in securities; (ii)
the average of the closing prices of the shares as stated in the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal
value of a share.

As at the date of this annual report, the total number of shares to
be issued under the Share Option Scheme is 188,000,000 shares,
representing 10% of the issued shares at Listing Date. No share
option was granted, exercised or cancelled by the Company since
the adoption of the Share Option Scheme.
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On 26 January 2016, the Company adopted the share award scheme
(the “Scheme”), pursuant to which Bank of Communications Trustee
Limited served as trustee (the "Trustee”). The Company adopted the
Scheme to recognize the contribution by certain eligible participants
and to attract suitable personnel for further development of the
Group. Each of the Company and Mr. Chen, an executive Director,
may make contribution to the trust for the purpose of vesting
awarded shares to the selected participants. Pursuant to the
Scheme, the Company may from time to time at its sole discretion
subject to requirements under this Scheme, cause to be paid any
sums of money to the Trustee and instruct the Trustee to purchase
shares in the market at prevailing market price. Mr. Chen may
from time to time transfer shares to the Trustee, for the purpose
of vesting awarded shares to the selected participants, subject to
the compliance with the requirements of the Listing Rules and all
applicable laws from time to time. The Trustee will hold the awarded
shares on trust for all or one or more of the eligible participants
until such awarded shares are vested with the relevant selected
participants in accordance with the rules of the Scheme.

The Scheme is a discretionary scheme of the Company and shall
be subject to the administration of the Board and the Trustee in
accordance with the rules of the Scheme and the trust deed. The
Board shall not make any further award of awarded shares which
will result in the nominal value of the shares awarded by the Board
under the Scheme exceeding ten per cent (10%) of the issued share
capital of the Company from time to time. The maximum number
of shares which may be awarded to a selected participant under
the Scheme shall not exceed one per cent (1%) of the issued share
capital of the Company from time to time. The Scheme does not
constitute a share option scheme within the meaning of Chapter 17
of the Listing Rules.

The share award scheme will remain in force for a period of 10
years since the date of adoption of the Scheme. Early termination
should be done by the Board in accordance with the rules of the
Scheme. On 7 April 2016, the Board resolved to award 13,716,666
awarded shares (“Awarded Shares”) to 150 selected participants
through the deployment of the shares of the Company. All Awarded
Shares have been vested to the eligible participants. For details,
please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 18
February 2016 and 7 April 2016. Apart from that, the Company has
not granted, exercised or cancelled any Awarded Shares.

During the Year under Review, (i) no share options were granted,
and (ii) exercised or cancelled by the Company, the Board has
neither paid any funding to the trustee of the Scheme nor allowed
the trustee to purchase the shares of the Company on the Stock
Exchange. During the Year under Review, the trustee of the Scheme
also did not purchase any shares of the Company on the Stock
Exchange.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company, nor any of its
holding companies, its subsidiaries or its fellow subsidiaries was
a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors and chief
executives of the Company, including their spouses and children
under 18 years of age, to hold any interest or short positions in the
shares, or underlying shares, or debentures, of the Company or its
associated corporations, within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

There were no transactions, arrangements or contracts of
significance in relation to the Company’s business, to which
the Company or any of the Company’s subsidiaries was a party,
subsisting at the end of the Year under Review or at any time
during the Year under Review, and in which a Director or an entity
connected with the Director have or had, whether directly or
indirectly, a material interest, nor were there any other transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to the
Group’s business between the Company or any of the Company’s
Subsidiaries and a controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

In accordance with the disclosure requirements of the continuing
connected transactions in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules of the
Hong Kong, during the Year under Review, the Company has not
conducted any continuing connected transactions with connected
persons that are not exempted from annual reporting requirement
under the Listing Rules.

The related party transactions set out in Note 32 to the consolidated
financial statements are not required to be disclosed pursuant to
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Company confirms that it
has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed for the year ended 31 December 2024.

-
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Pursuant to the memorandum and bye-laws ("Bye-laws”) of the
Company, the applicable laws and regulations, every Director shall
be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits
of the Company against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages
and expenses which they or any of them may incur or sustain in the
execution of their duties in their offices. During the year ended 31
December 2024, the Company was unable to extend Directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance coverage which was expired on 22 June
2023 due to the suspension of trading of the shares of the Company
on the Stock Exchange. As at the date of this annual report, the
Company has not arranged appropriate Directors’ and officers’
liability insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the
Group.

Code provision C.1.8 of the CG Code requires that the Company
should arrange appropriate insurance cover in respect of legal
action against its Directors. The Board will review this arrangement
from time to time in light of the prevailing circumstances and
arrange for appropriate insurance coverage when necessary.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, none of the Directors
was interested in any business, which competed or was likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the Group’s businesses.

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained the prescribed amount of public float during the Year as
required under the Listing Rules.

The consolidated financial statements for the financial year 2024
have been audited by Global Link CPA Limited (“Global Link").
Global Link will retire from office at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election. A resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company for the re-appointment of Global
Links as the auditor of the Company.

By order of the Board

Xinming China Holdings Limited
Chen Chengshou
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hangzhou, PRC
31 March 2025
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The Board is committed to maintaining a high level of corporate
governance and ensuring transparency in business operations, so
as to enhance the operation efficiency of the Company and protect
the interests of the Company and the shareholders in all respects.
The Board seeks to perform strict integrity and ethics in all aspects
of our business, to maintain sound risk management and internal
control system and attract high-caliber members to the Board.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board had adopted,
applied and complied with the code provisions as set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix
14 to the Listing Rules applicable at the relevant time, except the
disclosure in “Chairman and Chief Executive Officer” below.

To the Directors’ knowledge, there is no information reasonably
indicates that the Company has not complied with the code
provisions of the CG Code set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules at any time for the year ended 31 December 2024.

For the year ending 31 December 2024, the Company will continue
to comply with the code provisions set out under the update CG
Code that had come into effect on 1 January 2022, and where
appropriate, explain on the deviations from any code provisions of
the CG Code.

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set
out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct
of dealings in securities of the Company by the Directors. Upon
specific enquiries of all the Directors, each of them has confirmed
that they complied with the required standards set out in the Model
Code during the Year under Review.

As required by the Company, relevant officers and employees of the
Company are also bound by the Model Code, which prohibits them
to deal in securities of the Company at any time when they possess
inside information in relation to those securities. The Company
is not aware of any non-compliance with the Model Code by the
relevant officers and employees.
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Structure

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprised
one executive Director, one non-executive Director and three
independent non-executive Directors. The composition of the Board
is as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. Chen Chengshou (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Feng Cizhao (retired on 14 April 2025)
Mr. Zhou Fenli (appointed on 9 August 2024 and
retired on 14 April 2025)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Cao Zhigiang (appointed as executive Director on
9 August 2024 and redesignated on 11 April 2025)

Ms. Gao Qiaoqin (retired on 14 April 2025)

Mr. Zhou Zhencun (retired on 14 April 2025)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Ms. Lee Yin Man (appointed on 9 August 2024)
Ms. Huang Chunlian (appointed on 9 August 2024)
Ms. Chan Wai Yan (appointed on 11 April 2025)

Mr. Khor Khie Liem Alex (retired on 14 April 2025)
Mr. Chiu Kung Chak (retired on 14 April 2025)

The independent non-executive Directors (the “INEDS”) represent
over one-third members of the Board. The profiles of all Directors
are set out on pages 33 to 41 of this annual report. Save as
disclosed in this annual report, there is no other relationship among
members of the Board, including financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationship. The INEDs are highly experienced
professionals and businessmen with a broad range of expertise and
experience in accounting, finance, legal and business management
and one of them has appropriate professional accounting
qualification as required by the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

The Board is responsible for directing and supervising affairs of
the Company. Each Director acts in good faith for the best interest
of the Company. The Directors are collectively and individually
responsible to the Company for the manner in which the affairs
of the Company are managed, controlled and operated. They had
devoted sufficient time and attention to affairs of the Company
during the Year under Review.
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At each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the
time being, or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three,
then the number nearest to but not less than one-third, shall retire
from office by rotation provided that every Director (including those
appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. A retiring Director shall
be eligible for re-election. The Company may fill the vacancy at the
general meeting when a Director retires. As such, the term of office
of each Director has been governed by the Articles of Association
of the Company.

Code provision C.1.8 of the CG Code requires that the Company
should arrange appropriate insurance cover in respect of legal
action against its Directors. During the year ended 31 December
2024, the Company was unable to extend Directors’ and officers’
liability insurance coverage which was expired on 22 June 2023 due
to the suspension of trading of the shares of the Company on the
Stock Exchange. As at the date of this annual report, the Company
has not arranged appropriate Directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the Group. The
Board will review this arrangement from time to time in light of the
prevailing circumstances and arrange for appropriate insurance
coverage when necessary.

Assistance to Directors in Decision Making

During their term of office, the Directors have been informed of the
business of the Group, the competitive and regulatory environments
in which it operates and other changes affecting the Group and the
industry where it operates as a whole. They have also been advised
on appointment of their legal and other duties and obligations as
directors of a company and updated on changes to the legal and
governance requirements of the Group and upon themselves as the
Directors.
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Conduct of Meetings

The Directors are consulted and properly briefed for matters to be
included in the meeting agenda, and are supplied with relevant
information as well as reports relating to operational and financial
performance of the Group before each regular Board meeting.
At least 14 days’ notice of a regular Board meeting is given to
all Directors providing them with the opportunity to attend the
meeting. For regular Board meetings, and so far as practicable for
all other meetings, an agenda and accompanying board papers
are dispatched to all Directors at least 3 days before the meeting
to ensure that they have sufficient time to review the papers and
prepare adequately for the meeting. Senior management members
are invited to attend the meeting to address to the Board members’
gueries. For non-regular Board meetings, reasonable notices are
given. This enables the Board to have pertinent data and insight for
a comprehensive and informed assessment, which helps the Board
to make decision.

The Chairman has delegated the responsibility to the company
secretary (the “Company Secretary”) of the Company for drawing
up and approving the agenda of the meeting for each Board
meeting, taking into account of any matter proposed by each
Director for inclusion in the agenda. The proceedings of the Board
at its meetings are generally monitored by the Chairman who
would ensure that sufficient time is allocated for discussion and
consideration of each item on the agenda. Equal opportunities are
given to each Director to express his/her views and concerns.

All Directors have full access to the advice and services of the
Company Secretary to ensure the procedures, rules and regulations
of the Board are followed. Draft and final versions of minutes of
each Board meeting in sufficient details are sent to the Directors for
comments and records within a reasonable time after the meeting.
The minutes of the Board’s and the Board committees’ meetings
are kept by the Company, which are available for inspection by the
Directors upon reasonable notice.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company held 2 board EHE-Z-_ME&E+_A=+—HIFER
meetings in total. Individual attendance of each Director and EZZE@HEITMAEETCSH - IEERE

committee member at the meeting held in detail is as follows: BEgMKEREHESHENEEEFBOT :
Audit  Remuneration Nomination
The Board Committee Committee Committee AGM

£ ENZEE FHERE REZEE  RRETAE

Number of Meetings held BERE 7 2 1 1 0

Executive Directors BTEE

Mr. Chen Chengshou (Chairmanand ~ BREST &4 (ZEETH 417 N/ATER N/ATER 11 0/0
Chief Executive Officer) #%)

Mr. Feng Cizhao (retired on MR onE 27 N/ATER N/ATER N/ATEFR 0/0
14 April 2025) MA+EARE)

Mr. Zhou Fenli (appointed on 9 August AEAEE(R-Z-M4E 5/6 N/ATER N/ATER N/ATEFR 0/0
2024 and retired on 14 April 2025) NANBEZARRZ-E

ZRENATRARE)

Non-executive Directors FHTES

Mr. Cao Zhigiang (appointed on Eruie(NTomE 6/6 N/ATERR N/ATER N/ATER 0/0
9 August 2024 and NANBEZARRZ-E
redesignated on 11 April 2025) “HFEA+-HER)

Ms. Gao Qiaogin (retired on BOERL(RZZ-hF 477 N/ATEE NATEE N/ATEE 0/0
14 April 2025) MA+EARE)

Mr. Choi Clifford Wai Hong SERAEMNZZ-0%E 6/7 N/ATER 11 N/ATEFR 0/0
(resigned on 24 February 2025) ZRAZTEBREE)

Mr. Zhou Zhencun (retired on AREEE(RZZ_0%F 6/7 N/ATER N/ATER N/ATER 0/0
14 April 2025) MA+EBARE)

Independent non-executive Directors BV FHTES

Mr. Khor Khie Liem Alex (retired on~ FFEEBSEE(R-Z2 R4 717 2/2 11 11 0/0
14 April 2025) MA+EBARE)

Mr. Chiu Kung Chak (retired on BREEE(W-Z-0%E 6/7 2/2 11 11 0/0
14 April 2025) MA+EBARE)

Mr. Lau Wai Leung, Alfred (resigned on  ZIER& 4 (R -2 =M% 6/7 22 N/APER N/ANER 0/0
10 December 2024) TZATHET)

Ms. Lee Yin Man (appointed on PEERL(WNZT-mAF 6/6 2/2 0/0 0/0 0/0
9 August 2024) NANBEZR)

Ms. Huang Chunlian (appointed on ERENL(R-Z_ME 6/6 2/2 0/0 0/0 0/0
9 August 2024) NANBEZR)

Ms. Chan Wai Yan REBLT(R-Zn%F N/ATEF N/ATER N/ATER N/ATE A N/AT
(appointed on 11 April 2025) MA+—BEZRT)
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Works Performed

During the Year under Review, besides attending the Board
meetings to consider and make decision on corporate governance,
risk management, statutory compliance, accounting, finance and
business matters, the Directors had brought independent opinion
and judgment on the strategy, performance and standards of
conduct of the Company; had taken a leading role when potential
conflict of interest arose; had served on Board committees; had
approved various corporate governance related matters and
policies; had ensured that the Board maintained high standards
of financial and other mandatory reporting; carried out reviews
on matters reported by the Board committees; and had provided
adequate checks and balance to safeguard the interests of
shareholders and the Company as a whole. In addition, the Board
delegates to the management of the Company certain functions,
including the implementation of general daily operation, strategies
approved by the Board, the implementation of internal control
procedures and ensuring compliance with relevant requirements
and other rules and regulations.

Other than the executive Director, Mr. Chen Chengshou, who has
entered into a letter of appointment with the Company with a
term of three years, non-executive Director, Mr. Cao Zhigiang, and
independent non-executive Director, Ms. Lee Yin Man, Ms. Huang
Chunlian and Ms. Chan Wai Yan, each of whom entered into a
letter of appointment with the Company with a term of one year
respectively.

During the Year under Review, the non-executive Directors and
INEDs had actively participated in the Board meetings, made
independent judgments on matter of meeting and expressed their
opinions on the information or reports proposed at the meetings.

Besides attending the meetings of the Board or the committees, in
order to make timely decision and effectively implement the policies
and practice of the Company, the Board had also adopted written
resolutions signed by all Directors to make decision on corporate
affairs from time to time.

As part of the continuing process on supervising the business of
the Company, the Directors, acted by the Audit Committee of the
Company (the “Audit Committee”), had reviewed the adequacy of
resources, qualifications and experience of the accounting staff of
the Company and financial reporting functions.

Independent Non-executive Directors’ Confirmation
The Company has received, from each INED, an annual confirmation
of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
The Company considered that all the INEDs are independent. The
Company is in compliance with Rule 3.10 and Rule 3.10A of the
Listing Rules relating to the INEDs.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Under code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman
and chief executive officer shall be separate and shall not be
performed by the same individual. Mr. Chen is the chairman and
the chief executive officer of the Company (“CEQ"). The Group
therefore does not separate the roles of the chairman and the CEO.
The Board considered that Mr. Chen had in-depth knowledge and
experience in the property investment and development industry
and was the most appropriate person to manage the Group. Vesting
the roles of both chairman and CEO in Mr. Chen has the benefit of
ensuring consistent leadership within the Group and enables more
effective and efficient overall strategic planning for the Group. The
Board considers that the balance of power and authority for the
present arrangement will not be impaired and this structure will
enable the Company to make and implement decisions promptly
and effectively. Besides, three independent non-executive Directors
of the Board had actively participated in the Board meetings, made
independent judgments on matter of meeting and expressed their
opinions on the information or reports proposed at the meetings.
Although Mr. Chen is the chairman and chief executive officer, the
Company believes the Board will not make any biased decisions
under Mr. Chen’s influence. The Board will continue to review and
consider splitting the roles of chairman and CEO of the Company at
a time when it is appropriate and suitable by taking into account the
circumstances of the Group as a whole.

The Board has established the Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee (the "Remuneration Committee”) and Nomination
Committee (the “Nomination Committee”) with defined roles and
terms of reference.

Audit Committee

Structure

The Company established the Audit Committee on 8 June 2015
with written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the
Listing Rules and code provision C.3.4 of the CG Code as set out in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The updated terms of reference
of the Audit Committee are adopted on 29 December 2015, and are
available on the websites of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and the
Company. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to provide
the Board with an independent review of the effectiveness of the
financial reporting process, internal control and risk management
system of the Group, to oversee the audit process and to perform
other duties and responsibilities as assigned by the Board.

Annual Report 2024

EFRRITHAR
RIBOEERTAZTREXEA21ME - £
FRITHRER  BUEEMED - BTEHR
FA—ALHRE BREER/ARBEERTH
mE(TTHAER]) B AEEYERD T
FBRTRER B - EFSHREREERN
MERBERBERTEABHBENERMNLER
MR REESFEEBAEEZAL AR
EEFRETFERTRAHNAE - ATHEAER
SRRz ERBERATSANEE 2 BEKE
REEARNAYE - EFEERA - BATH
ZHB TS SRNNE - MEBAREEE
BYARR AR R G B ERE REBITRE - B
F OEEEN_fIBMIFRTETHERS
HEEEEZ  MERFHRFELBIHE R
EREREFLZENIMERRER - #
RAERARBEFERITHAE - ARAR
RAITEFEESTRELIMHREZHE
RE - EFGHFERS - ERFERIIAE
B EEIER - EEBARANEF LT
REMBEEDREREE NES -

EXQCRUBEREZBRE  FHZEE(
MzEg ) kRAZEG([REZEE

WARAEEAELBEDE -

A XEH

[ 5
)

BEREES

£
ARAR-ZFE-RAFNANAKLEZEZE
g B ETARRISE3.271 16 K AR IR 8%
1458 2 EEEATRIECIARGBIFTEE®
BEHE EZZBEeCERMBEKECR
“E-RFTAZTAAERS  XARN
BRI AN ARNBHLER  BREES
MEZRESANAREPFRRIEF - A
THIREBREEHENERIERES S REH
BUES EREREFMIEHEZES
Flz HABEE -



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

All members under the Audit Committee possess diversified
business experience. The chairman of the Audit Committee has
appropriate professional qualification, accounting or related
financial management expertise as required by the Listing Rules.

As at the date of this annual report, the Audit Committee is made
up of four INEDs:

Ms. Lee Yin Man (Chairman) (appointed on 9 August 2024)

Ms. Huang Chunlian (appointed on 9 August 2024)
Mr. Khor Khie Liem Alex (retired on 14 April 2025)
Mr. Chiu Kung Chak (retired on 14 April 2025)

Ms. Chan Wai Yan (appointed on 11 April 2025)

Functions

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee can be found on the
websites of the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. The
major duties of the Audit Committee are summarized as below:

(i)  to be primarily responsible for making recommendations to
the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of
the external auditor, to approve the remuneration and terms
of engagement of the external auditor, and to deal with any
issues relating to the resignation or dismissal of such auditor;

(i) to monitor the integrity of the Company’s financial statements
and annual reports and accounts, half year reports and, if
prepared for publication, quarterly reports, and to review
material comments on financial reporting contained in the
statements and reports;

(i) to review the financial controls, risk management and internal
control systems of the Company, unless the risk committee
otherwise under the Board or the Board itself has expressly
stated that they will deal with it;

(iv) to develop and review the policies and practices of
the Company on corporate governance and make
recommendations to the Board; and

(v)  to consider and identify risks of the Group and review the
effectiveness of the decision-making processes of the Group
in crisis and emergency situations and approve the major
decisions affecting the risk profile or exposure of the Group.
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Conduct of Meetings

The Audit Committee shall meet at least twice each year. The
Company prepares and dispatches an information memorandum
that includes all relevant information about the meetings to the
Audit Committee members at least 3 days prior to such meetings.
During the Year under Review, the Audit Committee members
reviewed the information memorandum with due care and
discussed with the senior management of the Company during
the meetings. Minutes drafted by the Company Secretary were
circulated to the Audit Committee members for comments within a
reasonable time after each meeting. Executed minutes were kept by
the Company and copies of the minutes were delivered to the Audit
committee members for records.

Works Performed

The works performed by the members of Audit Committee during
the Year under Review are summarized as below:

(i) to review the annual accounts and consolidated financial
statements and interim accounts of the Group;

(i) to review, discuss and agree with the Independent Auditor in
respect of the audit fee for the Year under Review; the nature,
scope of audit and reporting obligations for the Year under
Review;

(i) to review the effectiveness of the action plan to mitigate the
Group's liquidity pressure and remove the Audit Modification;

(iv) to review and assess the adequacy and effectiveness of the
financial reporting and controls, internal control procedures
and risk management system of the Group;

(v)  to review the corporate governance practices and monitor the
progress of compliance of the CG Code and its disclosure in
the Corporate Governance Report;

(vi) to review the performance of the properties of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2024;

(vii) to review the continuing connected transactions to ensure
that they are entered into on normal commercial terms, are
fair and reasonable, and are carried out pursuant to the terms
of such agreements in respect of these continuing connected
transactions,

(viii) to review the adequacy of resources, qualifications and
experience of the staff in accounting and financial reporting
function, and the training programmers and budget; and

(ix) to discuss with the Independent Auditor with respect to
the accounting principles and practices adopted by the
Group, compliance with the Listing Rules and other financing
reporting requirements.
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Overall, the Audit Committee is satisfied with the condition of
the Company, including the corporate governance practices,
internal control system, qualifications and experience of the staff
in accounting and financial reporting function, and the training
programmers.

One of the specific works vested upon the Audit Committee is
to develop and review the corporate governance policies and
practices of the Company. Upon reviewed by the Audit Committee
and approved by the Board, the main policies for the corporate
governance of the Company are to develop the Company itself as
a sustainable and competitive company in the business sector in
the interests of the Company and the shareholders as a whole,
with an aim for a prudent and profitable development and long-
term achievement of growth through the well-established corporate
governance principles, risk monitoring management and practices.
As a listed company in Hong Kong, the Company is obliged to follow
the principles, code provisions and recommended best practices
(if applicable) set forth in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules as the
substantial requirement on achieving high standards of corporate
governance as well as a cornerstone of the corporate governance
policy of the Company.

Remuneration Committee

Structure

The Remuneration Committee has been established on 8 June 2015
with written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.26 of the
Listing Rules and code provision B.1.3 of the CG Code as set out in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules with the roles to assist the Board
in reviewing and determining the framework or specific policy for
remuneration packages of the Directors and senior management,
overseeing any major changes in employee benefit structures and
considering other matters as defined by the Board.

As at the date of this annual report, the Remuneration Committee is
made up of four INEDS:

Ms. Lee Yin Man (Chairman) (appointed on 9 August 2024)

Ms. Huang Chunlian (appointed on 9 August 2024)
Mr. Khor Khie Liem Alex (retired on 14 April 2025)
Mr. Chiu Kung Chak (retired on 14 April 2025)

Ms. Chan Wai Yan (appointed on 11 April 2025)
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Functions

The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee are as
follows:

(i)

to make recommendations to the Board on the policy and
structure of the Company for all Directors’ and senior
management’s remuneration and on the establishment of a
formal and transparent procedure for developing remuneration

policy;

to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management including benefits in kind, pension rights,
compensation payments (including any compensation payable
for loss or termination of their office or appointment),

to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
of executive and non-executive Directors; and

to review and approve compensation payable to executive
Directors and senior management for any loss or termination
of office or appointment to ensure that it is consistent with
contractual terms and is otherwise fair and not excessive for
the Company.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee can be
found on the websites of the Company and the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange.

The Remuneration Committee shall consult the Chairman and/or
Chief Executive Officer about their recommendations relating to
the remuneration of other executive Directors and may also obtain
independent professional advice.
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Works Performed

The works performed by the members of the Remuneration
Committee during the Year under Review are summarized as below:

0]

(iif)

to consider and make recommendations to the Board for
endorsement of the remuneration policy of the Company
and letters of appointment of the Directors and senior
management with major terms and conditions, to comply with
the CG Code; and

to assess performance of executive Directors and consider
and make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
of the Directors and senior management during the Year under
Review.

Pursuant to code provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, the five
highest paid employees during the year are seven Directors
(2023: five Directors), details of whose remuneration are
set out in Note 8 to the financial statements. During the
Year under Review, the remuneration paid to the senior
management fell within the following band:
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2024 2023
—ENF —ET-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® Tt ARBEFT

Directors’ fee, salaries, allowances and E%E4 - 4 - 2R
benefits in kind BN = 2,217 2,189
Equity-settled share award expense LA B e 45 & A% 1) 2R D B S - -
Pension scheme contributions RIS FHEIH R - -
2,217 2,189

The number of the highest paid employees who were Directors
and whose remuneration fell within the following band is as
follows:

EZAFMNFATHEZ RS R

B2Z AT :

2024 2023

—EmE —_T_=
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ 21,000,000/ 7T 7 5
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001/ 7L £1,500,00078 7T - -
7 5
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Nomination Committee

Structure

The Nomination Committee was established on 8 June 2015 with
written terms of reference in compliance with code provisions
A.5.2 and A.5.3 of the CG Code as set out in Appendix 14 to
the Listing Rules with the role to lead the process and to make
recommendations for appointments to the Board, whether
as additional appointment or to fill up the casual vacancy of
directorship as and when they arise, in the light of challenges and
opportunities facing the Company, as well as business development
and requirements of the Company.

As at the date of this annual report, the Nomination Committee is
made up of one executive Director and four INEDs, namely:

Mr. Chen Chengshou (Chairman)

Ms. Lee Yin Man (appointed on 9 August 2024)
Ms. Huang Chunlian (appointed on 9 August 2024)
Mr. Khor Khie Liem Alex (retired on 14 April 2025)
Mr. Chiu Kung Chak (retired on 14 April 2025)

Mr. Cao Zhigiang (appointed on 11 April 2025)

Ms. Chan Wai Yan (appointed on 11 April 2025)

Functions
The principal responsibilities of the Nomination Committee are as
follows:

(i) to review the structure, size, composition and diversity
(including but not limited to gender, age, culture and
education background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and service term, etc.) of the Board at
least annually and make recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board to complement the strategy of the
Company;

(i) to assess the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors; and

(i) to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors, in particular the chairman and the chief executive
officer, taking into account the corporate strategy of the
Company and the mix of skills, knowledge, experience and
diversity needed in the future.
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Board Diversity Policy

The Nomination Committee has adopted a “Board Diversity Policy”
for the nominations of Directors to achieve diversity on the Board.
The Board deeply believes that the diversity will benefit a lot to the
Company in terms of enhancing the quality of its performance. To
achieve the goal of sustainable and balanced development, the
Company regards the increasing diversity to the strategic goals as
the key element to maintain sustainable development. The Board
adheres to the principle that “talent is priority”, and appoints the
Directors who can contribute to the diversity of the Board. The
Company devotes to find the most suitable people as the member
of committee. The Company will base on the scope of diversity,
not only including the education background, experience, skills,
knowledge and term of appointment but also including but not
limited to gender, age, culture background and race, with reference
to business model and specific needs of the Company. The final
determination is based on merit and contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board. "Board Diversity Policy” is
publicly available on the website of the Company. As at the date of
this annual report, the information (including gender, age and term
of appointment) of the members of Board is as follows:

Member Gender

EEERE 4 5

Mr. Chen Chengshou Male

RS S A s

Mr Cao Zhigiang Male

EEELE ES

Ms. Lee Yin Man Female

FERLL #

Ms. Huang Chunlian Female

BEELT Z

Ms. Chan Wai Yan (appointed on 11 April 2025) Female

BERZT(RNZTE-AFHA+—REZE) z

Mr. Feng Cizhao (retired on 14 April 2025) Male

BERAE(R T -_AFNA+UAERT) s

Mr. Zhou Fenli (retired on 14 April 2025) Male

BAENEE(RZZTEAFMNA+MNARE) B

Ms. Gao Qiaoqin (retired on 14 April 2025) Female

EHELE(R_ZE-_AFMNA+MHAERE) 8

Mr. Zhou Zhencun (retired on 14 April 2025) Male
ARGFEE(R_ZE-AFNHA+MNARE) e

Mr. Khor Khie Liem Alex (retired on 14 April 2025) Male

FEBAEE(R_T-AFNHA+MNARE) %

Mr. Chiu Kung Chak (retired on 14 April 2025) Male

HAREE(RZZTEAFNHA+MNARE) %

TEERBRESE

EEERESUIEE
RAZEEONEFIRARMESTERE
SHEBRINEFETERESZTIIL - EF
EREEFENEZTIHREAARRANE
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CARAREFEEEBAEZ TR
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AIMUMMHAREE HNAFHRAH EFg
BE(BEMR - i REEH)OT
Age Term (Note)
Fie Bl 5 1E B (Bt =)
59 11 years and 1 months
595% MFEZ1E A
40 7 months
407%, 7{E A
41 7 months
A173% 71{E A
29 7 months
297% 71{E A
27 N/A
2773% A
49 9 years and 1 month
497%, 9OFZE1E A
55 7 months
555% 71{E A
53 10 years and 5 months
537% 10FZ51E A
63 3 years and 1 month
635% SFEZEE A
56 3 years and 3 months
567% 3FZ3EA
43 3years and 1 month
4373%, 3FZ1E A
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For the purpose of implementation of the Board Diversity Policy, the
following measurable objectives were adopted:

(A) at least one-third of the members of the Board shall be
independent non-executive Directors;

(B) at least one of the members of the Board shall have obtained
accounting or other professional qualifications; and

(C) members of the Board shall consist of professional talents
both from PRC and Hong Kong.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board has achieved the
measurable objectives in the board diversity policy. The Nomination
Committee will monitor the implementation of this policy and
review this policy, as appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness of
this policy. The Nomination Committee will discuss any revisions
that may be required, and recommend any such revisions to the
Board for consideration and approval.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee can be
found on the websites of the Company and the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange.

Works Performed
The works performed by the members of Nomination Committee
during the Year under Review are summarized as below:

(i)  to formulate, consider and review the policy, procedures and
process and criteria for the nomination of the Directors and
make recommendations to the Board for its endorsement; and

(i) review the structure, size and composition of the Board and
assess on the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors.

Director Nomination Policy

The director nomination policy formulated by the Nomination
committee is as follows:

This policy sets out the key selection criteria and principles of the
Nomination Committee in making any such recommendations.
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Selection Criteria

The Nomination Committee shall consider the following factors,
which are not exhaustive and shall be used by the Board at its
discretion, in assessing the suitability of the proposed candidate
regarding the appointment of directors or re-appointment of any
existing Board member(s):

(@)

(b)

reputation for integrity;

accomplishment, experience and reputation in the business
and industry;

commitment in respect of time availability, interest and
attention to the businesses of the Company and its
subsidiaries;

the diversity of the candidates in all aspects with reference
to the Board Diversity Policy of the Company (as adopted and
amended by the Board from time to time), including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural/educational and professional
background, ethnicity, professional experience, independence,
skills, knowledge and length of service,

in case of a candidate for an independent non-executive
director of the Company, to assess: (i) the independence of
such candidate with reference to, among other things, the
independence criteria as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules; and (ii) the guidance and requirements in relation
to independent non-executive directors as set out in Code
Provision A.5.5 of Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules and in the
“Guidance for Boards and Directors” published by the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange; and

any other relevant factors that may be considered by the
Nomination Committee or the Board from time to time at their
discretion.

Nomination Procedures

The nomination procedures to select and recommend candidates
for the directorship of the Company can be summarised as follows:

@)

The chairman of the Nomination Committee will, upon his/her
own motion or receipt of a nomination from a Board member
(as the case may be), convene a meeting of the Nomination
Committee or circulate a resolution in writing to the members
of the Nomination Committee to consider the same in
accordance with the terms of reference.

TEERBRESE

REZBEGENEREARTEAEDES
AEFETNEFH  BEENIHAE 5L
REWHFERE BEFERR/EERRKA

BERE :
@ miEaRE
(0) EEEMTEFAOR - ERTEE

(d)

HARAMEFRARNESR T RN
PP - BEERANBR DT RO A

SEARARANESTENEZTLEME
(REZSRMALTKEET) - ZREM
BEIEZERNE - BRETERRNIER
Fie - e/ HENEEER - Bk
BEXKR B Kee - MBELRSE
HiRRE

MARRBYFFATERTHREAMS -
# T A  (VBRIREANBLIE(2E
(R B3) EmRRIE3BGME NS
SRR ¢ R(il) BT AR RIUKT %1457 R
X EBEASSER T BB MO E
S hEFESIMENBEBLIEN
TEFEZEIIRBAE K&

REZBEXEFETHHRRTENE
Al B A HERE A 2% -

WEHESF
BENMEBARAEFREANERREFA
BT

(@)

RAZESIFHHNARANERE
FeXEBRA(BBEAME)R - AR
FEREEeRUNERZEENERH
EMRER  UREBEHEZEEH
=

—E_NEER



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERERAREE

For filling a casual vacancy to the Board or as an addition to
the Board, the Nomination Committee will conduct the relevant
selection process (coupled with the relevant selection criteria)
to the nominated candidate and make recommendations to
the Board for consideration, and the Board will then decide
as to whether the nominated candidate shall be eligible to be
appointed as a Director of the Company.

For the re-election of Directors of the Company:

(i)

the Nomination Committee will conduct the relevant
selection process and selection criteria to the director
proposed to be re-appointed and make recommendations
to the Board for consideration, and the Board will then
decide as to whether the director shall be eligible to be
re-appointed as a Director of the Company; and

if the director proposed to be re-appointed or re-elected
due to retirement by rotation under the Articles of
Association of the Company is an independent non-
executive Director who has served the Board for more
than 9 years, the Nomination Committee shall also
assess whether the director has remained independent
in the context of the Listing Rules, as amended from
time to time (the “Listing Rules”) and shall be re-elected
at the next general meeting of the Company and make
recommendations to the Board for consideration. The
Board will then decide as to whether the director has
remained independent in the context of the Listing Rules,
and if so, recommend the proposed re-appointment/
re-election of the director to the shareholders of the
Company for consideration at the next general meeting
of the Company. According to the Code Provision A.4.3
of the Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules, the circular of
the Company relating to the proposed reappointment of
such director shall include the reasons why the Board
believes that the director is still independent and shall be
re-elected.
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Information of the Candidates

The proposed candidates will be required to submit the necessary
personal information in a prescribed form by the Nomination
Committee. Candidates may be required to provide additional
information and documents, if deemed necessary by the Nomination
Committee.

Basically, the Board and its committees were responsible for the
following matters during the year:

0

(i

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

oversee the general operations of the Company;

ensure effective implementation of the Board decisions and
corporate governance, with the assistance of the Company
Secretary;

ensure the short-term and long-term sustainability of the
business;

lead the performance of the management of the Company in
meeting agreed goals and objectives and monitor the reporting
of performance;

provide consistent leadership to the Company,

satisfy itself on the integrity of financial information and on
robustness and defensibility of the financial controls and
systems of risk management and carry out review thereon,

scrutinize the performance of the management of the
Company in meeting agreed goals and objectives and monitor
the reporting of performance;

provide constructive proposals and help on developing
business strategic plan;

uphold high standards of corporate governance and
compliance; and

participate in the process of dealing with any conflict of
interest between the Company and the Directors, his/her
associates or substantial shareholders who have material
interests in the transaction with the Company.

288

1R 5

TEERBRESE

AEH

REZBEHEREBNREAREENT
AEXVENBEAER  REAXFRHER
SNEREXHF(HRERZEER/LE)

EXL BEFEEhEZBEENAFERNAEE
AT

(M

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

ERARAN—REE
RATRMENHET - BREZFEHR
EREEEARENER

BREKAEBEARRPOFFEML

BEARRERERERBE S LB
BORFNARERRBOBERTE

BARRREHE—BWES

MM BEMNERME - MHEEREA
BEIE R RS R AT AR - AL
ST A BT

FEAmE AN A RE IR B E R E
NMERHRIR - WEERBNHR
MEREGRETEZREAZRMEN
EENIHE
FERKFHNEREARARTIE &
SHEGBERARFHEHESE  REBHEA

IRARRLR T HEAEREGN TR
PR 2 TR R A a5 SR Ay a8 A2 -

—E_NEER



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERERAREE

During the Year under Review, the management was mainly
responsible for the following matters:

1.

6.

daily investment, management, operation and administration
of the Company;

comply with the rules and regulations, including the Listing
Rules, and implement corporate governance policy determined
by the Board,

draw the Directors’ attention on the new corporate
governance requirements;

organize the Board and various meetings for the Directors’
discussion;

prepare various reports to the Board for review and decision
making; and

organize training for the Directors.

During the Year under Review, the management provided all
members of the Board updates every half year in accordance with
the code provision C.1.2 of the CG Code.
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As set out in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group incurred a net loss of approximately RMB589,691,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2024. At 31 December 2024, the Group's
current liabilities exceeded its current assets by approximately
RMB4,507,983,000. In addition, at 31 December 2024, the Group’s
outstanding borrowings of approximately RMB1,212,708,000 and the
convertible bonds issued by the Group amounting approximately
RMB282,125,000 were overdue pursuant to the borrowing
agreements which constituted events of defaults. These conditions,
together with other matters disclosed in note 2 to the consolidated
financial statements, indicate the existence of material uncertainties
which may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue
as a going concern.

The Management has been undertaking measures to improve the
Group’s liguidity and financial position, which are set out in note 2
to the consolidated financial statements. The validity of the going
concern assumption on which the consolidated financial statements
have been prepared depends on the outcome of these measures,
which are subject to multiple material uncertainties, including (i)
successfully negotiating with the Group’s existing lenders such
that no action will be taken by the relevant lenders to demand
immediate repayment of the borrowings with interest payments in
default; (i) successfully negotiating with various financial institutions
on the renewal of or extension for repayment of outstanding
borrowings, including those with overdue principals and interests;
(iii) successfully negotiating with various financial institutions
and potential lenders/investors to identify various options for
additionally financing the Group’s working capital and commitments
in the foreseeable future; (iv) successfully accelerating the pre-sale
and sale of properties under development and completed properties
and speeding up the collection of outstanding sales proceeds,
and controlling costs and capital expenditure so as to generate
adequate net cash inflows; and (v) successfully procuring and
negotiating the preliminary terms with large property development
enterprises for the sale of individual property development project
at a price deemed appropriate.

Accordingly, we were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence about the appropriateness of the use of going concern
basis of accounting in the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements. Should the Group be unable to operate as a going
concern, adjustments would have to be made to write down the
carrying values of the Group's assets to their recoverable amounts,
to provide for any further liabilities from which might arise, and to
reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current
assets and current liabilities, respectively. The effects of these
adjustments have not been reflected in the consolidated financial
statements.
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During the course of audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024, the Auditor had
raised concern on the Group’s ability to operate as a going concern.
In order to address this concern, the Company has, among other
things, taken the following measures, including but not limited to:

(i)

(i)

Continuously negotiating with various financial institutions
on the renewal of or extension for repayment of outstanding
borrowings, including those with overdue principals and
interests.

The Management has been continuously negotiating with the
Group's existing lenders on the renewal of or extension for
repayment of outstanding borrowings such that no actions
will be taken by the relevant lenders to demand immediate
repayment of borrowings and interest payments in default,
including those with cross default terms, and hopes to extend
the due dates and repayment schedules of the outstanding
borrowings. As of 31 December 2024, there is still a total
principal amount of RMB1,212,708,000 outstanding and
convertible bonds of approximately RMB282,125,000 that are
overdue pursuant to the borrowing agreements.

Continuously negotiating with various financial institutions and
potential lenders/investors to identify various opportunities
for additionally financing the Group’s working capital and
commitments in the foreseeable future.

As of the date of this report, the Company intends to obtain
additional financing from other financial institutions using
the Group’s completed residential properties on terms
deemed appropriate by the Group. The Management has also
been negotiating financial arrangements with self-financed
contractor, who will advance construction costs during the
contract period, with payments made according to the sales
proceeds.
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Accelerating the pre-sale and sale of properties under
development and completed properties, such as Shandong
Project and controlling costs and containing capital
expenditure so as to generate adequate net cash inflows for
the Group.

The Group has partially completed the pre-sale and sale of
Block 9 and no. 16 of the 4th phase of the residential zone
of Shandong Project in 2024 and continues to sell the rest of
the Block 9 and no. 16 of the residential properties. The main
structure and exterior facade of Blocks no. 9 and no. 16 of the
fourth phase of the residential zone of the Shandong Project
has been completed. The remaining construction works of
the fourth phase is scheduled to commence in August 2025
and the expected presale commencement and construction
completion date are March 2026 and June 2026, respectively.
Due to the weakened market segment, the management of
the Company strive to launch an attractive sale promotion
plan and strategy to sell the residential properties in order to
maintain the adequate cash inflow position.

Majority of the net proceeds from Shandong Project has
been and will be used for the repayment of the outstanding
borrowings.

Actively procuring and formulating the preliminary terms
with large property developer to sell individual property
development project or whole commercial property at an
appropriate price.

Currently, the Company has been negotiating with certain
potential purchasers and have done preliminary due
diligence work regarding the sale of the whole Shanghai
property development project at price deemed appropriate
by the Group. The Group is negotiating with other property
development enterprise and investors in relation to Shanghai
property development project and have done preliminary due
diligence work but since the real estate market has yet to
fully recover, such negotiations have yet to progress smoothly
and the management of the Company is identifying new
investors to participate in investing Shanghai and Taizhou's
renovation works in order to increase its underlying value and
to accelerate the sale of commercial properties more rapidly
and effectively.

The management estimated that most of the net proceeds
from the Shanghai Project will be used for the repayment of
the outstanding borrowings. The sale of the Shanghai Project
might constitute a transaction of the Company subject to
announcement pursuant to Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules and
subject to the relevant requirements under the Listing Rules.

(i)

(iv)
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Actively accelerate the sale of its properties. The Company
intends to sell the whole or portion of commercial properties
in Taizhou and Shanghai, with a view to accelerating the
recovery of working capital to improve its liability and financial
gearing conditions.

Due to the weakened market segment, the management of
the Company strive to launch an attractive sale promotion
plan and strategy to sell the residential properties in order to
maintain the adequate cash inflow position.

In addition, the management of the Company has launched
the proposal of capital re-organization and rights issue with
view to fundraising of approximately not more than HK$84.2
million to repay the Group’s borrowings and to maintain
adequate working capital for company’s normal operation. For
details, please refer to an announcement dated 6 December
2024.

Accordingly, the Directors are of the opinion that it is
appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial statements
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 on a
going concern basis. Notwithstanding the above, material
uncertainties exist as to whether the Group is able to obtain
the necessary funding and achieve the plans and measures
above. The Group's ability to continue as a going concern will
depend upon whether the Group is able to obtain financing
when required, while the attainability will depend on the
performance of the Group and whether the Group is able to
generate sufficient cash flow from operations and plans to
control costs, and the attainability depends on the market
performance.

Despite the efforts made by the Company to address the
concern, the Auditor proposed the disclaimer of opinion. The
management of the Company has considered the Auditor’s
rationale and understood their consideration in arriving at the
disclaimer of opinion.

Annual Report 2024

EHRINRDEHE - ARBRIASEE
REEaME EBNEEHRBOEEY
X BRMREREEESHERBR
FAFEIEARARD -

HRTHRESS  ARFERER L
B3| 0 ey 85 & 1 E AT B KRR - At
EEEVE  EMAERTRORSR
AR ©

o RARIEEEERFAEAEZAR
BB ZER  UWEEHTHBBSL2EE
BILZ2ES  NEBAEBEER - A&
BEHFMEMER  WHEFFTTEES
TUENRARZERLE - FI5FE2H
HEA-ZE-_WNF+_ARNAZAE -

At EERRRFELEREAEH
BE_ZT_NFT_A=1+—HLHFE
MRV BRREBIEE - 8% EXFT
gt AEBERLESER b E ME
BOVEESDFEEATEERSE °
AEEFBEENENBIORN A EE
EEBUSHERE - MAESERIOR
RARBHNRERAEERELTELTRE
MEER R E RIEFI R ANETE - 7
ESMHEBURNMISRA -

BEARBCHFELENBRLEE - M
REMEERBERTER - ARAE
BEEZEEZBAMNIERE  WIERES
FHEEARTERNEE -



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERERRES

AEBREHESXERYVETNREAER
MBMRENERE - ZEFHRTIEAN
REAIEENEML  UTRHABEU-ARA R
S XBABHRER - REEEXEATUMR
- MBEFRSERBEIEXER  BRY
BATEAE MIRRE - WRAA R AR EE
JRcik - RIFEBFREEIICE - BER

The Group recognises the importance of continuous professional
development for Directors to broaden and supplement their
knowledge and skills. Each Director strictly abides by their
responsibilities as a director of the Company and always keeps
abreast of the Company’s conduct, business activities and
development. In accordance with the CG Code, all Directors should
participate in continuous professional development to develop and

refresh their knowledge and skills, and should provide their training

records to the Company. Based on the training records provided
by the Directors, the training attended by the Directors during the
financial year 2024 is summarised as follows:

T REEMSENEIBRn T

Corporate Governance,
Regulatory
Development and
Trainings on other
relevant topics

TEER BEERER

Directors BEE H i HEE R EREZ

Executive Directors HITES

Mr. Chen Chengshou BRAESPSEE v

Mr. Feng Cizhao (retired on 14 April BEREE(NRZZE-AFMA+MHART) v
2025)

Mr. Zhou Fenli (appointed on 9 August BB HAE(R-_Z-_NFEN\ANBEZTR v
2024 and retired on 14 April 2025) RZZE-AFMOATMARE)

Non-executive Directors FHITES

Mr. Cao Zhigiang (appointed on BHERAE(RZZEZUFNANBEZER v
9 August 2024 and redesignated RZZE_RFMNA+—HFAR)
on 11 April 2025)

Ms. Gao Qiaoqin (retired on 14 April BLEELT(RZZE-_AFHA+EARE) v
2025)

Mr. Choi Clifford Wai Hong (resigned ERERBRAE(VRZZEZAF A THEBABT) v
on 24 February 2025)

Mr. Zhou Zhencun (retired on 14 April ~ ERTFAE(R - -AFMNA+HNHEMT) v
2025)

Independent Non-executive Directors B FHITES

Ms. Lee Yin Man (appointed on FEZLT(RZZE-_MENANBEERET) v
9 August 2024)

Ms. Huang Chunlian (appointed on EEELT(RZZE-WFNARNLBERT) v
9 August 2024)

Mr. Khor Khie Liem Alex (retired on AEBAE(RZE-AFHEATEARE) v
14 April 2025)

Mr. Chiu Kung Chak (retired on HAREE(RZZ_RAFNUATEARE) v
14 April 2025)

Mr. Leung Lau Wai Leung (resigned on  2IEREE(R_ZT-_WNF+ = A+ HEHIT) v
10 December 2024)

Ms. Chan Wai Yan (appointed on REELZT(RZTE_AFNHA+—BEZE) N/A i A

11 April 2025)
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The Board of the Company has approved and adopted a dividend
policy (the “Dividend Policy”) on 26 February 2019. The Company
considers stable and sustainable returns to the shareholders of the
Company as its goal. Pursuant to the Dividend Policy, in deciding
whether to propose a dividend and in determining the dividend
amount, the Board shall take into account, inter alia:

(@) financial performance, cash flow position, business condition
and strategic position of the Group

(b) actual and future demand for working capital and liquidity of
the Group

(c) expected future expansion plans of the Group
(d) debt to equity ratios and the debt level of the Group
(e) retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Group

(f)  the expectation of the shareholders and investors and the
norm of the industry

(g) the general market conditions
(h) any restrictions on payment of dividends
(i) any other relevant factors that the Board deems appropriate

In recommending or declaring dividends, the Company shall
maintain adequate cash reserves for meeting its working capital
requirements and future growth as well as its shareholder value.
Pursuant to the Memorandum and Articles of the Association of the
Company and all applicable laws and regulations and the factors
set out below, the Board may from time to time declare payment of
interim dividends or special dividends to the shareholders as appear
to the Board to be justified by the financial conditions and profit of
the Company. The Company in general meeting may declare final
dividends in any currency but no dividends shall exceed the amount
recommended by the Board.

The Board of the Company will review the Dividend Policy as
appropriate from time to time.
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During the Year under Review, the Audit Committee of the Company
(the "Audit Committee”) consists of four independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Khor Khie Liem Alex (being the chairman of
the Audit Committee), Mr. Chiu Kung Chak, Ms. Lee Yin Man and Ms.
Huang Chunlian, and the consolidated interim and annual results
and financial reports for the Year under Review of the Company
have been reviewed by them. Subsequently, the consolidated
financial statements and financial report for the Year under Review
of the Company have been reviewed by Ms. Lee Yin Man, Ms.
Huang Chunlian and Ms. Chan Wai Yan.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the remuneration paid or
payable to the Independent Auditor of the Company, Global Link
CPA Limited, was approximately HK1.90 million for audit services
(2023: approximately HK1.90 million).

The Company aims to present a clear, balanced and understandable
assessment of its financial position and prospects. Financial results
are announced as early as possible, with interim report and annual
report as well as other price-sensitive announcements and financial
disclosures published as required under the Listing Rules.

The management provides explanation, information and progress
update to the Board for it to make an informed assessment of the
financial and other issues put before the Board for approval and
consideration.

Throughout the Year under Review, the Directors had selected
appropriate accounting policies and applied them consistently.
The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
financial accounts of the Group which give a true and fair view
and are in accordance with the International Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.
A statement made by the Independent Auditor on their reporting
responsibilities for the Year under Review is set out in this annual
report.

The Group's auditor has issued a disclaimer of opinion on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2024 with the basis of multiple material uncertainties
relating to going concern. For details, please refer to “Management
Discussion and Analysis” and Note 2 to the consolidated financial
Statements on pages 21 to 22.
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Goals and objectives

The Board acknowledges that it is the responsibility of the Board
to maintain adequate risk management and internal control
systems and to review the effectiveness of such systems on
an ongoing basis. Such risk management and internal control
systems are designed for managing risks rather than eliminating
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only
provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

Risk management policy has been established to formalize the risk
management of the Group, build up a standard and effective risk
management system and improve the ability of risk prevention,
SO as to ensure that the Group could operate in a safe and steady
environment, the operation management level could be increased
and the Group's operational strategy and target could be achieved.
The current practices will be reviewed and updated regularly to
follow the latest practices in corporate governance.

The Board has delegated the work (with relevant authorities) of risk
management and internal controls to the Audit Committee. For the
year ended 31 December 2024, the Audit Committee, on behalf of
the Board, oversaw the management in the design, implementation
and monitoring of the risk management and internal control
systems.

Main features of the risk management and internal
control systems

The risk governance structure and the main responsibilities of each
level of the structure of the Group are summarised as below:

Board

o Determines the business strategies and objectives of the
Group, and evaluates and determines the nature and extent of
risks it is willing to take in achieving the strategic objectives of
the Group;

o Ensures that the Group establishes and maintains appropriate
and effective risk management and internal control systems,
and

o Oversees the management in the design, implementation

and monitoring of the risk management and internal control
systems.
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Audit Committee

Assists the Board to perform its responsibilities of risk
management and internal control;

Oversees the risk management and internal control systems of
the Group on an ongoing basis;

Reviews the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group at least once annually,
which includes the reliability of financial reporting, operational
effectiveness and efficiency, compliance with applicable
laws and regulations, staff qualifications and experience, and
adequacy of relevant budget, and such review shall cover
all material controls including financial, operational and
compliance control;

Ensures the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and relevant budget of the
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions of
the Group; and

Considers major findings on risk management and internal
control matters, and reports and makes recommendations to
the Board.

Management

Designs, implements and maintains appropriate and effective
risk management and internal control systems;

Identifies, evaluates and manages the risks that may
potentially impact the major processes of the operations;

Monitors risks and takes measures to mitigate risks in day-to-
day operations;

Gives prompt responses to, and follows up the findings on
risk management and internal control matters raised by the
internal audit team or the external risk management and
internal control review adviser; and

Provides confirmation to the Board and Audit Committee (there
is no risk management committee) on the effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems.
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Internal Control Management Team

o Reviews the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group;

o Reports to the Audit Committee the findings of the review
and makes recommendations to the Board and management
to improve the material systems deficiencies or control
weaknesses identified,

o Reviews the risks of major investment development projects,
and continuously improves the policies and standards for
environmental control in accordance with the COSO internal
control framework and the comprehensive risk management
framework to ensure effective risk prevention and control; and

o Based on five elements, namely environment control,
risk assessment, activities control, information and
communication, monitoring to assess the internal control
system of the Group. The methods, findings and results of the
annual review have been reported to the Audit Committee and
the Board.

Process used to identify, evaluate and manage
significant risks

As a routine procedure and part of the risk management and internal
control systems, executive Directors and the senior management
would meet at least once every three months to review the financial
and operating performance of each department. The senior
management of the key operating subsidiaries is also required to
keep executive Directors informed of material developments of the
business of the department and implementation of the strategies
and policies set by the Board on a regular basis.

The processes for identifying, evaluating and managing significant
risks by the Group are summarised as follows:

Risk Identification

o Identifies risks that may potentially affect the business and
operations of the Group.

Risk Assessment

o Assesses the risks identified by using the assessment criteria
developed by the management; and

o Considers the impact of risk on the business and the likelihood
of their occurrence.

Risk Response
o Prioritises the risks by comparing the results of the risk

assessment; and

J Determines the risk management strategies and internal
control procedures to prevent, avoid or mitigate the risks.
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Risk Monitoring and Reporting

o Performs ongoing and periodic monitoring of the risk and
ensures that appropriate internal control procedures are in
place;

o Revises the risk management strategies and internal control
procedures in case of any significant changes; and

o Reports the results of risk monitoring to the management and
the Board regularly.

The Board has in place an internal audit function as required
under code provision C.2.5 of the CG Code. To strengthen the
risk management and internal control of the Group, the Company
has engaged an independent professional adviser (“Internal
Control Adviser”) to perform an independent appraisal of certain
subsidiary’s risk management and internal control system for the
year ended 31 December 2024. The scope of review for the Year
included capital management, borrowing management, expenditure
management and financial reporting process of a principal operating
subsidiary. The Internal Control Adviser has reported the results
of internal control review and recommendations for improvement
to the Audit Committee. The Group will closely follow up on each
recommendation for improvement to ensure that it is implemented
within a reasonable period of time. The Board, therefore, considers
that the risk management and internal control procedures of the
Group are adequate to meet the needs of the Company in its
current business environment and that nothing has come to its
attention to cause the Board to believe the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group are inadequate.

Information disclosure policy

An information disclosure policy is in place to ensure potential
inside information being captured and confidentiality of such
information being maintained until consistent and timely disclosures
are made in accordance with the Listing Rules. The policy regulates
the handling and dissemination of inside information, which
includes:

o Designated reporting channels from different operations
informing any potential inside information to designated
departments;

o Designated persons and departments to determine further
escalation and disclosure as required; and

o Designated persons authorised to act as spokespersons and
respond to external enquiries.
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The Audit Committee and the Board had reviewed the risk
management and internal control of the Group for the Year under
Review. They considered the risk management and internal
control system were effective and adequate as they allowed the
Board to monitor the overall financial position of the Group and to
provide reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against
unauthorised use or material financial misstatement; transactions
were executed with authorization of the management; and the
accounting records were reliable for preparing financial information
used within the business or for publication and reflecting
accountability for assets and liabilities.

The company secretary of the Company, Mr. Kam Chun Ying Francis
("Mr. Kam"), directly reports to the chief executive officer and is
responsible to the Board for ensuring that the Board procedures,
applicable laws, rules and regulations are followed and the Board
activities are efficiently and effectively conducted. He is also
responsible for ensuring that the Board is fully appraised of the
relevant corporate governance developments relating to the Group
and arranging the induction training and professional development
for the Directors.

According to Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Mr. Kam has taken no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

The Company adopted an amended and restated memorandum
and articles of association on 8 June 2015, which became effective
on the Listing Date. There had been no significant changes in the
constitutional documents of the Company during the year ended 31
December 2024.

The Company treats all shareholders equally with a view to
ensuring that their rights can be fully exercised and their legitimate
interests can be safeguarded and that the shareholders’ general
meetings can be convened and held in strict compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations. The governing structures of the
Company ensure equality among all shareholders, especially the
minority shareholders and that they will undertake their obligations
accordingly.
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Procedures for convening general meetings by
shareholders

Pursuant to Article 64 of the Articles of Association, the Board
may, whenever it thinks fit, convene an extraordinary general
meeting. Extraordinary general meetings shall also be convened
on the requisition of one or more shareholders holding, at the date
of deposit of the requisition, not less than one tenth of the paid-
up capital of the Company having the right of voting at general
meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or
the Company Secretary for the purpose of requiring an extraordinary
general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition. Such meeting shall be held
within two months after the deposit of such requisition. If within
21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene
such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do
so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at
Shareholders’ meeting

Shareholders are requested to follow Article 64 of the Articles of
Association for proposing a resolution at an extraordinary general
meeting. The requirements and procedures are set out in the
paragraph headed the “Procedures for convening general meetings
by shareholders” above.

Procedures for nominating a candidate for election as
a Director by shareholders of the Company

Pursuant to Article 113 of the Articles of Association, no person,
other than a retiring Director, shall, unless recommended by the
Board for election, be eligible for election to the office of Director
at any general meeting, unless notice in writing of the intention
to propose that person for election as a Director and notice in
writing by that person of his willingness to be elected shall have
been lodged at the Head Office or at the Registration Office of
the Company. The period for lodgment of the notices required
under this Article will commence no earlier than the day after the
despatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed for such
election and end no later than seven days prior to the date of such
general meeting and the minimum length of the period during which
such notices to the Company may be given will be at least seven
days.

For details of “the procedures for nominating a candidate for
election as a Director by shareholders”, please visit the website of
the Company.
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Constitutional Documents

The Board proposed to amend the then articles of association of the
Company and to adopt the second amended and restated articles
of association of the Company in order to, among other things, (i)
updating and bringing the then articles of association in line with the
latest regulatory requirements in relation to the expanded paperless
listing regime and the electronic dissemination of corporate
communications by listed issuers and the relevant amendments
made to the Listing Rules which took effect from 31 December
2023; (ii) facilitating the holding of hybrid or electronic shareholders
meetings, and (iii) making other consequential and housekeeping
changes. A special resolution of the Shareholders was passed at
the 2023 annual general meeting of the Company held on 14 April
2025 to approve the amendments to the then articles of association
of the Company and the adoption of the second amended and
restated articles of association of the Company with effect from the
same date.

For the summary of the major changes brought by and the details of
the amendments to the then articles of association of the Company,
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 12 March
2025 and the circular of the Company dated 21 March 2025.

The second amended and restated articles of association
of the Company was published on the Company’s website
(www.xinm.com.cn) and the HKEXnews website of Hong Kong
Exchanges and Clearing Limited (www.hkexnews.hk).
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Purpose

1.1

This policy aims to set out the objective of providing
shareholders with information about the Company, so
that they can engage actively with the Company and
exercise their rights as shareholders in an informed
manner.

General policy

2.1

2.2

Information shall be circulated to shareholders through
the financial reports of the Company (interim and
annual reports), annual general meetings and other
general meetings that may be convened, as well as by
making available all the (i) corporate communication
documents including, but not limited to, copy of annual
reports, interim reports, notices of meetings, circulars,
proxy forms (“Corporate Communication”); (ii) other
documents issued by the Company which are published
on the website of the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange for the information or action of holders of
any of its securities, including announcements, monthly
returns on movements in the securities of the Company
for each month and next day disclosure returns; (iii)
constitutional documents of the Company and Board
committees; (iv) corporate information including a list
of directors (“Directors”) of the Company; and (v) other
corporate publications including the procedures for
nominating a candidate for election as a Director by
shareholders on the website of the Company.

Effectively and timely dissemination of information to
shareholders shall be ensured at all times. Any question
regarding this policy shall be directed to the Company
Secretary or the Board of Directors of the Company.

Communication strategies
Shareholders’ enquiries

3.1

3.2

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to
the Company Secretary by mail at Unit D, 7/F, Kee Shing
Centre, 74-76 Kimberley Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon,
Hong Kong. The Company Secretary is responsible
for forwarding communications relating to matters
within the direct responsibilities of the Board to it and
communications relating to ordinary business matters,
such as suggestions and inquiries, to the CEO of the
Company.

Shareholders will be provided with the information of
designated contact person, e-mail address and hotlines
to enable them to raise any questions regarding the
Company.
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Corporate communication

3.3

Corporate Communication will be provided to
shareholders in plain language and in both English and
Chinese versions to facilitate their understanding.

Corporate website

3.4

3.5

A dedicated “Investor Relations” section is available on
the website of the Company (http://www.xinm.com.cn).
Information on the website of the Company will be
updated on a regular basis.

Information released by the Company to the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange is also uploaded on the website of the
Company immediately thereafter. Such information
includes financial statements, results announcements,
circulars and notices of general meetings and associated
explanatory documents.

Shareholders’ meetings

3.6

3.7

3.8

3.9

Shareholders are encouraged to attend general meetings
or if they fail to do so, to appoint proxies to attend and
vote at such meetings on their behalf.

Appropriate arrangements for annual general
meetings shall be in place to encourage shareholders’
participation.

The process of a general meeting of the Company will be
monitored and reviewed on a regular basis, and changes
will be made if necessary to ensure compliance with
shareholders’ needs.

The members of the Boards (especially the Chairman or
the representative of the Board committee), appropriate
management executives and external auditors will attend
annual general meetings and answer shareholders’
guestions.

4. Shareholder privacy

4.1

The Company recognises the importance of shareholders’
privacy and will not disclose shareholders’ information
without their consent, unless required by law.

Annual Report 2024

D RE

3.3

REBABE AP  RXPAUEHE
SR TR - ABRERIEAE -

R

3.4

3.5

A RN A8 v (http://www.xinm.
com.cn)RBIEEEBER]I— -
RARMEUEH B R e E R -

AR A [ & 7 B A2 P 3 DR B AL IT
REZEEE EHARRABL - BH
ERERRHHRE  FEQH B
B R B ERK & 3B 5 S AR RA R AR S A

o

=7

BRERRE

3.6

3.7

3.8

3.9

BEBRSERRAE - RWEE
EHEBRRAE  AIRERRAKHE
HERRAE MNE ERR -

BERBERG BRI AEE LHIAR
iR H -

ARBBRRREZBIZHRGER
FoEfE - MARE - SFHE
o URRERESKRRFE -

EFeREB(FHRESEREY
ERIEREK) BENEETE
ANB RSMNERZEED - 1 R
FRE - RIEBRRER -

RN

4.1

ARBEERRLENERE - &
IERENR - TRAERBEREW
BRT  TERBERREH -



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Accountability and transparency are indispensable for
ensuring good corporate governance and, in this regard, timely
communication with the shareholders, including institutional
investors, is crucial. The Company considers good investor relations
as a key part of its operations and continues to promote investor
relations and enhances communications with the investors.

The Company maintains a website (http://www.xinm.com.cn)
to make the corporate information available on the internet to
facilitate its communication with shareholders and to provide the
public investors with important information, including corporate
governance structure and terms of reference of Board committees.

The Company welcomes comments from investors and
shareholders, and invites them to share their views and suggestions
at:

investorcontact@yahoo.com
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ABOUT THE ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT

In accordance with Appendix C2 - Environmental, Social and
Governance ("ESG") Reporting Guide (“ESG Reporting Guide”)
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing
Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”), Xinming China Holdings Company (the “Company"”) and
its subsidiaries (collectively as the “Group” or “we”) is pleased to
present its Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the “ESG
Report” or the "Report”) for the year ended 31 December 2024. In
this report, the Group has strictly followed the mandatory disclosure
requirements and “comply or explain” provisions set out in the ESG
Reporting Guide to disclose ESG matters during the reporting period.
The Report shall be published both in Chinese and English on the
website of the Stock Exchange. Should there be any discrepancy
between the Chinese and the English versions, the Chinese version
shall prevail.

Scope and duration of the report

The information presented in this ESG Report covers the period
from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 (the “"Reporting Period”,
“Year” or “2024"). The information contained in this report was
collected and compiled through various channels, including but not
limited to the Group’s internal control policies, factual evidence of
ESG-related measures implementation, key performance indicators
("KPIs") as set out in the ESG Guide, and quantitative data on the
Group’s annual performance in its business operations and ESG
management. The scope of the Report during the Year is the same as
the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023 (“Last Year”,
or “2023"), including:

o The Group's headquarter office in Hangzhou;

o Shandong Xingmeng Property Limited (“Shandong Xingmeng”)
Office; and

o Shandong Xingmeng project company and its property
development projects.
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Reporting standards

The Group has prepared, evaluated and presented relevant
information in this report with reference to the ESG Reporting Guide.
Details regarding corporate governance are separately contained in
the section headed “Corporate Governance Report”. The following
four principles outlined in the ESG Reporting Guide have been
incorporated into this Report.

1.

Materiality: The ESG Report should cover the Company’s
prominent impact on the economy, environment and society,
or such scopes that substantively influence stakeholder
assessment and decisions. We identified material sustainability
issues and disclosed relevant information through stakeholder
engagement.

Quantitative: The ESG Report should disclose KPIs in
guantitative terms. We disclosed KPIs in the Report with
guantitative measures whenever feasible and provide
explanatory notes stating the standards, methodologies,
assumptions and source of conversion factors used in
calculating the relevant data.

Balance: The ESG Report should present a balanced picture
of each of these issues in an objective manner, be they
positive or negative, to ensure a comprehensive picture of
performance is reasonably reflected. The Report identified and
elaborated both the achievements and the challenges faced
by the Group in the Year.

Consistency: The ESG Report should disclose information in a
consistent manner so that stakeholders can analyse and assess
the Company’s performance in different periods of time. The
company should explain the change(s) to any of its methods.
Unless otherwise specified, the Report adopted consistent
methodologies to compare the KPIs of different areas for
the Year and 2023, so that stakeholders can compare our
performance.
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BUILDING A SUSTAINABLE FUTURE

Sustainability governance structure

To integrate sustainable development management into the
Group's corporate governance framework, the Group established
an ESG Committee in 2018, which is primarily responsible for
annual ESG data collection and reporting matters, identifying and
assessing potential ESG-related risks of the Group, and developing
and monitoring business-related ESG objectives. The Board is the
ultimate decision-making body for the sustainable development
framework and bears overall responsibility for sustainability matters.
It oversees the Group’s sustainable development direction and
strategy, ensures the effectiveness of risk management (including
climate and ESG-related risks) and internal control systems, and
establishes and reviews sustainability goals. The ESG group also
reports to the Board on a regular basis of the progress of ESG work
and targets for review and assessment. Set out below are members
and individual responsibilities of our ESG group:

Supervisors and members of project company

HERBEERRE

Responsible for collecting the ESG
data of various project companies,
managing and ensuring compliance
with the laws and regulations in
implementing the project
BEWRERAE ARMESCEIE - &
B HERIE B BRI ARER

FEEREBRIEEBRE

Responsible for collecting the ESG
data of the Group and the project
company's office
BEBEARERIBEAARMAE
HIESGEUR

BERKE

B
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Responsible for following up the
ESG data on a regular basis, and
promptly provide feedback about
the ESG indicators to the risk
control director through collating,
summarizing and analyzing the data
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Members of the comprehensive management department of the Group and the project department

Members of the risk control department

Responsible for coordinating overall
ESG risk control and maintaining
communication with the Board to
integrate ESG with the Company’s
overall goals, so that the Board
members can understand new
opportunities and allocate
resources reasonably
EBAENERMESCRBILE - BER
BRFER - IBESGEAREE AT
AEE  REFREKE THRIAE
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ESG risk management

The Board and the risk management committee have jointly
developed the Group's risk management policies. Each department
and person in charge of risk are required to report the Risk
Management and Internal Control Evaluation Checklist to the
internal control and audit department every six months, which will
then analyze and provide opinion on the list to identify significant
risks that may potentially affect the business and operations of the
Group, and report the same to the risk management committee
to determine the risk exposure as a whole. Any material ESG risks
identified in the process will also be notified to the ESG group to
further assess the potential impact of the risks. Subsequently,
we determined the risk response policies and internal control
procedures to prevent, avoid or mitigate the risks. For details of
risk management and internal control, please refer to the section
headed "Corporate Governance Report”, and for details of the
principal risks and uncertainties we have identified, please refer to
the section headed “Directors’ Report”.

Stakeholder engagement

The Group values stakeholder engagement and actively maintains
close communication with various stakeholders through diverse and
open communication channels. By understanding and responding
to stakeholders’ needs and expectations regarding both internal
and external interests, the Group formulates its sustainable
development strategy and identifies ESG risks and opportunities.
Through these efforts, the Group is committed to creating lasting
value for its stakeholders.

Stakeholder engagement Main concerns
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. Corporate governance
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Employees o Employment rights and interests e Regular meetings and training
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o Compensation and benefits
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o Occupational safety and health
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Performance assessment
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Stakeholder engagement

FOENSH

External
stakeholders

SEREF D E

Customers
P

Suppliers
e

Professional
organizations
HEME

Government and
regulators
BT MBS B e

communities
ran's)

Main concerns

FTERIEE

Property quality

FEBE

Protection of customer privacy
and rights
BPRALRERIRE
Business ethics

[EE3CEE

Supplier management
HEmEE

Honesty and integrity
IS FOR

Environmental protection
IRIFIRE

Environmental protection and
social responsibility
RERERMEEE
Standard ethics and business
practices

FENBRT RERFE

Compliance with laws,
regulations and policies
BIPAE - ROIRBUER
Occupational health and safety
BERREERZD

People’s welfare

AEfEHE

Employment

MEBR

Tax payment in accordance with

laws
ROE T

community engagement
HiEmse
Care for the environment
EERE
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Main communication channels

TEBBEE

Customer service hotline and
email

B RSB K BT

Direct communication
HEBR

Customer satisfaction survey
BEEMEERE

Public bidding
NHRABE

Standard procurement
procedures
ERENKIBIZT
Direct communication
BEEE®

On-site inspection
FinE 5

E-mail and telephone
B RES

Meetings

L

Questionnaires and online
participation
HESY RS S
Telephone discussion
Rk

Monitor compliance with
relevant laws and regulations
ESSE TR AR AR B
Routine reporting and tax
payments
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Mass media
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ESG materiality assessment

To continuously improve the Group’s sustainability performance,
during this Reporting Period, the Group continued to implement
annual reviews and conduct materiality assessments. This helps
us identify and prioritise matters of importance to stakeholders,
gradually building their trust in us. Selected stakeholders were
invited to participate in electronic questionnaire surveys to
determine their views on key ESG issues of the Group. A materiality
assessment was conducted to help more accurately and objectively
understand the concerns and changing demands of various
stakeholders, further advancing the Group’s sustainable business
strategy. The specific process for materiality assessment is as
follows:

Collect stakeholders’
feedback
KEFEHERR

Identify
Al

We collected the scores on
materiality of various ESG

Through peer benchmarking
analysis and with reference to
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We prioritized the ESG We prepared the materiality
issues based on

matrix, summarized ESG
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The chart below summarizes the results of this materiality TEBMAXEZEFEHER

assessment:

Materiality assessment matrix

High &

Issues of
general importance
—REEBUEEE

Importance to stakeholders
HAREETHEES

Low {&

Issues of

EEMDITER

moderate importance
REEEEHE

16120
DD

Importance to the Group

HAEENEEY

Issues of
high importance
mEEEHRE

[19121]22123)

High =

Product liability

EmEE
1 Air emissions 10 Employee diversity and equal 18 Product health and safety
ERBER opportunities EmEREZE
2 Greenhouse gas emissions ST TtMEEHs 19 Customer satisfaction
BERETEN 11 Employee compensation BEEREE
3 Hazardous waste BIRFSE 20 Marketing and promotion
BEEEY 12 Occupational health and safety & IE TN E
4 Non-hazardous waste BERRENL S 21 Intellectual property
mEEEY 13 Employee development/training A ERE
5 Energy Use BTERE I 22 Customer information and privacy
BER{E A 14 lllegal labor B B RALRE
6 Water resources NEVESBT 23 Product and service labels
KE R 28 Promotion of local employment ERFREIZE
7 Materials used fRE BB EE
FEHE A Anti-corruption
8 Protection of the environment and RES
nagéraﬂl Lesourp¢§ 3 24 Corrupt practices
RERFERRAE R 15 S . . StV
9 Climate change upply chain selection and F%ﬁzfﬂ% _ _
SIRE monitoring 25 Anti-corruption policy
e B IR A BE AT REVS R 2
16 Suppliers’ environmental and 26  Anti-corruption training
social risks R&E5EI
HFE R R IR IR R e Bt = R P
17 Environmental friendliness of

products and services
EE A AR TS BRI R i 1
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According to the materiality matrix, ESG issues positioned in the
upper right corner of the matrix are considered relatively important
by both the Group and external stakeholders. Currently, employee
diversity and equal opportunities, occupational health and safety,
employee development/training, illegal labor practices, employee
compensation, customer satisfaction, product and service labeling,
intellectual property rights, and customer information and privacy
have been identified as issues of high importance for the Group. The
issues above are classified as key elements in driving the Group's
sustainable business development, and we will elaborate on them
further in the following sections.

Report feedback

We consistently value stakeholder opinions and consider them
fundamental to our continuous improvement. Both Chinese and
English versions of this Report have been uploaded to the website
of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. If you have any comments or
suggestions regarding this Report and our sustainability efforts,
please write to Unit D, 7/F, Kee Shing Centre, 74-76 Kimberly Road,
Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The Group understands the urgency of climate change and other
environmental crises, and therefore is committed to promoting
green, low-carbon practices by integrating environmental
protection into daily operations and minimizing environmental
impact in regular operations to fulfill its commitments. We strictly
comply with People's Republic of China laws and regulations
regarding air and greenhouse gas emissions, water and land
pollution, and waste generation, including but not limited to the
Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China,
the Energy Conservation Law of the People’s Republic of China, the
Environmental Impact Assessment Law of the People’s Republic
of China, and the Regulations on Environmental Protection
Management for Construction Projects. During the Year, we are not
aware of any significant violations of environmental protection laws
and regulations.
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Energy and gas emissions management

The Group’s main business is property development, with all real
estate development work carried out by third-party contractors,
therefore the Group does not directly generate air, water, and
construction waste pollution from construction work. For the Year,
the Group’s main energy consumption and gas emissions sources
were from vehicle fuel consumption and electricity consumed by
office, and tenants in the commercial areas. Due to the increase in
electricity consumption by commercial area tenants, the Group’s
total greenhouse gas emission intensity increased compared to

2023.

Energy and gas emissions’ 2 2024
BER R SR HER 2 —ET_mF
Gas emissions

REHEK

Nitrogen oxides (NO,) 0.91
AAPINO)

Sulphur oxides (SO,) 0.04
e t(so,)

Particular matter (PM) 0.07
SEIF TR (PM)

Greenhouse gas emissions

BERBHEK

Scope 1 (Direct emissions) 8.68
#E(EEHER)

Scope 2 (Indirect emissions) 374.50
#E2(MEHERD

Total emissions (Scopes 1 and 2) 381.71
By E (EBE1R2)

Intensity of greenhouse gas emissions 2.16

B R

1

Regarding the disclosure of air and greenhouse gas emissions, the
referenced materials include, but are not limited to, the "Greenhouse
Gas Protocol: Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard”
published by the World Resources Institute and the World Business
Council for Sustainable Development, the “Notice on Managing
Greenhouse Gas Emission Reporting for the Power Generation Industry
2023-2025" issued by China’s Ministry of Ecology and Environment,
the global warming potential values from the “Sixth Assessment
Report” published by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change,
and the "How to Prepare an ESG Report — Appendix 2: Reporting
Guidance on Environmental KPIs” published by the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange.

As our real estate development projects are outsourced to the

contractors, the contractors’ data on partial construction projects has
not been collected and disclosed.
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Due to the increase in electricity consumption by commercial area
tenants, compared with 2023, the Group’s total energy consumption
intensity increased.

Energy and gas emissions®’ 2024
BEIR % SR B HE 2 —E-MEF
Energy consumption

Unleaded petrol 26.75
mEn

Liquefied petroleum gas 5.12
T =i Exl

Electricity purchased 636.40
HNIEE ]

Total energy consumption 640.22
BEREREAEE

Intensity of energy consumption 4.02
EIRBREEE

2 As our real estate development projects are outsourced to the
contractors, the contractors’ data on partial construction projects has
not been collected and disclosed.

3 The calculation of unit conversion refers to the “Energy Statistics
Manual” issued by the International Energy Agency.

Water management

The Group is committed to green and low-carbon practices.
Regarding domestic sewage and construction wastewater generated
during project construction, we require contractors to implement
wastewater prevention measures during construction, including
setting up wastewater sedimentation tanks to collect various types
of industrial wastewater for dust suppression on site, and require
timely removal to prevent groundwater contamination from rainfall,
ensuring effective reduction of resource consumption and proper
recycling. We also strengthen awareness of water conservation
among employees through promotional and educational efforts,
including posting water-saving reminders in offices and enhancing
inspections of all faucets to ensure they are tightly closed,
with immediate handling of any leaks to reduce overall water
consumption. During the Year, we did not encounter any difficulties
in sourcing suitable water.

R HERER/RBRESE
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The Group’s water consumption intensity in 2024 and 2023 was
similar.

Data on water use 2024
RS —E-mE
Total water consumption 17,482.00
BIEKE
Water consumption intensity 0.10
FREE

Waste management

The Group adheres to compliant waste disposal and is committed
to recycling practices. For solid waste generated during project
construction, including domestic and construction waste, sealed
transportation is required. Waste must not only be collected
separately but also stored in waterproof garbage bins to prevent
exposure, scattering, or leakage, with final collection and
disposal handled daily by the municipal environmental sanitation
department. The Group also recycles collected waste based on its
usability; for example, construction waste such as broken bricks and
residue can be reused as foundation filling materials, while other
materials like timber, floor mortar, concrete, metal products, steel,
plastic products, and hardware must be transported to designated
locations for processing. When applicable, waste is sent to recycling
stations or waste collection points for recycling implementation.

For domestic waste from daily office activities, including but not
limited to non-hazardous waste such as office paper waste, proper
classification and disposal are implemented. Our operations do
not generate significant packaging materials or hazardous waste.
To continuously strengthen waste management, we will gradually
enhance paperless office operations, including moving document
processing and expense approval processes online to reduce office
paper usage and consumption, thereby conserving forest resources.
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The Group’s non-hazardous waste intensity in 2024 and 2023 was
similar.

Waste* 2024
BEEY —EomE
Non-hazardous waste

BEEEY

Office waste paper 0.15
FiNE S

Food waste 0.1
Bk

Total amount of non-hazardous waste 0.16
mEEEYRE

Non-hazardous waste intensity 0.001
BEEZEMEE

4 Since we outsource our real estate development projects to

contractors, the contractor’s data on some projects cannot be
collected and disclosed. Since other property companies are
responsible for processing non-hazardous waste including but not
limited to domestic garbage and food waste, relevant data cannot be
collected.

Environment and resources management

The Group is committed to responding to the nation’s carbon
neutrality goals and aims to utilize resources efficiently and
effectively. We strictly implement current emission reduction
and energy-saving measures, striving to minimize losses during
production processes, achieve sustainable development, and create
long-term value for stakeholders and communities. To minimize
the environmental impact of property development projects,
we engage professional environmental consultants to conduct
environmental impact assessments for approval regarding air
emissions, wastewater, solid waste, environmental risks, noise,
and ecological impacts during construction and after project
completion. If construction sites undergo significant changes in
scale or nature, we must submit updated environmental assessment
reports to government agencies for approval and report to relevant
local government authorities. All projects will only proceed with
development after securing necessary approvals.

R HERERBRES
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—E-=F Bf
0.22 tonnes
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To minimize air pollution, noise pollution, wastewater, and waste
emissions, during the tender process, we require partnering
contractors to comply with China’s relevant environmental
protection and safety laws and regulations, and prioritize
contractors who propose construction plans that incorporate
technologies for reducing environmental pollution. Furthermore, we
make regular inspections to the construction site to verify whether
the performance of the contractor meets our requirements, so as to
ensure that we are able to identify problems in a timely manner and
make rectification immediately. Upon project completion, the Group
will apply to relevant government authority for the acceptance
of environmental inspection to ensure that all requirements are
compliant with national and project standards. The Group is
aware of the inevitable generation of exhaust and noise during
the construction process, so we are committed to requiring the
outsourced contractor to take the following effective measures to
reduce carbon emission generated from projects and reduce the
impact on the environment.

Exhaust processing

o In order to prevent dust pollution during the construction
process, a closed fence shall be built up around the
construction site during construction, and a dust-proof net
shall be installed outside,

o The roads at the construction site shall be paved or mobile
sprinklers, movable fog guns, tower crane sprays and other
equipment shall be in place to spray the ground to reduce
dust;

o Application of airtight storage or fence and use of dust-proof
cloth to cover building materials that are easily to generate
dust;

o A car washing platform shall be set up to clean the transport
vehicles in time to prevent from dusting due to mud and dust.
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Noise management

o Low-noise equipment shall be used as far as possible, the
speed of excavators, loading and unloading vehicles to enter
and leave the site shall be limited;

o Reasonable arrangement and allocation processes shall be
applied to the construction hours to avoid simultaneous
and long-term operation of a large number of high-noise
equipment;

o Temporary sound barriers shall be equipped around the
construction site to reduce the impact of noise on the
surroundings;

o Rational construction hours shall be planned to avoid working
during lunch break, and prohibit construction after ten o’clock
in the evening and during special periods (such as periods
during high school entrance examination and college entrance
examination).

Sewage treatment

o A sedimentation tank shall be set up at the vehicle washing
platform, and sewage may only be discharged or reused after
treatment;

o QOil-repellent pool shall be set up in the canteen, and sundries
and grease shall be cleaned on a regular basis to prevent
waterway blockage and secondary pollution of water sources;

o Toxic or hazardous wastes for earthwork backfilling are not
allowed to avoid contamination of groundwater and saoil
quality.

Green office

The Group's main energy emissions come from daily office
operations. To fulfill our commitment to environmental protection,
we are dedicated to reducing operational emissions as our goal,
including but not limited to greenhouse gas emissions, energy
consumption, water consumption, and waste generation, etc. We
actively implement various energy-saving and emission-reduction
measures across our offices in different locations, doing our utmost
to gradually reduce exhaust emissions, greenhouse gas emissions,
waste generation, and water consumption, thereby contributing to
environmental protection. Meanwhile, the Group has established
environmental protection requirements for all suppliers, including
third-party contractors responsible for real estate development
projects, to reduce the carbon footprint of our supply chain.
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Carbon reduction and energy conservation

Employees are encouraged to close electronics and office
equipment not in use and set up automatic turn-off time
for printers and screens in the office in advance to reduce
energy consumption;

Light emitting diode (“LED") lamps were applied to office
in Hangzhou to improve resources efficiency and reduce
electricity consumption;

Employees are encouraged to reduce arrangement for
business travel and try to adopt video or phone meetings to
reduce carbon emission;

Signs or notices on the importance of energy conservation
are posted in the office area to improve employees’
environmental awareness;

Water saving notices are posted in restrooms and pantries
to remind employees to turn off the taps after use to avoid
water waste.

Waste reduction and reuse

Employees are encouraged to use electronic tools such
as email and instant messaging software to communicate
internally and externally to reduce paper consumption;

Employees are encouraged to use recyclable cups and
cutlery instead of disposable cutlery;

Employees are encouraged to print or photocopy on both
sides;

Employees are encouraged to reuse stationery such as old
envelops and folders.
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Climate change

The Group deeply understands the urgency of climate change, and
in response to society’'s growing concern about climate change
and related issues, the Group has increased its attention to the
risks brought by climate change and is committed to addressing
these challenges and closely monitoring the potential impacts of
climate change on our business and operations. Following the
recommendations of the Task Force on Climate-related Financial
Disclosures (“TCFD") framework, the Group identifies and conducts
climate risk assessments and strives to manage potential climate-
related risks that may affect our business activities.

Physical Risks

Extreme weather events such as typhoons, heavy rain, storms,
and extreme cold or hot weather may pose safety risks to the
Group's real estate properties and project works and affect project
development progress. To address the potential impacts of physical
risks, the Group has developed various emergency response plans
according to the Environmental and Safety Civilization Management
System. These plans clearly define the emergency organization
structure and responsibilities of each member, assess potential
risks based on extreme weather conditions, and design emergency
handling procedures and rescue plans to minimize potential impacts
on our operations.

Transition Risks

To actively achieve carbon neutrality goals, governments in project
locations may establish new environmental regulations and stricter
emission requirements. To comply with stricter regulations, we
expect our operational costs for projects will increase. In response,
from local project managers to the board of directors, we regularly
monitor existing and emerging climate-related trends, policies,
and regulations to avoid increased costs, regulatory fines, or
reputational damage due to delayed responses.
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Employment practices

The Group firmly believes that talents are the cornerstone
of maintaining sustainable development, so it attaches great
importance to the contributions of its employees to us. At the
same time, it is committed to providing diversified training
and development opportunities for each employee, striving to
create a healthy and safe working environment for employees,
and promoting the common development of the company and
employees. The Group strictly abides by the relevant employment
laws and regulations, such as Labor Law of the People’s Republic of
China, Labor Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China, Law
of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and Control of
Occupational Diseases, and Social Insurance Law of the People’s
Republic of China. During the Year, the Group was not aware of
any material violation of related laws and regulations relating to
compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working
hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination,
and other benefits and welfare.

Recruitment, promotion, and dismissal

The Group continuously optimizes its labor management system
and human resources management framework, and it has
established a sound employee rights supervision and protection
system, including HR policies such as the Employee Handbook to
attract and retain talent. To ensure fair and transparent recruitment
and promotion processes, we recruit talent through job fairs,
recruitment websites, internal promotions, or internal referrals.
The Group strictly complies with all laws and regulations, adhering
to equal employment principles to ensure all employees legally
enjoy various rights and fair treatment. The Group values talent
and believes that regular performance evaluations and reviews
provide opportunities for employees to discuss their performance
and career development with supervisors, which helps enhance
employee competitiveness and explore unlimited potential.
Employees who perform exceptionally well in evaluations and meet
promotion criteria will have opportunities for position advancement
and salary increases under fair competition.
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The Group does not tolerate unfair and illegal dismissals, ensuring
dismissal procedures are fair and transparent, with written notice
provided to employees within the legally required notice period.
Employees have the right to freely choose resignation under
legal conditions. Employees must complete work handover and
resignation procedures after providing legally required notice
periods and obtaining department leader approval. We also conduct
exit interviews with departing employees to help management
better understand employee needs and improve the overall work
environment.

Compensation and benefits

To further attract and retain experienced talented professionals,
the Group continuously improves its employee compensation and
benefits system, offering fair and competitive market remuneration
packages that align with employees’ experience, qualifications, and
titles. Additionally, we conduct annual performance evaluations
and salary reviews based on market conditions, company and
individual performance, and provide discretionary year-end
bonuses, directly reflecting employees’ value contributions to the
Group. The Group cares for its employees and has established
a series of benefits including: meal allowances, transportation
allowances, communication allowances, and holiday bonuses on
public holidays. We implement a 5-day work week, and in addition
to statutory annual leave, we provide sick leave, personal leave,
national statutory holiday leave, marriage leave, maternity leave,
bereavement leave, and work injury leave based on individual
needs. We focus on employees’ physical and mental development
and actively promote work-life balance by regularly organizing
birthday celebrations and employee trips to continuously enhance
employee motivation, sense of belonging, and team cohesion,
which helps improve work efficiency in the long run.

Diversity, equal opportunity, and anti-discrimination

The Group is committed to creating a diverse workforce and healthy
work environment, strictly complying with all laws and regulations
while adhering to equal employment principles. We ensure all
employees legally enjoy various rights and fair treatment, protecting
the values, religious beliefs, and privacy of employees of different
nationalities, races, genders, and cultural backgrounds from
infringement.
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HEe—_Z-_NME+-_A=1+—H AK&EEH
BIBKET » 2HRFRANMER - HAE
MEE D EINHWT :

As of 31 December 2024, the Group had a total of 30 employees,
with all of them working in Mainland China. The breakdowns of
them by different categories are set out as follows:

Employee were classified 2024 2023  Unit

EINM —E-MEF —E-=F By

By gender

RiER &S

Male 18 21 Number of individuals
Xl AEX

Female 12 18  Number of individuals
egi AEX

By contract category

RENERLES

Full-time 30 39 Number of individuals
2 N

Part-time - — Number of individuals
SR ABL

By employment category

REBERNES

Senior management 4 4 Number of individuals
SREEE A&

Middle management 8 10  Number of individuals
RRERE AEL

General and other personnel 18 25 Number of individuals
—MEHEMET AH

By age

RERED

18-25 4 4 Number of individuals
18 255% A

26-35 4 7 Number of individuals
26%355% N

36-45 15 20 Number of individuals
36E455% N

46-55 7 8 Number of individuals
46Z555% AH

Over 56 0 0 Number of individuals
56m% sk A _E N
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For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s employee
turnover rate is 30%° in Mainland China. The breakdowns of them
by different categories are set out as follows:

Employee turnover rate® 2024

BIfRA =R —E-NE

—E_WEFT_A=+—HIEFE

C AKE

RABEARME 8 TRKLLER30% - RTR
HEE D 2 BTRALLEMT ¢

2023
—EB-=F

Unit
By

By gender

&1 B 8l 5

Male 14
B

Female 33
eg i

By age

RERE D

18-25 -
18E25%%

26-35 43
2623573

36-45 25
36E455%

46-55 13
46E5573%,

Over 56 -
S56B%8 A £

5 The total employee turnover rate is calculated by dividing the total
number of employees who resigned during the Year by the number of
employees at the end of the Year, and then multiplying by 100%.

6 The employee turnover rate by category is calculated by dividing the
number of employees of that category who resigned during the Year
by the number of employees of that category at the end of the Year,
and then multiplying by 100%.
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Occupational health and safety

The Group places great emphasis on the occupational safety of
its employees and strictly complies with the Production Safety
Law of the People’'s Republic of China, the Occupational Disease
Prevention Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Regulations
on Work-Related Injury Insurance, and other applicable laws and
regulations with significant impact on the Group. As a property
development company, we mainly hire outsourced construction
contractors for project management, hence we assume limited
potential responsibility for the construction workers on our property
projects.

However, as a responsible property developer, the Group has
established a safety management system, undertaken supervisory
responsibilities, and maintained project safety. In addition to
ensuring that employees involved in projects and requiring site
access participate in mandatory health and safety training, including
the safe use of lifting machinery, working at heights, safety
management, and site management, we also arrange for the Chief
Engineer’s Office to conduct monthly on-site inspections to ensure
that all required safety measures are implemented at our project
sites. The Group also details policies and procedures related to
occupational safety in the Employee Handbook for all employees to
reference, ensuring the effective implementation of safety policies.
The Group takes all appropriate measures to safeguard the health
and safety of employees in the workplace, resulting in no recorded
work-related injuries during the Year. Furthermore, the Group is not
aware of any major safety incidents or work-related fatalities in the
past three years.

Annual Report 2024
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Development and training

The Group firmly believes that cultivating talent promotes
continuous professional development and sustainable corporate
growth. Therefore, it is committed to providing employees with
various training programs to enhance their skills and develop their
careers. At the same time, the Group continuously promotes and
improves training resources to further enhance the quality of talent
development. The Employee Handbook also stipulates regulations
regarding continuous training.

Induction training

The Group provides induction training for all new employees,
helping them quickly understand their job responsibilities and
become familiar with the Group’s background, work model, and
corporate culture. Additionally, during the probation period, the
Group assigns instructors to assist new employees in mastering job-
related skills as soon as possible. The instructors also participates
in the general assessment of new employees and is responsible for
evaluating interns for regular employment.

External training

To encourage employees to actively engage in self-improvement
activities, we offer external training subsidies based on
departmental needs or business requirements. We firmly believe
that external training not only aids employee development but also
brings new cultures and ideas that help continuously enhance the
Group’'s competitiveness.
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Percentage of employees trained’ ® 2024
BETXIESLL® —EME

Percentage of employees trained by gender

EMRBINZIE DL

Male 77.78
5
Female 25.00
8

Percentage of employees trained by category
RESENEINZIEIL

Senior management 30.00
BRERE

Middle management 70.00
HRERE

General and other personnel -
—MREMET

7 The data excludes employees who have left the company.
8 Details of trained employees by category are calculated by dividing

the number of employees in that category by the total number of
employees in training during the Year, and then multiplying by 100%.

Number of training hours of employees’ 2024
B TEIEE —E-mE

Employee Training Analysis™
STHINFH

Total number of training hours 22
BT 2
Average number of training hours 0.73

P 5 51 B B

Number of training hours by gender™

BRI 82 B F I Z B E

Male 0.64
5
Female 0.14
4

Number of training hours by employee category™
BREERERE DT IR

Senior management 2
RRERE

Middle management 1
FRERE

General and other personnel -
—REEMET

Annual Report 2024

2023 Unit
—$-=% #Ef
80.00 %
20.00 %
30.00 %
70.00 %

7 BT EIERRET -

¢ ERRIZ I E BB RIRFE Nz AR 2
BEABBUEREZIEE A - BIRIA
100%=T% °

2023 Unit
—g-=F B

18.00 hours
N

0.46 hours/person
ANSTON

0.76 hours/person
ANEYON

0.11  hours/person
ANEYON

2.00 hours/person
ANSTON

1.00 hours/person
ANSTON

— hours/person
ANSTON
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? The data excludes employees who have left the company.

0 The average number of training hours completed per employee is
calculated by dividing the total number of training hours during the
Year by the total number of employees at the end of the Year.

" The average number of training hours by employee category is
calculated by dividing the number of training hours for that employee
category during the Year by the number of employees in that category
at the end of the Year.

Labor standards

The Group adheres to the principles of reasonable and lawful
recruitment and strictly complies with laws and regulations such as
Labor Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Labor Contract Law
of the People’s Republic of China, the Provisions on the Prohibition
of Child Labor. We are firmly against any form of forced labor or
child labor. The Group has established a comprehensive recruitment
process and employment procedures. During the recruitment
process, the Human Resources Department clearly outlines the job
requirements and qualifications, and verifies the applicant’s valid
identification documents to ensure the applicant meets the legal
employment age and eligibility criteria, and does not violate any
relevant laws. Furthermore, before signing employment contracts,
the Group provides a comprehensive and detailed explanation of the
employment terms to ensure that employees fully understand the
contract and sign it voluntarily, thereby ensuring that all employees
work of their own free will. We strictly prohibit the use of child
labor or forced labor. If any violations of hiring child or forced labor
are discovered, we will immediately terminate the labor contract,
investigate the cause, and hold the responsible parties accountable,
imposing appropriate penalties on violators.

During the Year, the Group did not observe any cases of child labor,
forced labor, or illegal labor in its operations.
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Supply chain management and quality control

The Group has established a comprehensive supplier evaluation
system to ensure that major construction contractors and material
suppliers are qualified. Qualified third-party contractors are
responsible for all project construction work, including excavation,
structural construction, equipment installation, and operational
work. By outsourcing construction to professional contractors,
we can mitigate some of the risks related to raw material cost
fluctuations and engineering personnel management. During the
Year, we worked with 35 major suppliers, all operating in China
(2023: 79 major suppliers operating in China).

To ensure that the tendering process is fair, just, transparent,
and in compliance with the Group’s requirements and applicable
Chinese laws and regulations, the Group’s Cost Management
Department has set up tendering documents and established a
series of evaluation criteria to select contractors. Contractors must
provide certifications such as qualification certificates and safety
production licenses. In addition to evaluating the bidding materials,
we also consider factors such as contractor size, qualifications,
reputation, track record, quotation, and environmental and social
considerations. Understanding the increasing importance of
environmental protection, the Group prioritize contractors that offer
pollution reduction solutions. Meanwhile, our tendering documents
require suppliers to sign a Migrant Workers’ Rights Protection
Agreement, ensuring they are aware of and fulfill their social
responsibility regarding labor rights. During the Year, 1 contractor
was engaged in our construction projects (2023: 1 contractors were
engaged in our construction projects).

Annual Report 2024
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Strict procurement of materials

The Group strictly monitors project quality and cost control. As
for construction materials, since contractors procure most of the
construction materials such as steel and cement for our property
development projects, we require them to purchase materials that
meet standard specifications and are from designated brands and
manufacturers. Where Chinese laws and regulations mandate that
contractors must procure certain materials through tendering, we
require them to include our selected brands or manufacturers in the
tender documents. We also monitor the tender process to ensure
that the selected material suppliers meet the compliance standards.

To ensure the stability, reliability, and compliance of procured
materials with national safety and environmental standards,
we collaborate with supervision companies to conduct random
inspections. We verify material certificates, user manuals,
performance test reports, and quality assurance documents
before including them in our qualified materials list. Furthermore,
the Group only directly procures equipment such as windows, air
conditioning systems, and elevators from qualified suppliers in our
database, prioritizing equipment with less environmental impact or
higher energy efficiency. During the Year, the Group was not aware
of any major suppliers that caused significant impacts in terms of
business ethics, environmental protection, or labor practices.

Monitoring project quality

The Group strictly adheres to Chinese laws and regulations by
hiring construction supervision companies and assigning them to
oversee various project aspects to ensure quality standards are
met. The Cost Management Department sets up a series of control
indicators related to cost, quality, and construction progress during
the preliminary planning stage based on the overall construction
cost budget. The Chief Engineer’s Office, consisting of experienced
and qualified engineers and construction technicians, supervises
the construction quality, progress, and budget control of each
project. Monthly on-site inspections are conducted to check the
progress and quality of construction materials. We also conduct
annual reviews of the overall performance of all ongoing projects
to ensure cost, quality, and progress meet our targets. The Group's
management performs performance assessments of projects
every six months. If any subcontractor fails to meet the required
standards, the Group reserves the right to terminate the contract
and replace the contractor to maintain high product quality.
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Customer service
The Group places a high emphasis on brand development and AEBSEERREERMRESE B
responsibility, striving to enhance brand value and customer I2F RMEEE  UWIRAZTFREE @ BltT
satisfaction by continuously improving service management at all HE=&EERBRRGERE -

project stages.

Project development

——

Phase One:

E—PEER
HE#RE

Phase Two:
Quality inspection
of building
SEREER

EFRE

Phase Three:
Property delivery
MR

By -

Phase Four:
After-sales service
ETUPKER :
ERR%

EFR#%

During the planning stage, we listen to customer feedback and expectations regarding project design and pass this information to the real
estate planning team, who discuss it with designers, architects, and contractors.
A EIRE - BEREFHIEA RFTOEBERRYE  EERR FHEREIEE - B PIRRETAD - R KA -

To meet local building requirements and customer expectations, a professional team conducts regular inspections to ensure compliance
with predefined control indicators.
REINEMBREERREFYE  BEEBARTHICERETIRER - BRFATALITZOEHIEE

According to the Regulations on the Quality Management of Construction Projects, the Regulations on the Registration and Registration of
Completion Acceptance of Housing Construction Projects and Municipal Infrastructure Projects, and the Interim Provisions on the
Completion Acceptance of Housing Construction Projects and Municipal Infrastructure Projects, real estate developers must report to the
county or county level where the project is located. The real estate development authorities of the above local people's governments submit
applications for completion acceptance and record filing. Therefore, we will only deliver the project after confirming receipt of the
acceptance notice and completion certificate to ensure that the project quality complies with legal and regulatory requirements.

RiF (ERIRESERKD) (BERERTRATHERSBIRRTRKBRERINE K (EERETRMHRERREIZRT
RKREITARE) © BHERBEFARIEBMESRIA LT ARBNOEMEMBEEEHPURRAH - AEEERIRKEER - AR
PIRERKEIBRKA R BARRTERABEA BIEER - BIRAREEH AR ERRTE

We have a professional customer service team and a complete complaint mechanism to follow up on relevant issues raised by customers
and maintain close contact with customers, which helps deeply understand customer needs and improve service standards. In addition,
appropriate warranty periods are reserved for customers after delivery, which is 1 to 5 years from the date of delivery, and the quality
warranty scope should include foundation engineering, main structure engineering, floor waterproofing engineering, bathrooms with
waterproofing requirements, leakage prevention of rooms and exterior walls, heating and cooling systems, drainage pipes, equipment
installation and decoration works, etc. All complaints will be handled carefully and followed up. We received no complaints about our
property and property sales services during the Year (2023: 0 case).

BMRBEEXENTPRSEKETENIRFEE - REFSIRENAHPE  BEXPREREHE  APRATRELPTEZLHEARS
K BHN - RRERIMABRFSERBENRES  IXNBRAHI1FESF  MESREBEEAXLEMERIR TRAEIRE BE
Pk IH2 - ARKERAE LR - BREMIMEEMHZR - HRERL K  JOKEE - RETRANREIRES - IARFRMSSEE
BRIERRHE - RIVAFEREEIERRMNOMERHERENRF (T _=F:0R) -
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Compliant promotion

The Group strictly complies with the Advertising Law of the People’s
Republic of China and the Measures for the Administration of
Internet Advertising of the People’s Republic of China and other
laws and regulations. Instructions must pass internal approval
and obtain approval from relevant government departments
before they can be released. All sales and promotion materials
will be carefully checked by the sales department to confirm that
sufficient and accurate content has been disclosed in compliance
with regulations before they are released and made available to
the public for customer reference to make purchasing decisions.
At the same time, department employees must abide by the Sales
Field Management Manual compiled by the Group and conduct
reasonable sales promotions with customers to maintain business
ethics.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material violation
of the relevant laws and regulations in relation to the health and
safety, advertising, labeling and privacy of the property and service
provided by the Group. In addition, relevant disclosure requirements
are not applicable to the Group because the nature of the Group’s
businesses does not involve the product recall and the significant
intellectual property right.

Privacy protection

The Group is committed to protecting data privacy and prohibits
any unauthorized disclosure of customer information. When signing
sales contracts with customers, we include confidentiality clauses
to ensure their privacy is safeguarded. Additionally, all employees
must sign confidentiality agreements upon joining the Group,
adhering to strict privacy regulations and managing confidential
information with care to strengthen privacy protection. During the
Year, the Group was not aware of any complaints related to the
disclosure of customer information.
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Anti-corruption

The Group upholds a corporate culture of integrity and opposes
any unethical business practices such as corruption, bribery,
extortion, fraud, and money laundering, while strictly complying
with local laws and regulations. In accordance with the Law against
Unfair Competition of the People’s Republic of China, the Criminal
Law of the People’s Republic of China, and the Interim Provisions
on the Prohibition of Commercial Bribery, the Group compiled an
Employee Code of Conduct to specify employees’ responsibilities
and obligations, clarify how to handle conflicts of interest, and raise
awareness of self-discipline and integrity.

The Group continues to establish and improve a sound and honest
internal control and management system. In addition to monitoring
daily management operations and related special projects, it also
regularly organizes anti-corruption education and training for
directors and employees to improve management and employees’
awareness of ethics and corruption issues. In addition, the Group
has established a comprehensive reporting channel to ensure
that all employees report any relevant suspicious behavior in a
safe, reliable and confidential manner. Suspicious incidents will be
prudent and comprehensively investigated. If it is confirmed that it
is an illegal act, we will transfer the relevant person to the judicial
authority in accordance with the law. The Group strictly implements
systems and procedures to ensure that the internal control system
can effectively identify violations and promptly prevent and stop
them. The audit department also regularly reviews relevant anti-
corruption policies. The Group has a sound organizational structure
and policies in place to maintain high standards of corporate
governance and an ethical corporate culture.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any violations involving
bribery, extortion, fraud, or money laundering by the Group or its
employees, nor was it involved in any corruption lawsuits.

Connecting with the community

The Group highly values social responsibility and is committed to
engaging and contributing to the community as part of our strategic
development. The Group has established relevant policies. By
encouraging employees to participate in social welfare activities
during and outside of work hours, we aim to enhance their sense
of corporate social responsibility, foster positive values, and help
create more value for the community. Meanwhile, we actively
listen to community feedback and incorporate their needs into
our construction projects, maintaining our corporate social
responsibility and working towards creating a sustainable future for
the local people and the communities.
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BiE HERERREE

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPlIs
TEHR - -BEH  —REERARREES

A. Environmental

A R

Aspect A1: Emissions

EHEAT : R

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b)y compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation
of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

General Disclosure

—RiEE BRABEIAMRERBENR  mKERIHHEES BFEK
EEBRBYNEEZENER
(@ BE: &
(b) BETHETABEARZZNEBEAZRAM -

KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data.

BEAMIERALL
KPI A1.2

e iR 1R AR B IR -

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2)
greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).

BEE(EE) REREE(BE2))AEREBAETNE (U
WEETE) k(@A) B E (WA ES BN - SRR
#)-

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and,
where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).
FREXBEREEMEE (UBGE
LEBESBMN FHEKEE
Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes)
and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).
FrEEREREEMEE (UEGE
NEBESEBMN - FHEKETE
Description of emissions target( s) set and steps taken
to achieve them.

BREMIEEZEALS WA M E B E R ABERELE

e

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous
wastes are handled, and a description of reduction
target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
HIMEIREEERBETEEZEYN L - RIS B
BE B IR R AAEDE L BRI PR -

R EMIEEAL.2

KPI A1.3

BEEMIBEEALS S M (@A) = E (i

KPI A1.4

HREMERALY 2 R (nsE R ) =R (1R

KPI A1.5

R PTERER ) 27

KPI A1.6

BAEENIEEALG

Chapter/Statement
8- 1]

Creating values for
the environment

Energy and gas
emissions
management

BEIR R R BE HE B 12

Energy and gas
emissions
management

BETR MR B HE N E 12

No significant
hazardous waste was
generated in 2024
ZECEWEEASE
RBEEEEY
Waste management

BEERYMERE

Green office

BERNE

Waste management,
Green office

BEERMERE

=

mepn

Hu

Page No.

97-104

97-104

98-99

98-99
98-99

98-99

N/A

N

101-103

101-103
103-104
103-104

101-104

101-104
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs

ITRHEE  BH - —REERARXEER

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

BHEA2 : ERFEH

General Disclosure

— T
KPI A2.1

BRENIERA2.1

KPI A2.2

RREMIERA2.2
KPI A2.3

BAREMIERA2.3

KPI A2.4

BHRENIERA2.4

KPI A2.5

BRENIERA2.5

Policies on the efficient use of resources including
energy, water, and other raw materials.
BRERER(BFER - KREMERVE)BECR -
Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type
(e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total (kwh in "000s) and
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).

RENEDOEERSHEEER(NE - RIOB)RE
BEUTFEFTRRFAE) REE(NATGESEMN - §1B
JHEETHE) o

Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit
of production volume, per facility).
BFEKEREE(WAGESELN - BIERETE) -
Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and
steps taken to achieve them.

L FTE] S W RE IR A B ZE R AE FE L B ZRTIR
R -

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing
water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s)
set and steps taken to achieve them.
FESREVE AR L] B AR RRE - ARFTET LA R K
Mz B RN AEDELBFFAEIA SR o

Total packaging material used for finished products
(in tons) and, if applicable, with reference to per unit
produced.

B mATABEME N ES (UEE) R (WER) 84
EBfGE -

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

BHEA3 : BEERRRER

General Disclosure

—REE
KPI A3.1

B RERIERA3.1

Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant impact
on the environment and natural resources.
WIEEITAHRBERARAAERENERFZEHBUR °
Description of the significant impacts of activities

on the environment and natural resources and the
actions taken to manage them.

MR EHEIRBERRAERNERATZERDERNE
BEBTENITE -
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Creating values for
the environment

RIRRAIEEE

Energy and gas
emissions
management

BEIR MR B HE N E 2

Water management

FKER
Green office

HRERAE

Water management,
Green office

RKER ZBHRAE

Our business does not

involve in using any

packaging materials
HAPIRIEA RS K fE

REA RN

Creating values for
the environment
RIRRAEEE
Environment
and resources
management
RERERERE

Page No.

97-104

97-104
98-99

98-99

99-100

99-100
103-104

103-104

99-100,
103-104

99-100,

103-104
N/A

NEM

97-104

97-104
101-104

101-104



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
BiE HERERREE

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs

ITRHEE  EBH - —REERARXEER

Aspect A4: Climate Change
BHEA4 : RIZEL
General Disclosure Policies on identification and mitigation of significant
climate-related issues which have impacted, and

those which may impact, the issuer.

—RIKE u&%U&FEﬂE%« e HBRTAEERENERRK
HEEEMBR
KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues

which have impacted, and those which may impact,
the issuer and the actions taken to manage them.
HRENIERAL1 T ERERAEEHETAEEFENERNRIEABESE
&%ﬂﬁ@

B. Social

B. & &

Employment and Labour Practices

BEREZEIESR

Aspect B1: Employment

[BMEB1 : {EfE

General Disclosure Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to remuneration and dismissal,
recruitment, and promotion, working hours,
rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.

—REE FRATHERE BEBERSHA  LERE  RE - FF
e - 2t - RIERAREAMEERENEER
(@ BEE: Kk
(b) BTFHEHETABEATENHBERLSRN -

KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age

group and geographical region.

RMER - EIEEL - FREARNRMREDOIES L -
Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and
geographical region.
IR - FheAl R K= 85

FASE4E WIEEB.1
KPI B1.2

BB NIEEB.2 SHIMEBRKLLE -

Chapter/Statement
8- 1

Climate change

RIREE

Climate change

RIREE

Employment practices

Employment practices

BIEEH
Employment practices

BREER

Page No.

105

105

105

105

106-109

106-109

106-109

106-109
106-109

106-109
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE - dHBREAHREE

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs

IRHEE B  —REERARXEER

Aspect B2: Health and Safety

EHEB2 : RREEZZE

General Disclosure

—RIRE

KPI B2.1

BREMESRB2.1
KPI B2.2
BREMEERB2.2
KPI B2.3

BRENMIEEB2.3

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to providing a safe working environment
and protecting employees from occupational
hazards.

FARMRZEIERERREREEREBENRENE

¥

(@) BEE: Kk

(b) EBFHIEITABERTEMHEBEZRAD -

Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred

in each of the past three years including the reporting

year.

BE=F(BREERFE)SFEITHAAZB KX -

Lost days due to work injury.

ATEELATIERE -

Description of occupational health and safety
measures adopted, how they are implemented and
monitored.

HIMFTER A R R L 20 - A RMBERTRE
BRI ©

Aspect B3: Development and Training

BTEB3 : 2R R
General Disclosure
—RIEE

KPI B3.1

B R ERIEEB3.1

KPI B3.2

BRENIEEB3.2

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills
for discharging duties at work. Description of training
activities.
BERRTEERETT TIERE A B MR BUR -
EINES -

The percentage of employees trained by gender and
employee category (e.g. senior management, middle
management, etc.).

BRI RESEMN(NSRERE  THREEES)EH
BWXIMEER DL

The average training hours completed per employee
by gender and employee category.

IR REEERE S - BEESTKZINTEE
2 o
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Occupational health
and safety

BxEmEze

Occupational health
and safety

BEREERRETS

Occupational health
and safety

BEREREETS

Occupational health
and safety

BxiEmiis

Development and
training

AF 5

Development and
training

AT B
Development and

training
ATIEE
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE - HEREAHREE

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPls Chapter/Statement Page No.
IEER EH - —REERBEXEER 810 1 BH

Aspect B4: Labor Standards
EEB4 : & T #A|
General Disclosure Information on: Labor standards 113
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to preventing child and forced labour.

—RIEE EEEPTIEE T oleaHI4 Th) - 2T AR 113
(@) BEE: &k
(b) BFHIEITABEATEMNHBEEEZRANNE
Ko
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment Labor standards 113
practices to avoid child and forced labour.
BRENIEEB4.1 AR B E A E AR R E T RoH|S T - LT #H| 113
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such non- Labor standards 113
compliance practices when discovered.
R ENMIEEB4.2 HMEERER B AR ERARBERTERIE FER o LT 113

Operating Practices

SEEA

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
[EMEB5 : HEHEERE

General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social risks ~ Supply chain 114
of the supply chain. management and
quality control
— R E ERHEENREIEGRRBUE - H e e e I8 N B S 114
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Supply chain 114

management and
quality control

BRENIEEB5.1 mwRE D HEREE - HERERERE S 114

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, Supply chain 114
number of suppliers where the practices are being management and
implemented, how they are implemented and quality control
monitored.

B EMIEREB5.2 M EAEAMHERNED  AERTEBENNHE HEBEERESES 114
BEE - AT RERTE -

KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental Supply chain 114
and social risks along the supply chain, and how they management and
are implemented and monitored. quality control

R ENIEREB5.3 fa A B R e B EIR BV IR IR Rt g R e 1B HERETRERESES 114
Bl - ARAEBERITREER X ©

KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote Supply chain 114
environmentally preferable products and services management and
when selecting suppliers, and how they are quality control
implemented and monitored.

BREENIEREB5.4 i EREEENRECZARRERRRBNES - HERETERESES 114

AR AERRTT MEEER TR -

—E_NEER



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE - dHBREAHREE

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs

IRHEE B  —REERARXEER

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

[EEB6 : EMEE

General Disclosure Relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling
and privacy matters relating to products and services
provided and methods of redress:
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations

that have a significant impact on the issuer.

—RiEE BHEMRHEGMREHENRERLZE &S  REEL
BEE R AR
(@ BE: R
(b) BEFHBEITABEARTZENRBEEZLRIINE
Kt o
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject

to recalls for safety and health reasons.

AR ENIEEB6.1 EENDEXEMAE S EL 2 HEEREHMAED KL
Bk e
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related

complaints received and how they are dealt with.
AR ENIEEB6.2 BN ERMREIRFEE A REE A -
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and
protecting intellectual property rights.

HRENIEEB6.3 it B4 M ARE A EEE B RRED -

KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and
recall procedures.

BARENIEEB6.4 ME ST BRENEMEWIERF -

KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and
privacy policies, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

FRENIEEB6.5 iU EEERMRE RBEABER - A RBERITRER
Tk o
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Creating values for
our customers

REFRIEERE

Our business does not
involve any recall of
the product

TP EBI RS R E
ah B4

Customer service

BEPIR

Intellectual property
rights are not
material for the
purpose of the
operation of the
Group

MBEREAER 2 Z
EMmMEIWTERKR

Supply Chain
Management and
Quality Control,
the Group does not
involve any recall of
the product

HEREERESE
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Privacy protection
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE - HEREAHREE

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPls Chapter/Statement Page No.
IEER EH - —REERBEXEER 810 1 BH

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
[BEB7 : RES
General Disclosure Information on: Anti-corruption 118
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer.

—RiEE BEAMTLLARRS - 9% - BGFRERED - PERE 118
(@) HBZE: Rk
(b) EFHIITABEARTENHEBEZKANE
#E e
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt Anti-corruption 118

practices brought against the issuer or its employees
during the reporting period and the outcomes of the

cases.
BRENIEEBR7.1 RERBAGZFTASEHEEREIVEELENETHA HERE 118
RUEMEE RFAER -
KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle- Anti-corruption 118
blowing procedures, how they are implemented and
monitored.
BRENIEEBR7.2 HRPTEE R R - UAREERTRERE . HERE 118
KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to The Group did not N/A
directors and staff. provide anti-
corruption training
for the Board or
employees during
the Year
BRENIEEBR7.3 fHimEERE TRENRE)FE - REBRAFEINLE TiE A
MEEgE TRH
RE R

Aspect B8: Community Investment

[EEBS : HERE

General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to understand the Connecting with the 118
needs of the communities where the issuer operates community
and to ensure its activities take into consideration the
communities’ interests.

—RIEE FRANMERERTREEMEMEFTENRREELE BELE 118
EEEERAMEFEABR -
KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, No resources N/A
environmental concerns, labour needs, health, culture,  were utilized
sport). as community
investment during
the Year
B R & MIEEBS.1 EIERBB(INHE  BEEE BIFTK -@F AFELLSEHAER T iEA
b - B8BE) - EHtRIRE
KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the No resources N/A
focus area. were utilized

as community
investment during

the Year
AR E N I51EBS.2 EEFHEMSAER(NSERERE) o AFEEIWRBEHEIR T iE A
Eit@ % &

—E_NEER



Global Link
C Limited

A\

To the members of Xinming China Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group. Because of the significance of the matter
described in the "Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion” section of our
report, we have not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. In all other respects, in our opinion, the
consolidated financial statements have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Multiple material uncertainties relating to going
concern

As set out in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group incurred a net loss of approximately RMB589,691,000
for the year ended 31 December 2024. At 31 December 2024,
the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets by
approximately RMB4,507,983,000. In addition, at 31 December 2024,
the Group’s borrowings of approximately RMB1,212,708,000 and the
convertible bonds issued by the Group amounting approximately
RMB282,125,000 were overdue pursuant to the borrowing
agreements which constituted events of defaults. These conditions,
together with other matters disclosed in note 2 to the consolidated
financial statements, indicate the existence of material uncertainties
which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern.

Annual Report 2024
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The Management has been undertaking measures to improve the
Group's liquidity and financial position, which are set out in note 2
to the consolidated financial statements. The validity of the going
concern assumption on which the consolidated financial statements
have been prepared depends on the outcome of these measures,
which are subject to multiple material uncertainties, including (i)
successfully negotiating with the Group’s existing lenders such
that no action will be taken by the relevant lenders to demand
immediate repayment of the borrowings with interest payments in
default; (i) successfully negotiating with various financial institutions
on the renewal of or extension for repayment of outstanding
borrowings, including those with overdue principals and interests;
(iii) successfully negotiating with various financial institutions
and potential lenders/investors to identify various options for
additionally financing the Group’s working capital and commitments
in the foreseeable future; (iv) successfully accelerating the pre-sale
and sale of properties under development and completed properties
and speeding up the collection of outstanding sales proceeds,
and controlling costs and capital expenditure so as to generate
adequate net cash inflows; and (v) successfully procuring and
negotiating the preliminary terms with large property development
enterprises for the sale of individual property development project
at a price deemed appropriate.

Accordingly, we were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence about the appropriateness of the use of going concern
basis of accounting in the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements. Should the Group be unable to operate as a going
concern, adjustments would have to be made to write down the
carrying values of the Group's assets to their recoverable amounts,
to provide for any further liabilities which might arise, and to
reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current
assets and current liabilities, respectively. The effects of these
adjustments have not been reflected in the consolidated financial
statements.

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards issued by
the International Accounting Standards Board and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS” REPORT
B BN &

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA") and to issue an auditor’s report.
However, because of the matter described in the “Basis for
Disclaimer of Opinion” section of our report, we are not able to
obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basic for
an audit opinion on the consolidated financial statements.

We report solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
the Code.

Global Link CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 31 March 2025
The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is:

Au Yeung Ming Yin Gordon
Practising Certificate number: P08219
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
AERaREMEERER

Year ended 31 December 2024 HZE=—Z—NFE+-_A=+—HIFE

024 2023
=Bl 111 = TE =4
Notes RMB’000 RMB’'000
B & R A ARBTIT
Revenue I &5 5 86,843 422,580
Cost of sales HEKA (66,176) (369,140)
Gross profit EF 20,667 53,440
Other income and gains and losses — E AU A & Uk 25 K &518 6 21 (6,186)
Selling and distribution costs SHE &5 AR (3,577) (4,496)
Administrative expenses THZ H (19,821) (33,165)
Other expenses HEMAR (473,844) (440,315)
Loss on court-ordered sale of FEhRmTHERIELENE
completed properties held for sale B T# &8 18 (3,319) (34,641)
Changes in fair value of investment REWEZ AABEES
properties 14 (12,270) (17,900)
Changes in fair value of convertible AR ES 2 AR EEE S
bonds (9,463) (3,814)
Finance costs BLE B AR 7 (96,663) (77,079)
Loss before income tax METEBATE R 7 (598,269) (564,156)
Income tax credit (expenses) Frg i e () 10 8,578 (28,475)
Loss for the year FREE (589,691) (592,631)
Other comprehensive expense HETRENIBERARH
item that may be reclassified Hit2EAXIER :
subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange difference arising on MEGINEBEEZIER E5
translation of foreign operation (57) =
Total comprehensive expenses for FRAZHEBZ4ELE
the year (589,748) (592,631)
Loss for the year attributable to: UTATREFAEE:
Owners of the Company KRBHEE A (542,523) (526,121)
Non-controlling interests IR (47,168) (66,510)
(589,691) (592,631)
Total comprehensive expenses LTALTEEFRZEMX
for the year attributable to: B
Owners of the Company VN/NETET P SN (542,580) (526,121)
Non-controlling interests FEERR A (47,168) (66,510)
Total comprehensive expenses for FREEBAXEKE
the year (589,748) (592,631)
Loss per share attributable to owners &Z2Q B #HE ABESRER
of the Company 12
Basic and Diluted (RMB) BERN#E(ARE) (0.289) (0.281)

HEAFEZERARDR

“EMFEFR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e AR R

At 31 December 2024 A—ZE—E+=-H=+—8H

024 2023
= — 04 —E=%
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B sE R AREEF T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment VI - BB KRR 13 668 684
Investment properties wEY 14 905,930 918,200
Deferred tax assets EERIAE E 16 227,863 210,093
1,134,461 1,128,977
Current assets REBEE
Properties under development f B R 4 2 17 402,000 441,699
Completed properties held for sale  #FH{EHEMNDE TYE 18 557,470 601,487
Trade receivables = e 19 3,201 1,426
Prepayments, other receivables and F&ft3k18 - E b fE K FRIB &
other assets HmmEE 20 45,505 40,233
Restricted deposits S2BR HIAF 5K 21 1,412 520
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBEeEEY 21 662 1,335
1,010,250 1,086,700
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade payables B SR RIE 22 459,566 483,698
Other payables and accruals HEMEMAREREREA 23 2,487,619 1,873,330
Contract liabilities EHEE 24 171,213 194,332
Interest-bearing bank and other FTERITREMMER
borrowings 25 1,212,708 1,279,465
Tax payable FERIBIE 905,002 903,384
Convertible bonds AR EFH 26 282,125 272,662
5,518,233 5,006,871
Net current liabilities REEEEE (4,507,983) (3,920,171)
Total assets less current liabilities BEERABERS (3,373,522) (2,791,194)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Deferred tax liabilities BEEIBEE 16 175,742 168,322
NET LIABILITIES EEFE (3,549,264) (2,959,516)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e MBMRAE

At 31 December 2024 R—ZE W&+ —-A=+—H

024 2023
wp: —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
R ANREETF T

EQUITY =
Issued capital BEITIRAR 27 14,880 14,880
Reserves i (3,259,346) (2,770,911)
(3,244,466) (2,756,031)
Non-controlling interests FEIE IR 2 (304,798) (203,485)
TOTAL DEFICIT B4 %E (3,549,264) (2,959,516)

The consolidated financial statements on pages 133 to 220 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 31
March 2025 and signed on its behalf by

FIBAEFN0AFAMBHREAN_F -5
FoA=TAEREFS 8RR

YHTHNEERREE

Chen Chengshou
PRSP
Director
EBEF

Feng Cizhao
EEZH
Director
EFE

FETEZERERAT —T-NFFH 135
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

REERBER

Year ended 31 December 2024 BE—Z —MF+—A=+—HI-FE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ADAERARL
Reserves
fife
Share  Financial
award  assets at Non-
Issued Share Merger Capital ~ scheme FVOCI  Exchange Accumulated Total controlling Total
capital ~ premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve losses ~ reserves Total  interests equity
BROAEE
AR
EBRG  2E4E
L RE 1]
BRARE  RAEE  ANEE  ERRR RE SHEE NERE  ZHEE  REEE &t FERER  ERAE
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETn  ARETn ARETR ARETR ARMTT ARMTR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETn  ARETR
(Note28)  (Note28)  (Note 28)
(W8)  (K8)  (H3Eos)
At 1 January 2023 R=EZ=%-f-A 14,880 496,155 81,491 (45,756) 4533 (1,500) - RI/NY QA0 22990 (136,979 (2,.366,889)
Loss and total EREERZEEE
comprehensive loss for 2%
the year = = = = = = - 120 (26121 (526121) (66510)  (592631)
At31 December 023and  H=FZ=F+2A
1 January 204 =t-Ak
Z2IRE-R-A 14,880 496,155 81491 (45,756) 4,533 (1,500) - (3,305,834)  (2770911) (2,756,031 (203,485 (2,959,516)
Loss for the year ERER - - - - - - - (488,378)  (488,378)  (488,378)  (101,313)  (589,691)
Exchange differences BENEREEL
arising ontranslation of B} EE
foreign operation - - - - - - (57) - (57) (57) - (57)
Total comprehensive ERRERTAE
expense for the year - - - - - - (57)  (488,378)  (488,435)  (488,435)  (101,313)  (589,748)
At31December 2024 RZZZMETZA
=1-A 14,880 496,155 81491 (45,756) 4,533 (1,500 (57) (3,794,212) (3,259,346) (3,244,466)  (304,798)  (3,549,264)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
MERERER

Year ended 31 December 2024 HZE=—Z—NFE+-_A=+—HIFE

024 2023
=4 =5
RMB’000 RMB'000
R AR T T
OPERATING ACTIVITIES ReETE
Loss before income tax BRET1S B AT ES 18 (598,269) (564,156)
Adjustments for: RTHEIEELAE
Bank interest income RITH) B WA (6) (178)
Changes in fair value of convertible AR ESZ AAEBEES
bonds 9,463 3,814
Changes in fair value of investment WEMEZ ANEBEEE)
properties 12,270 17,900
Depreciation of property, plant and Y - BERRETE
equipment 13 14
Finance costs BhE AL AR 96,663 77,079
Loss on disposal of property, plant and LEWE BEMKHFENESE
equipment 3 -
Impairment of completed properties held  HH{EHERN DR T YERE
for sale 7,050 19,474
Impairment of properties under REFYERE
development 5,699 107,040
Impairment of financial assets, net TREERBTE 26,840 2,756
Interest penalties 1PN 366,208 314,859
Loss on court-ordered sale of completed A< HERHERENE R
properties held for sale I EiE 3,319 34,641
Operating cash flows before changes in EEESRPHAKERERE
working capital (70,747) 13,243
Changes in working capital: LEESEE :
Properties under development and FERYERFIELED
completed properties held for sale BRI 82,942 186,641
Trade receivables H 5 WA (10,048) (366)
Prepayments, other receivables and TERTFIA ~ HAbFEYERIE &
other assets Hih&EE (23,896) 13,487
Restricted deposits BRI 1F 5K (892) 2
Trade payables E S FRIE (24,132) 143,681
Other payables and accruals HinER RIB R ETE A 136,124 (15,367)
Contract liabilities AHEE (23,119) (425,563)
Cash generated from (used in) operations ZEREB(FTA)EE 66,232 (84,242)
Income tax paid ETFER (154) (25)
Net cash used in operating activities KETEFTRESEHE 66,078 (84,267)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERERER

Year ended 31 December 2024 BE—Z —MF+—A=+—HI-FE

024 2023
=4 =5
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B & R ARETTT
INVESTING ACTIVITY REEH
Bank interest income RITHBHA 6 178
Net cash from investing activity RETHELENRSFEE 6 178
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEEH
New loan raised EEENFEXK 23(a) 3,709 117,280
Repayment of interest-bearing bank {&&st B R1T R HMER
and other borrowings (70,466) (290)
Repayment of loan BEER 23(a) - (39,000)
Net cash (used in) from financing  BEEE (FTA)ELENES
activities HE (66,757) 77,990
Net decrease in cash and cash ReRBRSEBYRDFHE
equivalents (673) (6,099)
Cash and cash equivalents at FURERRLSEEY
beginning of year 1,335 7,434
Cash and cash equivalents at end of FARBEERRSZEY (LU
year, represented by cash and RERBITHEBETD)
bank balances 21 662 1,335
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Year ended 31 December 2024 HE T NFE+_—A=+—HILFE

Xinming China Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 16 January 2014 as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies
Law, Chapter 22 of the Cayman Islands. In the opinion of
the directors of the Company, the ultimate holding company
is Xinxing Company Limited and the ultimate controlling
shareholder is Mr. Chen Chengshou (the “Controlling
Shareholder”). The shares of the Company are listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). The address of the Company's registered
office is located at Windward 3, Regatta Office Park, PO Box
1350, Grand Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “Group”) are principally engaged in investment holding,
properties development and properties leasing.

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB") and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. The consolidated financial statements also comply
with the applicable disclosure requirements of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the
“Listing Rules”).

Going concern

The Group incurred a net loss of approximately
RMB589,691,000 for the year ended 31 December 2024. At 31
December 2024, the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its
current assets by approximately RMB4,507,983,000.

At 31 December 2024, the Group's borrowings of
approximately RMB1,212,708,000 and convertible bonds of
approximately RMB282,125,000 were overdue pursuant to the
relevant borrowing agreements.

AP EERERAR(TAAT DR
T-—NE-—A+AABEREHSBREHA
EHEERERERNAEFMKIA
BHRREERAR - RRABEZRABAD
A) B B 42 P2 IR 2 B) A Xinxing Company
Limited f & 42 ¥ AR IR 3R A& PR 73 <F 58 £
(THERRARR]) - ARARRGOERBE S
REMER AR ([HERZFT]) ERET ©
N A B S R 2 7 Windward
3, Regatta Office Park, PO Box 1350,
Grand Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman
Islands

RRABRBREZERRDE o RAF KEMH
Bor(nEAEE D TERENKE
T MERBRMEEE -

CYa 4:

AR A BRREREHBER S ER
ZEe([EREERZES ) B
Z BRI RE LG LY RFER
AGRDIZ REBERERE - AR a MR
R EMRZAESR EMARA EWR
A2 ERBERE -

£ 42 4o
BFEKE

HE-_T-_WOF+-_A=1+—HILHF
E AEEELEEFEBFEHNARE
589,691,000 c ®R=ZZEZWF+=A
=t+—8 AEERBHEEREE RS
BEHANREAL507,983,0007T °

R-ZZE-_WNFE+_-_A=+—H - {BIEH
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1,212,708,0007T R AR EHF N A AR
#282,125,000 9% HA ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRI

Year ended 31 December 2024 = —ZF &+ —-A=+—RHIFE

Going concern (Continued)

All of the above conditions indicate the existence of material
uncertainties which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

In view of these circumstances, the directors of the Company
have given careful consideration to the future liquidity and
performance of the Group and its available sources of finance
in assessing whether the Group will have sufficient financial
resources to continue as a going concern. Certain measures
have been taken to mitigate the liquidity pressure and to
improve its financial position which include, but are not limited
to, the following:

() continuously negotiating with various financial
institutions on the renewal of or extension for repayment
of outstanding borrowings, including those with overdue
principals and interests. The management has been
continuously negotiating with the Group’s existing
lenders on the renewal of or extension for repayment of
outstanding borrowings such that no action will be taken
by the relevant lenders to demand immediate repayment
of the borrowings with interest payments in default,
including those with cross-default terms and hope to
extend the due date and the repayment schedules of the
outstanding borrowings.

(i) continuously negotiating with various financial
institutions and potential lenders/investors to identify
various opportunities for additionally financing the
Group's working capital and commitments in the
foreseeable future. As of the date of this report, the
Company negotiated with current and other banks and
financial institutions using the lands held by the Group as
guarantees on the additional financing.

Annual Report 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R B I IRAREE

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE T NFE+_—A=+—HILFE

Going concern (Continued)

(iif)

accelerating the pre-sale and sale of properties under
development and completed properties, such as
Shandong Project and controlling costs and containing
capital expenditure so as to generate adequate net
cash inflows for the Group. The sale of the phase 3 of
Shandong Project was completed. The pre-sale of the
phase 4 of Shandong residential project has commenced
since September 2023. Majority of the net proceeds
from Shandong project has been and will be used for the
repayment of the outstanding borrowing.

actively procuring and formulating the preliminary terms
with large property developer to sale individual property
development project or whole commercial property at
an appropriate price. The Company has been negotiating
with certain potential purchaser regarding the sale of
the whole Shanghai property development project. The
management estimated that most of the net proceeds
from the Shanghai Project will be used for the repayment
of the outstanding borrowing. The sale of the Shanghai
Project might constitute a transaction of the Company
subject to announcement pursuant to Chapter 14 of the
Listing Rules and subject to the relevant requirements
under the Listing Rules.

actively accelerate the de-stocking of its properties.
The Company sells the residential property in Shandong
and the whole or portion of commercial properties in
Taizhou, Hangzhou and Shanghai as a package, with a
view to accelerating the recovery of working capital to
improve its liability and financial gearing conditions.

All amounts have been rounded to the nearest thousand,
unless otherwise indicated.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
a basis consistent with the accounting policies adopted in the
2023 consolidated financial statements except for the adoption
of the following new/revised IFRS Accounting Standards that
are relevant to the Group’s operation and effective from the
current year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRI

Year ended 31 December 2024 BE—Z —MF+—A=+—HI-FE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Adoption of new/revised IFRS Accounting
Standards

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
new amendments to IFRSs issued by the IASB for the first
time, which are mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual
period beginning on 1 January 2023 for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements:

IFRS 17 (including the June 2020  Insurance Contracts
and December 2021
Amendments to IFRS 17)

Amendments to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction

International Tax Reform - Pillar Two
Model Rules

Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS  Disclosure of Accounting Policies
Practice Statement 2

Amendments to IAS 12

Amendments to IAS 12

The application of the new and amendments to IFRS
Accounting Standards in the current year has had no material
impact on the Group's financial positions and performance for
the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out
in these consolidated financial statements.

A summary of the significant accounting policies adopted by
the Group is set out below.

Basis of measurement

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements is historical cost except
for investment properties and convertible bonds which are
measured at fair value.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R B I IRAREE

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE T NFE+_—A=+—HILFE

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial
statements of the Company and all of its subsidiaries. A
subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly
or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved
when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e.,
existing rights that give the Group the current ability to direct
the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders
of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c) the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRI

Year ended 31 December 2024 = —ZF &+ —-A=+—RHIFE

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Non-controlling interests are presented, separately from
owners of the Company, in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income and within
equity in the consolidated statement of financial position. The
non-controlling interests in the acquiree, that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the acquiree’s net assets in event of liquidation,
are measured initially either at fair value or at the present
ownership instruments’ proportionate share in the recognised
amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. This
choice of measurement basis is made on an acquisition-by-
acquisition basis. Other types of non-controlling interests are
initially measured at fair value, unless another measurement
basis is required by IFRS Accounting Standards.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control described above.
A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a
loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties and convertible
bonds at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair
value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The fair
value measurement is based on the presumption that the
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place
either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in
the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous
market for the asset or liability. The principal or the most
advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The
fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the
assumptions that market participants would use when pricing
the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in
their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available
to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable
inputs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R B I IRAREE

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE T NFE+_—A=+—HILFE

Fair value measurement (Continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the consolidated financial statements are
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as
follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 (highest level): quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets
or liabilities that the Group can
access at the measurement date;

Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices
included within Level 1 that are
observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly;

Level 3 (lowest level): unobservable inputs for the asset

or liability.

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
consolidated financial statements on a recurring basis, the
Group determines whether transfers have occurred between
levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than
goodwill)

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
properties under development, completed properties held
for sale, deferred tax assets, financial assets and investment
properties), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An
asset’'s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or
cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs
of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, unless
the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets,
in which case the recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRI

Year ended 31 December 2024 BE—Z —MF+—A=+—HI-FE

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than
goodwill) (Continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss
is charged to profit or loss in the period in which it arises in
those expense categories consistent with the function of the
impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may
have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher
than the carrying amount that would have been determined
(net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such
an impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in the period
in which it arises, unless the asset is carried at a revalued
amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment 10ss
is accounted for in accordance with the relevant accounting
policy for that revalued asset.

Related parties
A related party is a person or entity that is related to the
Group.

(@ A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of the holding company of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R B I IRAREE

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE T NFE+_—A=+—HILFE

Related parties (Continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(iif)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each holding company,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group. If the Group is itself
such a plan, the sponsoring employers are also
related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
holding company of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the holding company of
the Group.

AR (4R)
(b) M—FIEBAFA AT AR
AR B R

(ifi)

(iv)

(Vi)

(vii)

(viii)

ZERH $‘§I7%H 5H
MK E (EERZE BRI
@/NCTIE IZHJ%’ &) 0 [7] 2 B
BRI E ) -

—HEEBAZ EENHZ
RAHEERFHBEZ—E
EABESENKE QF R

LRAEIREERT) °
MRERBORE-FE=7H
BERA -
—HMERRE=TERNE
M’“T ﬁ’ﬁjj ﬁi% Y54 P

EREMNEE AT

ZERBRAANKE N EANEE
BB ERERSEBEMNM
AREBERRBAETE] o WA
SEAHEERE - RBH
EPMEETTEASEEEH

a)() I A A £ 49 5 R B
EARENIBRER (K
'

—

A2 T“H’“‘j)Ix%

CHHEMBREEZT
REIARNEEEALE

RARHETEERE

=
5

NG

s Hy EE’@
w

>IN
S5

S



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Related parties (Continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced
by, that person in their dealings with the entity and include:

(@) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner,

(b) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner;
and

(c) dependants of that person or that person’s spouse or
domestic partner.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing
the asset to its working condition and location for its intended
use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in
the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as
a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group
recognised such parts as individual assets with specific useful
lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off
the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its
residual value over its estimated useful life. The annual rates
of depreciation used for this purpose are as follows:

Plant and machinery 19.0%

Furniture and office equipment 19.0 t0 49.4%
Motor vehicles 9.9% t0 32.9%
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Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at
the end of each reporting period.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in profit or loss in the period the asset is
derecognised is the difference between the net sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
(including the leasehold property held as a right-of-use asset
which would otherwise meet the definition of an investment
property) held to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation, rather than for use in the production or supply
of goods or services or for administrative purposes, or for
sale in the ordinary course of business. Such properties
are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are
stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the
end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in profit or loss in the
period in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in profit or loss in the
period of the retirement or disposal.

For a transfer from properties under development and
completed properties held for sale to investment properties,
any difference between the fair value of the property at that
date and its previous carrying amount is recognised in profit
or loss.
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Properties under development

Properties under development are intended to be held for sale
after completion.

Properties under development are stated at the lower of cost
comprising land costs, construction costs, borrowing costs,
professional fees and other costs directly attributable to such
properties incurred during the development period and net
realisable value.

Properties under development are classified as current assets
unless those will not be realised in the normal operating cycle.
On completion, the properties are transferred to completed
properties held for sale.

Completed properties held for sale

Completed properties held for sale are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the lower
of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined by
an apportionment of the total costs of land and buildings
attributable to the unsold properties. Net realisable value takes
into account the price ultimately expected to be realised, less
estimated costs to be incurred in selling the properties.

Lease

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract
is, Or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

The Group as lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term lease and leases
of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to
make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the
right to use the underlying assets.
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Lease (Continued)
The Group as lessee (Continued)

(@)

(b)

Right of use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset
is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured
at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement
of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of- use assets
includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised,
initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made
at or before the commencement date less any lease
incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated
on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease
terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets (if
any).

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group
by the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the
exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated
using the estimated useful life of the asset.

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease payments
to be made over the lease term. The lease payments
include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable
lease payments that depend on an index or a rate,
and amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the
exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain
to be exercised by the Group and payments of penalties
for termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the
Group exercising the option to terminate. The variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate
are recognised as an expense in the period in which the
event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.
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Lease (Continued)
The Group as lessee (Continued)
(b) Lease liabilities (Continued)

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date because the interest rate
implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in
lease payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate) or a change
in assessment of an option to purchase the underlying
asset.

(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and
equipment (that is those leases that have a lease term
of 12 months or less from the commencement date and
do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the
recognition exemption for leases of low-value assets to
leases of buildings or offices that are considered to be of
low value.

The Group as lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception
(or when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as
either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset
are classified as operating leases. When a contract contains
lease and non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each component on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted for
on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is included
in revenue in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income due to its operating nature.
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same
basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as
revenue in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards

incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee
are accounted for as finance leases.
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Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”), and fair value through
profit or loss (“FVPL").

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group's business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the Group
initially measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in
the case of a financial asset not at FVPL, transaction costs.
Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient are measured at the transaction price determined
under IFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for
“Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or FVOCI, it needs to give rise to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI") on
the principal amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash
flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured at FVPL,
irrespective of the business model.

The Group's business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines whether
cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows,
selling the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified
and measured at amortised cost are held within a business
model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified
and measured at FVOCI are held within a business model with
the objective of both holding to collect contractual cash flows
and selling. Financial assets which are not held within the
aforementioned business models are classified and measured
at FVPL.
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Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income when the asset is derecognised,
modified or impaired.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a
third party under a "pass-through” arrangement; and
either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of
the asset.
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Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates, if and to what extent, it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset. When
it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset,
the Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the
extent of the Group's continuing involvement. In that case, the
Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred
asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that
reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required to
repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
("ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at FVPL. ECLs are
based on the difference between the contractual cash flows
due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation
of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows
will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or
other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual
terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible within the
next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures
for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit
losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure,
irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).
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Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

General approach (Continued)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses
whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has
increased significantly since initial recognition. When making
the assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date
with the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition and considers reasonable
and supportable information that is available without undue
cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking
information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in
certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial
asset to be in default when internal or external information
indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full before taking into account any
credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset
is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovering the contractual cash flows.

Debt investments at FVOCI and financial assets at amortised
cost are subject to impairment under the general approach
and they are classified within the following stages for
measurement of ECLS except for trade receivables which
apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1: Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2: Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLS

Stage 3: Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLS
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Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group applies the simplified approach in
calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a
loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date.
The Group has established a provision matrix that is based
on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-
looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, or loans
and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as
hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and,
in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of
directly attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at FVPL

Financial liabilities at FVPL include financial liabilities held
for trading and financial liabilities designated upon initial
recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are
incurred for the purpose of repurchasing in the near term.
This category also includes derivative financial instruments
entered into by the Group that are not designated as hedging
instruments in hedge relationships as defined by IFRS 9.
Separated embedded derivatives are also classified as held
for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging
instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income. The net fair value gain or loss
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income does not include any interest
charged on these financial liabilities.
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Financial liabilities (Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial liabilities at FVPL (Continued)

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at
FVPL are designated at the initial date of recognition, and
only if the criteria in IFRS 9 are satisfied. Gains or losses
on liabilities designated at FVPL are recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, except for the gains
or losses arising from the Group’s own credit risk which are
presented in other comprehensive income with no subsequent
reclassification to the consolidated statement of profit or
loss. The net fair value gain or loss recognised in the profit or
loss does not include any interest charged on these financial
liabilities.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss
when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are
an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in profit
or loss.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse
the holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor
fails to make a payment when due in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract is
recognised initially as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issuance
of the guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group
measures the financial guarantee contracts at the higher of: (i)
the ECL allowance determined in accordance with the policy as
set out in “Impairment of financial assets”; and (ii) the amount
initially recognised less, when appropriate, the cumulative
amount of income recognised.
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R B I IRAREE

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE T NFE+_—A=+—HILFE

Financial liabilities (Continued)
Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in profit or 10ss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the consolidated statement of financial
position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable
legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash,
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and
have a short maturity of generally within three months when
acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand
and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in
nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage of
time is included in profit or loss as finance costs.
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Income tax

The charge for current income tax is based on the results
for the period as adjusted for items that are non-assessable
or disallowed. It is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements.
However, any deferred tax arising from initial recognition of
goodwill; or other asset or liability in a transaction other than
a business combination that at the time of the transaction
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss is
not recognised.

The deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
recovered or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax
laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences, tax losses and
credits can be utilised.

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences arising on
investment in subsidiaries, except where the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences is controlled by the
Group and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Government Grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income
to match the grant on a systematic basis over the periods that
the costs, which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.
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Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the
goods or services to the customer. The variable consideration
is estimated at contract inception and constrained until it
is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in the
amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when
the associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing
the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more
than one year, revenue is measured at the present value of
the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the Group with a significant financial benefit for
more than one year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract liability
under the effective interest method. For a contract where the
period between the payment by the customer and the transfer
of the promised goods or services is one year or less, the
transaction price is not adjusted for the effects of a significant
financing component, using the practical expedient in IFRS 15.
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Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Sale of properties

Revenues are recognhised when or as the control of the asset
is transferred to the purchaser. Depending on the terms of the
contract and the laws that apply to the contract, control of the
asset may transfer over time or at a point in time. Control of
the asset is transferred over time if the Group’s performance:

. provides benefits which are received and consumed
simultaneously by the purchaser; or

. creates and enhances an asset that the purchaser
controls as the Group performs; or

. does not create an asset with an alternative use to
the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date.

If control of the asset transfers over time, revenue is
recognised over the period of the contract by reference to the
progress towards complete satisfaction of that performance
obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the purchaser obtains control of the asset.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligation is measured based on the Group’s
efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of the performance
obligation that best depict the Group’s performance in
satisfying the performance obligation.

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the
promised amount of consideration for the effect of a financing
component if it is significant.

For properties development and sales contracts for which
the control of the property is transferred at a point in time,
revenue is recognised when the purchaser obtains the
physical possession, or the legal title of the completed
property and the Group has a present right to payment and
the collection of the consideration is probable.
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Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over
the lease terms.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the
expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period,
when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial
asset.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received
or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer
before the Group transfers the related goods or services.
Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the
Group fulfills the performance obligations under the contract
(i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services to the
customer).

Other employee benefits

Short term employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the
associated services are rendered by employees.

Defined contribution plans

The obligations for contributions to defined contribution
retirement scheme are recognised as expenses in profit or
loss as incurred and are reduced by contributions forfeited
by those employees who leave the scheme prior the
contributions are vested fully in those employees. The assets
of the scheme are held separately from those of the Group in
an independently administered fund.
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Other employee benefits (Continued)

Defined contribution plans (Continued)

The contributions recognised in respect of pension scheme
are expensed as they fall due. Liabilities and assets may be
recognised if underpayment or prepayment has occurred and
are included in current liabilities or current assets as they are
normally of a short-term nature. The Group participates in the
pension scheme under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance (the "“MPF Scheme”) which is
available to its employees in Hong Kong. Contributions to the
MPF Scheme by the Group and employees are made based on
a percentage of employees’ basic salaries and are charged to
profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are
held separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group's employer contributions vest
fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate
in the PRC are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage
of their payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The
contributions are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension
scheme.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised when, and only when, the
Group demonstrably commits itself to terminate employment
or to provide benefits as a result of voluntary redundancy
by having a detailed formal plan which is without realistic
possibility of withdrawal.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the
cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing
costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are
expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing
costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs
in connection with the borrowing of funds.
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Foreign currencies

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB"), which is the functional currency of the
Company and the Group because the Group’s principal
operations are carried out in the PRC.

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the
dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from
the translation at period-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
recognised in profit or 10ss.

The results and financial position of all the group entities that
have a functional currency different from the presentation
currency (“foreign operations”) are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

o Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate at
the end of the reporting period.

° Income and expenses for each statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income are translated at
average exchange rate.

° All resulting exchange differences arising from the
above translation and exchange differences arising
from a monetary item that forms part of the Group's net
investment in a foreign operation are recognised as a
separate component of equity.

° On the disposal of a foreign operation, which includes
a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign
operation, a disposal involving the loss of control over a
subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, or a partial
disposal of an interest in a joint arrangement or an
associate that includes a foreign operation of which the
retained interest is no longer equity-accounted for, the
cumulative amount of the exchange differences relating
to the foreign operation that is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the separate
component of equity is reclassified from equity to profit
or loss when the gain or loss on disposal is recognised.
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Foreign currencies (Continued)

. On the partial disposal of the Group's interest in a
subsidiary that includes a foreign operation which
does not result in the Group losing control over the
subsidiary, the proportionate share of the cumulative
amount of the exchange differences recognised in the
separate component of equity is re-attributed to the non-
controlling interests in that foreign operation and are not
reclassified to profit or loss.

. On all other partial disposals, which includes partial
disposal of associates or joint ventures that do not result
in the Group losing significant influence or joint control,
the proportionate share of the cumulative amount
of exchange differences recognised in the separate
component of equity is reclassified to profit or 10ss.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the consolidated financial statements, are
identified from the financial information provided regularly to
the Group’s most senior executive management, which is the
Group's chief operating decision maker, for the purposes of
allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of, the
Group’s various geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of
the nature of products and services, the nature of production
processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used
to distribute the products or provide the services, and the
nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments
which are not individually material may be aggregated if they
share a majority of these criteria.
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Future changes in IFRSs

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards that have been
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issued but are not yet effective:

Standards and amendments

Lack of Exchangeability — Amendments to
IAS 21

Classification and Measurement of Financial
Instruments Amendments to IFRS 9 and
IFRS 7

Annual improvements to IFRS Accounting
Standards — Volume 11

Amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 7, IFRS 9,
IFRS 10 and IAS 7

Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements - IFRS 18

Subsidiaries without Public Accountability:
Disclosures — IFRS 19

Sale or contribution of assets between
an investor and its associate or joint
venture — Amendments to IFRS 10 and
IAS 28

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the
adoption of the new/revised IFRS Accounting Standards in
future periods will have any material impact on the financial
performance and financial position of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRI

Year ended 31 December 2024 = —ZF &+ —-A=+—RHIFE

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial
statements requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their
accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent
liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates
could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management of the Group has made the following
judgements, apart from those involving estimations, which has
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements:

Classification between property, plant and equipment,
investment properties and completed properties held for sale
The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an
investment property, and has developed criteria in making
that judgement. Investment property is a property held to
earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Therefore, the
Group considers whether a property generates cash flows
largely independently of the other assets held by the Group.
Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn
rentals or for capital appreciation and another portion that is
held for use in the production or supply of goods or services
or for administrative purposes. If these portions could be sold
separately or leased out separately under a finance lease, the
Group accounts for the portions separately. If the portions
could not be sold separately, the property is an investment
property only if an insignificant portion is held for use in the
production or supply of goods or services or for administrative
purposes. Judgement is made on an individual property basis
to determine whether ancillary services are so significant
that a property does not qualify as an investment property.
Completed properties held for sale comprise properties that
are held for sale in the ordinary course of business. Principally,
these are residential properties that the Group develops and
intends to sell before or on completion of construction.

Withholding tax arising from the distribution of dividends
The Group’s determination, as to whether to accrue
withholding taxes arising from the distributions of dividends
by certain subsidiaries according to the relevant tax rules
enacted in the jurisdictions, is subject to judgement on the
plan of the distribution of dividends.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R B I IRAREE

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE T NFE+_—A=+—HILFE

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial reporting period, are described below.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables and
financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables
and other assets at amortised costs

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables and financial assets included in prepayments,
other receivables and other financial assets at amortised
costs. The provision rates are based on days past due for
groupings of various debtor segments that have similar loss
patterns (i.e., by geography, product type, customer type and
rating, and coverage by letters of credit and other forms of
credit insurance).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix
to adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-
looking information. For instance, if forecast economic
conditions (i.e., gross domestic product) are expected to
deteriorate over the next financial reporting period which
can lead to an increased number of defaults in the property
development sector, the historical default rates are adjusted.
At the end of each reporting period, the historical observed
default rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking
estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLS is
a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to
changes in circumstances and forecast economic conditions.
The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast
of economic conditions may also not be representative of
debtor’s actual default in the future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRI

Year ended 31 December 2024 = —ZF &+ —-A=+—RHIFE

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Provision of properties under development and completed
properties held for sale

The Group’s properties under development and completed
properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Based on the Group’s historical experience
and the nature of the subject properties, the Group makes
estimates of the selling prices, the costs of completion of
properties under development, and the costs to be incurred in
selling the properties based on prevailing market conditions.

If there is an increase in costs to completion or a decrease in
net sales value, the net realisable value will decrease and this
may result in a provision for properties under development
and completed properties held for sale. Such a provision
requires the use of judgement and estimates. Where the
expectation is different from the original estimate, the carrying
value and provision for properties in the periods in which the
estimate is changed will be adjusted accordingly.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of each
reporting period. Indefinite life intangible assets are tested for
impairment annually and at other times when such an indicator
exists. Other non-financial assets are tested for impairment
when there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not
be recoverable. An impairment exists when the carrying value
of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable
amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell
and its value in use. The calculation of the fair value less
costs to sell is based on available data from binding sales
transactions in an arm’s length transaction of similar assets or
observable market prices less incremental costs for disposing
of the asset. When value in use calculations are undertaken,
management must estimate the expected future cash flows
from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those
cash flows.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R B I IRAREE

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE T NFE+_—A=+—HILFE

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Estimation on the fair value of investment properties
Investment properties, including completed investment
properties and investment properties under construction
carried at fair value, are revalued at the end of each reporting
period based on the appraised market value provided by
independent professional valuers. Such valuations are based
on certain assumptions, which are subject to uncertainty and
might materially differ from the actual results. In making the
estimation, the Group considers information from current
prices in an active market for similar properties and uses
assumptions that are mainly based on market conditions
existing at the end of each reporting period.

The principal assumptions for the Group’s estimation of
the fair value include those related to current market rents
for similar properties in the same location and condition,
appropriate discount rates, expected future market rents and
future maintenance costs.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax losses
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant
management judgement is required to determine the amount
of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the
likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with
future tax planning strategies.

PRC land appreciation tax (“LAT”)

The Group is subject to LAT in the PRC. The provision for LAT
is based on management'’s best estimates according to the
understanding of the requirements set forth in the relevant
PRC tax laws and regulations. The actual LAT liabilities are
subject to the determination by the tax authorities upon the
completion of the property development projects. The Group
has not finalised its LAT calculation and payments with the
tax authorities for all its property development projects. The
final outcome could be different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, and any differences will impact on the LAT
expenses and the related provision in the period in which the
differences realise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2024 = —ZF &+ —-A=+—RHIFE

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Convertible bonds

The management uses their judgements in selecting an
appropriate valuation technique for financial instruments not
quoted in an active market. Valuation techniques commonly
used by market practitioners are applied. In determining the
fair value of convertible bonds, assumptions are made based
on quoted market rates adjusted for specific features of the
instrument.

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their products and services and has
three reportable operating segments as follows:

(@) the properties development segment engages in the
development and sale of properties;

(b) the properties leasing segment engages in leasing out
properties for their rental income potential and/or for
capital appreciation; and

(c) the others segment engages in investment holding.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions
about resource allocation and performance assessment.
Segment performance is evaluated based on reportable
segment profits or loss, which is a measure or adjusted profit
or loss before income tax.

No analysis of the Group's assets and liabilities by operating
segment is disclosed as it is not regularly provided to the chief
operating decision-maker for review.

Intersegment sales and transfers (if any) are transacted with

reference to the selling prices used for sales made to third
parties at the then prevailing market prices.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 4.

Year ended 31 December 2024

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fRE B RRME

Year ended 31 December 2024 HZE=—Z—NFE+-_A=+—HIFE

2 EER (&

BE-_Z_mWFE+-A=+—HLEE

opme g O olidated
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Segment revenue 2Bk
Sales to external customers $5E FINEE P 85,371 1,472 - 86,843
Segment results a4 (335,157) (142,458) (120,654) (598,269)
Loss before income tax BRFTIS TR E 18 (598,269)
Other segment information Hfth 5 &R
Bank interest income RITH BUWA (6) - - (6)
Changes in fair value of BEMEZANNEE
investment properties #5) - 12,270 - 12,270
Changes in fair value of ARRESZ AR
convertible bonds BEEES - - 9,463 9,463
Depreciation of property, VI - BB K&
plant and equipment e 9 4 - 13
Finance costs BhE KA 96,663 - - 96,663
Impairment of completed BIEHEMNDERT
properties held for sale LJECRIE] 7,050 - - 7,050
Impairment of properties FEFYERE
under development 5,699 - - 5,699
Impairment of trade B 5 W GRIA R E
receivables, net FRE 8,273 - - 8,273
Impairment of financial FFATERFRIE « HAotb
assets included in FE W R TE K H A &
prepayments, other EseREERE
receivables and other HEE
assets, net 18,567 - - 18,567
Interest penalties B 303,625 - 62,583 366,208
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRI

Year ended 31 December 2024 BE—Z —MF+—A=+—HI-FE

4.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Year ended 31 December 2023

2 EPE R ()

HE_Z-_=F+-_A=+—HILEE

Property Property
development leasing Others Consolidated
Lk MEHEE Hitb oe)
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTIT ARBFTIT AREFTRT AREFT
Segment revenue 2R
Sales to external customers $5%& FHNBE P 418,920 3,660 - 422,580
Segment results DERELE (425,929) (19,212) (119,015) (564,156)
Loss before income tax bR PRI T A E 18 (564,156)
Other segment information H3ZHER
Bank interest income RITH EWA (12) (156) (10) (178)
Changes in fair value of BEMEZ NAEE
investment properties # - 17,900 - 17,900
Changes in fair value of BRESZ AR
convertible bonds BEZH - - 3,814 3,814
Depreciation of property, VI - R K&
plant and equipment e 12 1 1 14
Finance costs BE A AR 70,848 - 6,231 77,079
Impairment of completed BEREMBELRT
properties held for sale LJECRIE] 19,474 - - 19,474
Impairment of properties REFYERE
under development 107,040 = = 107,040
Impairment of trade B 5 W GRIA R A
receivables, net FEE 185 - - 185
Impairment of financial STATENFE - B
assets included in FEMERIA R H A&
prepayments, other EzEmEERE
receivables and other FEE
assets, net 2,571 - - 2,571
Interest penalties EIps) 213,620 - 101,239 314,859
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R B I IRAREE

Year ended 31 December 2024 HZE=—Z—NFE+-_A=+—HIFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 4.
Geographical information

Since the Group solely operates business in the PRC and
almost all of the Group’s non-current assets are located in the

PRC, geographical segment information in accordance with

IFRS 8 Operating Segments is not presented.

Information about major customers

None of the customers individually contributed 10% or more
of the Group’s revenue for the years ended 31 December 2024
and 2023.

7 ERE Y (48)

132 & R
MASEBEERFEGEEY A%
BATHAERDEECNPE - R
AR E R BT T SR A R R B 8SRAL 5
ML H AR -

EHEFEEFNEHR
HEz_Z_NFER_ZFT-_=ZF+_-A
=+—HLEFE  MERFBEERAE
EBWZF10%KIA L o

REVENUE 5. W
024 2023
T [g4 —E=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
R AREF T
Revenue from contracts with BRI SREERFISFREBRRNZ
customers within IFRS 15 EESANKE
Sales of properties L EX NS 85,371 418,920
Revenue from other sources R B EH AR RS
Gross rental income from investment KGR EMEKLLHENE L WA
property operating leases 4BEE
- other lease payments, including  —HBAEMK - BEEEMNK
fixed payments 1,472 3,660
86,843 422,580
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRI

Year ended 31 December 2024 BE—Z —MF+—A=+—HI-FE

5. REVENUE (CONTINUED) 5. W= (&)
(a) Disaggregated revenue information @ WAZHFEHR
In addition to the information shown in segment Br > SRR BB RE R 2 B RHASN
disclosures, the revenue from contracts with customers BBk EEANEISRERAN
within IFRS 15 is disaggregated as follows: EPEHNBEES T -
024 2023
=Sl 1 - —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
R A ARBT T
Geographical region: b EB [ 1 -
- The PRC —H 85,371 418,920
Timing of revenue recognition: WA FEZRRT R -
- ata pointin time — A — &R Bh 85,371 418,920
Type of transaction price: REEWEES -
— fixed price —EEER 85,371 418,920
The amount of revenue recognised for the year ended REEZZT-_WF+=-A=+—H
31 December 2024 that was included in the contract LEEERRIFAFVENEE
liabilities at the beginning of the year is approximately K= & R4 A R #77,801,0007T
RMB77,801,000 (2023: RMB404,192,000). (ZZ==% : AR¥404,192,000
TT) °
(b) Performance obligations (b) BHEME
Information about the Group's performance obligations ERAEEYEHEEBRNEANE
in respect of sales of properties is summarised below: BT
The performance obligation is satisfied when customers BHBEEREFIEERIMEE
obtain the physical possession or the legal title of the DB ELERE  ~EEHE
completed properties and the Group has right to payment TR B A IR (B RS ETT o

and the collection of the consideration is probable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R B I IRAREE

Year ended 31 December 2024 HZE=—Z—NFE+-_A=+—HIFE

OTHER INCOME AND GAINS AND LOSSES 6. HMWARWKRZEREIE

024 2023
=4 =%
B’00( RMB'000
R AREET T
Other income Hag A
Bank interest income RITFBUA 6 178
Government grants T 485 B 5 22
Others Hih - 116
11 316
Gains and losses W=k EE
Exchange losses, net i B8 5 5 - (6,505)
Other gain, net H bl s 58 10 3
10 (6,502)
21 (6,186)
LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX 7. BRABHRAIEE
This is stated after charging (crediting): R (GEA) TFIIEB &8 -
024 2023
s —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
R AREEF T
Finance costs mE A
Interest on interest-bearing bank FTEIRTT R EH AbS
and other borrowings 114,071 102,121
Total interest expenses B s 114,071 102,121
Less: Interest capitalised B BAMEFE (17,408) (25,042)
Total finance costs MERALEEE 96,663 77,079
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRI

Year ended 31 December 2024 BE—Z —MF+—A=+—HI-FE

7. LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX (CONTINUED) 7.
This is stated after charging (crediting):

BRAT S B A8 (&)

kR (GEA) TIIEB 2518 -

024 2023
= — [0 4 T =%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
R s AREET T
Staff costs (excluding directors’ ETRA(ESMERM)
emoluments)
Salaries, allowances and benefits-in- #r& ~ 2B R EYFIZ

«ind 6,918 11,518
Contribution to defined contribution 5 E {71zt 289 it 3%

plans 1,656 1,714

8,574 13,232
Other items HihigH
Auditor’'s remuneration Z SN &

— Audit services — Z R 1,692 1,743
Cost of properties sold BHEYEKR 65,534 367,253
Cost of leasing properties THEMER A 642 1,887
Depreciation of property, plant and % - M= LR ETE

equipment 13 14
Impairment of financial assets, net  &@&EEMEFE(GEAEi

(included in “other expenses”) )

- Impairment of trade receivables,  —% 5 EURFIER(EF A

net 8,273 185

— Impairment of financial assets —FPATERFIAR - HAibEW IR

included in prepayments, other MEMEBEENSREERE
receivables and other assets, FFE
net 18,567 2,571
26,840 2,756
Loss on court-ordered sale of Ehme R ERERENERT

completed properties held for sale ¥ E18 3,319 34,641
Impairment of properties under FAERYEREGIAIEM4RAS D)

development (included in “other

expenses”) 5,699 107,040
Impairment of completed properties #H{EHERNE % TWERE(GTA

held for sale (included in “other [Efmz )

expenses”) 7,050 19,474
Interest penalties (included in “other 18 (G AIEMRE 1)

expenses”) 366,208 314,859
Lease payments not included inthe YWEFAHEAEFENHENK

measurement of lease liabilities 257 412
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R B I IRAREE

Year ended 31 December 2024 HZE=—Z—NFE+-_A=+—HIFE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVFE’S 8. EERFETHABZEHMH
REMUNERATION
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the following ESEN T EEZNHFMOT

directors were as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-Z_NF+-HA=+—HLEE

Salaries, Contribution

allowances to defined

Directors’  and benefits-  Discretionary  contribution
fees in-kind bonus plans Total

a Rl REHK
ExH:  REWAE BEEAL  SEOHEK st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR  AR®TR  AR®TR  AREMTR  AR%®T:R

Executive directors: YTES:
Mr. Chen Chengshou BEFELE - 983 - - 983
Mr. Feng Cizhao YERLE - 80 - - 80

Non-executive directors: IFHTEE :
Mr. Choi Clifford Wai BERLE

Hong - 235 - - 235
Mr. Zhou Zhencun BEFEE - 169 - - 169
Ms. Gao Qiaogin BHELL - 180 - - 180
Independent non- BUFHITES:

executive directors:

Mr. Chiu Kung Chak HAERLE 169 - - - 169
Mr. Lau Wai Leung, Alfred 2I@#2% 4 165 - - - 165
Mr. Khor Khie Liem, Alex  FFEiEE L4 235 - - - 235

569 1,647 - - 2,216
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BHmRMTE
Year ended 31 December 2024 HE=—T-—MF+-_A=+—HIFE
8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 8. EBERFETHABZHM
REMUNERATION (CONTINUED) (#])
For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE-_ZT-=F+"A=1+—HILFE
Salaries, Contribution
allowances to defined
Directors’  and benefits-  Discretionary ~ contribution
fees in-kind bonus plans Total
e - 28 REHRR
EErk RENF = BETELL FTEIMH R et
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTL  ARBTT  AREBTL  ARETT  ARETRL

Executive directors: YTES:
Mr. Chen Chengshou BRAST AL - 983 - - 983
Mr. Feng Cizhao L eip e - 80 - - 80

Non-executive directors: IHTEE :
Mr. Choi Clifford Wai BEREE

Hong - 227 - - 227

Mr. Zhou Zhencun BAEFEE - 164 - - 164

Ms. Gao Qiaoqin shHExL - 180 - = 180

Independent non- BUFHITES:

executive directors:

Mr. Chiu Kung Chak HARLE 164 - - - 164

Mr. Lau Wai Leung, Alfred ZIE#25EL4 164 - - - 164

Mr. Khor Khie Liem, Alex  #FEEBE LA 227 - - - 227
555 1,634 - - 2,189
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R B I IRAREE

Year ended 31 December 2024 HZE=—Z—NFE+-_A=+—HIFE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)

Mr. Chen Chengshou is the chief executive officer of the
Group, and his emoluments disclosed above included those
for services rendered by him as chief executive officer during
the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office. No directors waived or agreed
to waive any emoluments in respect of the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included five
(2023: five) director, details of whose remuneration are set out
in note 8 above.

For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the highest paid
individuals as a payment for loss of office or as an inducement
to join or upon joining the Group.

For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, no
individuals waived or agreed to waive any emoluments.

8.

%E&IEEﬁAEZﬁM

BRATEERAEBETHRAR  ME L
AFFFEENMEBREBRE_T _MF
MZZB_=F+_A=+—BIFEH
BEETRARMEERREOME -

HEz_Z_NMFR_FT-_=F+—-A
=t+—BLFE  AEETERESY
N EETSI EMARER SR INA
AEBRK RESHBEE HE_Z
THER-ZFE=F+ZA=+—HI1
FE - WEEEWREXRERELMAN

S
& e

TEBREHFMES
AFERARBHMEERERL (=
To=F BR)EF REZHWH
R IR _ESCHES -

HEz_Z_NMFR_FT-_=ZF+=-A
=+—HIFE FTEEREINES
FATEMENS - (ERBE 2 MEE
BINASAIIA L B 85 2 427 o

HEz_Z_NMFR-_FT-_=ZF+-A
Z+—HULEFE  BMEATHRERRE
WETABE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mRE B IRAR AL

Year ended 31 December 2024 BE—Z —MF+—A=+—HI-FE

0. INCOME TAX (EXPENSES) CREDIT

10. TSR () KR

024 2023
= _[g% —E=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
R ARBFIT
Current tax B HA B 18
PRC Enterprise Income Tax — FRCEMBH -AFE
current year . _
Land appreciation tax (“LAT") T bR ER ([ L HbIZEF ) 1,772 31,325
1,772 31,325
Deferred tax ERERE
Origination and reversal of iy =R E A KD
temporary differences (10,350) (2,850)
Total income tax expenses (credit)  FERFTEHMAS (KR )4E%8
for the year (8,578) 28,475
The Group is subject to income tax on an entity based on REBEREBRASEKER _T?H%

profits arising in or derived from the tax jurisdictions in
which members of the Group are domiciled and operated.
Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands
and the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI"), the Group's entities
incorporated in the Cayman Islands and the BVI are not
subject to any income tax.

The Group’s subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong are not
liable for income tax as they did not have any assessable
income arising in Hong Kong during the year ended 31
December 2024 and 2023.

The Group’s entities established in the PRC are subject to PRC
Enterprise Income Tax at a statutory rate of 25% the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at
the tax rates prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the Group
operates.

According to the requirements of the Provisional Regulations
of the PRC on LAT effective from 1 January 1994, and the
Detailed Implementation Rules on the Provisional Regulations
of the PRC on LAT effective from 27 January 1995, all income
from the sale or transfer of state-owned leasehold interest
on land, buildings and their attached facilities in the PRC
is subject to LAT at progressive rates ranging from 30% to
60% of the appreciation value, with an exemption provided
for property sales of ordinary residential properties if their
appreciation values do not exceed 20% of the sum of the total
deductible items.
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10.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R B I IRAREE

Year ended 31 December 2024 HZE=—Z—NFE+-_A=+—HIFE

INCOME TAX (EXPENSES) CREDIT
(CONTINUED)

The Group has estimated and made tax provision for LAT
according to the requirements set forth in the relevant PRC
tax laws and regulations. The actual LAT liabilities are subject
to the determination by the tax authorities upon completion
of the property development projects and the tax authorities
might disagree with the basis on which the provision for LAT is
calculated.

Reconciliation of income tax expenses

10. FriSH (BT ) K% (&)

REBRIZARE P BEBOEMERAER
TE fl T o 3 48 B A 3P A bk 4F B IR
B BRI HEERAERNMEREE
BRTEATBEHEAETE - MAEEE

AIRE Gt T IR (E T B B A B ER
HiF o

FRiEBim X 2 ¥ iR

024 2023

Z 94 —E=F

B’000 RMB'000

R A AR T T

Loss before income tax BRETISEL R B 18 (598,269) (564,156)
Tax at the statutory tax rate of 25% & EFE R K25% st E VT8

(2023: 25%) ZEZ=F 1 25%) (145,215) (141,039)

Lower tax rate for specific entities — HFE B 2 BEK X 19,040 28,000

Non-deductible expenses AR B 2 (14,259) =

Non-taxable income FEFERTTUA 3) (984)
Unrecognised tax losses and RERHIEEERDREZRE

temporary differences 130,530 118,998

Subtotal BT (9,907) 4,975

Provision for LAT T IR E T 1,772 31,325

Deferred tax effect of LAT THIREFAEER B E (443) (7,825)
Total income tax (credit) expenses  FARFEF (KR )H X 2%

for the year (8,578) 28,475
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRMEE
Year ended 31 December 2024 HE=—T-—MF+-_A=+—HIFE
11. DIVIDENDS 11. RE
The directors of the Company do not recommend the payment AAREEITEBREBEE_T_NFR
of a dividend for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023. CE =+ - A=+—HILFERN
RS e
12. LOSS PER SHARE 12. BREGE
The calculation of basic and diluted loss per share attributable RABER AEESREARNRE SRS
to the owners of the Company is based on the following data: RIGTE THERN T3 8% -
024 2023
Z 4 —E-=F
B’00( RMB'000
R A ARBT T
Loss: B8
Loss attributable to owners of the  EFEERERREFEEMEA 2
Company, used in basic and KAREE ANEILHEE
diluted loss per share calculation (542,523) (526,121)
024 2023
T M4 —E-=F
Number of shares: BREOHE :
Weighted average number of FRUGTEERERREEEE 2
ordinary shares for the purpose of @A I F19#
calculating basic and dilutive loss
per share 1,878,622,000 1,878,622,000
Diluted loss per share is same as basic loss per share as there BREEEEEGRERNEEMER - 7
were no potential ordinary shares outstanding during the year BREEZE_=FR-T_NF+=
ended 31 December 2023 and 2024. A=+—RHIEFEMERNRITEELYL

il
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR M EE
Year ended 31 December 2024 BE —FT —MFE+—A=+—HIFE
13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. ¥1% - BMERRZE
Furniture and
Plant and office Motor
machinery equipment vehicles Total
AR
BE R WAERE nE At
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT

Cost R
At 1 January 2023, RZEZ=%—-A—H"
31 December 2023, —E-=
1 January 2024 and +-A=+-8"
31 December 2024 —EopEFE-A-HK
—TCoME
+-A=+-H 2,662 4,601 5,964 13,227
Disposals HE = = (241) (241)
|
At 31 December 2024 R-ZE-NF
TZA=1t—H 2,662 4,601 5,723 12,986 |
Accumulated depreciation Rt E
At 1 January 2023 R-E-=%—f—H 2,529 4,195 5,805 12,529
Charge for the year ERM - 14 - 14
At 31 December 2023 and R-E-=F
1 January 2024 TZA=+t-BR
—Z-pmF—-A—H 2,529 4,209 5,805 12,543
Charge for the year FRk - 13 - 13
Disposals e - - (238) (238)
At 31 December 2024 RZEZMF
+=-A=1+-8 2,529 4,222 5,567 12,318
Net carrying amounts REFE
At 31 December 2024 RZZZMF
+-A=1+-"H 133 379 156 668
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=%F
+ZA=+—H 133 392 159 684
None of the Group’s property, plant and equipment have been RZEZNFR_ZZZ=%F+=A
pledged to secure borrowings granted to the Group at 31 =t—A AKREBREXADX - BE
December 2024 and 2023. MEBEMEAREBERENZER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRI

Year ended 31 December 2024 BE—Z —MF+—A=+—HI-FE

Fair value AREE

At 1 January 2023 RZZ-Z=%—HA—H

Changes in fair value AREBEEH

RMB’000
ARBTIT

936,100
(17,900)

At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 RIBZ=F+_A=+—HBRZZT_NF
—A—H

Changes in fair value AREEE

At 31 December 2024 R-ZE-_NE+=-A=+—H

The Group’s investment properties consist of commercial
properties completed in the PRC. The Group’s investment
properties were revalued on 31 December 2024 based
on valuations performed by independent professionally
qualified valuers at approximately RMB905,930,000 (2023:
RMB918,200,000). For each financial reporting period,
the Group's senior management may decide, to appoint
which external valuer to be responsible for the external
valuations of the Group's properties. Selection criteria include
market knowledge, reputation, independence and whether
professional standards are maintained. The Group's senior
management have discussions with the valuer on the valuation
assumptions and valuation results twice a year when the
valuation is performed for annual financial reporting.

At 31 December 2024, the Group's investment properties with
aggregate values of approximately RMB792,847,000 (2023:
RMB918,200,000) were pledged to secure interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings granted to the Group (Note 25).

Annual Report 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBHRRME
Year ended 31 December 2024 HE T _NF+-_A=+—HILFE
14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 14. BREYZ(E])
Fair value hierarchy NREERR
The following table illustrates the fair value measurement TR AEEREDMEN A EER
hierarchy of the Group's investment properties: EER
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—R gt 1 E=& #st
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AREBTT ARETET AR®TT
Recurring fair value HEEYEETRE
measurement for HAAREEE
commercial properties:
At 31 December 2024 R=-ZF-MFE+=A
=+—H - - 905,930 905,930
At 31 December 2023 R-ZT-_=%+—-A
=+—H - - 918,200 918,200

15.

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers
into or out of Level 3.

Set out below is a summary of the valuation techniques used

REAN - RAEEERES —REE-
REWER TESE-GNEANS
4o

AT REEMEMERAEANGER

and the key inputs to the valuation of investment properties: MTRESHABBROHE

Range

& E
Valuation techniques Significant unobservable inputs 0 2023
& B H il ERTAHRGAE wk: —T—_=
Direct comparable method Unit rate per gross floor area 5,000-8,000 5,262—-6,594

(RMB per square meter)

BEERUEBOR FREmMBEMEARE FHK)

A significant increase (decrease) in the estimated unit rate
per gross floor area would result in a significant increase
(decrease) in the fair value of the investment properties.

LEASES

The Group as lessee

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group has
lease contracts for various items of buildings or offices used
in its operations with lease terms of 12 months or less and/or
individually low value. Generally, the Group is restricted from
assigning and subleasing the leased assets outside the Group.

15.

BEEEBEMLBAREENCR))E8E
BREMEQARBEAEEZEMCORD) -

HE

AEBEAEBEA
HE-T-WOF+-_A=+—HIL#HF
B AEEHAHELCETANSEET
FWMAEHABA12EAXUT R, =
HAREFABRAZEBEREEESY -
—MmE  AEETAEAEEINA
TEELERAREEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRI

Year ended 31 December 2024 BE—Z —MF+—A=+—HI-FE

15. LEASES (CONTINUED) 15. HE (&)
The Group as lessee (Continued) AEBEREBEAE)
(@ The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to (a) HEBEZTHEREEHRENFEW
lease are as follows: T
024 2023
1 —E=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
R 1 ARBT T
Expense relating to leases of HEEEEEHEBEN
low-value assets (included in FZ (Gt ATTTERRXZ D)
“administrative expenses”) 257 412
(b) The total cash outflow for leases (including short-term b)) BE_ZFT-_MF+-_A=+—HI
leases and leases of low-value assets) for the year ended %FE - HENReRLAE(BE
31 December 2024 was approximately RMB257,000 (2023: REAERRBEEEREE)NOR
RMB412,000). AR#257,000c(ZFE-=F: A
R#¥412,0007T) °
The Group as lessor AEBESHEA
At the end of the reporting period, the undiscounted lease R|EHRAR > RRPEAREERREE
payments receivables by the Group in future periods under HEPZ AL EHERNEUKAIR
non-cancellable operating leases with its tenants are as MEFRELT
follows:
024 2023
= — 04 —E=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
R ARBT T
Within one year —FR - 1,168
Over one year —FEA - 314
- 1,482
The details of the lease income from operating leases are set %ﬁ%%ﬂ%E’U%ﬂ‘éﬂ&)\%i'l%%ﬁéﬁé\ﬁﬂ%
out in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements. WFRMIEE2 ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBMRME

Year ended 31 December 2024 HZE=—Z—NFE+-_A=+—HIFE

16. DEFERRED TAX 16. IEFEFIE

Deferred tax liabilities EEHEEE
Fair value
Accelerated  adjustment of
tax investment Capitalised
depreciation properties interest Total
mE  REWMELAR
BEHE EEAR EXR{HE st
RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETTT AREFT AREFT ARETT
At 1 January 2023 R-ZE-=%—F—H 60,980 = 102,367 163,347
Charge to profit or loss i Eetaill o - - 4,975 4,975
At 31 December 2023 and i —
1 January 2024 +-A=+-8k
—EIE-A—H 60,980 - 107,342 168,322
Charge to profit or loss RIBzH Ik - 3,068 4,352 7,420
At 31 December 2024 R-E-ME
+=A=+—-H 60,980 3,068 111,694 175,742
Deferred tax assets EEHIEEE
Loss
available
for offsetting
against future  Accruals and
taxable profit provisions  Accrued LAT Total
A AR 8
RRERB EER FESH L1t
BANEER Rk BED st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AREFT ARETT ARETTT
At 1 January 2023 R-ZE-_=F—F—H 37,715 22,918 141,635 202,268
Credit to profit or loss REZFREIA - - 7,825 7,825
At 31 December 2023 and RZE_=F
1 January 2024 +-A=t—-8k
—T-mMFE-HA—H 37,715 22,918 149,460 210,093
Credit to profit or 10ss REZEFREA - 17,327 443 17,770
At 31 December 2024 R-E-ME
+=H=+—H 37,715 40,245 149,903 227,863

The Group has tax losses arising in the PRC of approximately
RMB2,534,984,000 (2023: RMB2,012,306,000) that will expire in
one to five years for offsetting against future taxable profits.

AEERPREEREGBEHAARE
2,534,984,000Tt(—E =4 : ARKE
2,012,306,0007T) * ¥R —ZERHER
[ i FE A B 88 R PR B SR Bm A o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mRE B IRAR AL

Year ended 31 December 2024 BE—Z —MF+—A=+—HI-FE

16.

17.

DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED)

Deferred tax assets (Continued)

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of
these losses as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have been
loss-making for some time and it is not considered probable
that taxable profits will be available against which the tax
losses can be utilised.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
unrecognised deferred tax assets arising from unused
tax losses of approximately RMB10,139,936,000 (2023:
RMB8,049,224,000) available for set-off against future taxable
profit.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established
in the PRC. The requirement is effective from 1 January 2008
and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower
withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty
between China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors.
For the Group, the applicable rate is 10%. The Group is
therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed
by those subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect
of earnings generated from 1 January 2008.

As at 31 December 2024, no deferred tax liabilities have been
recognised for withholding taxes that would be payable on
the unremitted earnings that are subject to withholding taxes
of the subsidiaries of the Group established in the PRC. In
the opinion of the Company’s directors, it is not probable
that these subsidiaries will distribute earnings arising from 1
January 2008 to 31 December 2023 in the foreseeable future.
The aggregate amount of temporary differences associated
with the investments in these subsidiaries in the PRC for
which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised totalled
approximately RMB140,000,000 (2023: RMB135,000,000).

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

16. EEZERIE (E)

EREBHEE (&)
WERZEFERERECHRAEE * )
AZEBRTTHECER —REHEZH B
REFTEL RRR TR LA ERBE
MR AR SE Dl B R R -

REEIR - ANEEIRH A AREH
R FERT e M A0 = AR BRI B R
A K #10,139,936,0007C( ZF Z =4 -
A R #8,049,224,000 7T ) HE 38 4R 3T B¢ 18

RIBFREPEMSEE - RPBIKZA
INERELCEMIIEEEESTIRMNE
B ZBR10%M B R BRI - 2R
FTE_ZSNF—A—HEAR @
AR-_ZEZS+F+-_A=+—HENHER
Fl o fwp B EINHIRE EEREER

ERFNEHRE A RARENE
WK - AEEHERFER10% -

bt - ANEBEATZ S E T B A LR
MBARBE—ZTTN\FE—A—BEME
B A o B A AL B R TR TR IR
METS -

R-Z-_MFE+-_A=+—H  HER
NS B FA R B AR ST Y B B A B Y R BE
B (ESMBNBE) mMEMHIBNE
BRELHBEE - ARAAIEERE
ZEWB AR AR GRS
KR - ZEENF—H—HB&E_T_=F
+-A=+—HELNEFN - BEKRE
RZETENNBARNEREZ5EA
B AREBERELCHEER)AXLA
AR #140,000,000c (ZZE=Z=4F : A
R #135,000,0007T) °

17. AEFY=H

024 2023
T — M5 —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
R AREEF T

At the beginning of the reporting R B )
period 441,699 709,464
Additions = - 205,654
Transfer to PHS a5 T PHS (34,000) (366,379)
Impairment VERED (5,699) (107,040)
At the end of the reporting period RIREHR 402,000 441,699
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBMRME

Year ended 31 December 2024 HZE=—Z—NFE+-_A=+—HIFE

17. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

18.

17. BEBPYWECE)

(CONTINUED)
The movements in impairment of properties under RERYEREZSHNOT :
development are as follows:
024 2023
=4 =%
B’000 RMB'000
R ¥ AR T T
At the beginning of the reporting R & B )
period 454,858 347,818
Additions NE 5,699 107,040
At the end of the reporting period ~ RIREEIR 460,557 454,858

At the end of the reporting period, approximately
RMB281,315,000 (2023: RMB279,314,000) of the properties
under development is expected to be completed after more
than one year.

RIEHR - 49 A R¥281,315,0007T

ZEZ=F AR

#279,314,0007T) B

BRYERERR —FRET -

COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE 18. HIFHENERIY=
024 2023
2ol 11 T =F
RMB’000 RMB'000
s ARBT T
At the beginning of the reporting R B )
period 601,487 712,804
Additions NE 34,000 366,379
Transferred to cost of properties sold 8 ZE= 2 & HYER A (65,534) (367,253)
Disposal upon court ordered sales  B@AR M S HENHE (M)
(Notes) (5,433) (90,969)
Impairment RIE (7,050) (19,474)
At the end of the reporting period RIBEHR 557,470 601,487

At 31 December 2024, certain of the Group’'s completed
properties held for sale with an aggregate carrying amount
of approximately RMB79,351,000 (2023: RMB105,530,000)
have been pledged to secure interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings granted to the Group (Note 25).

RZEZWNF+—A=+—H ~&H
EIREAELN A ARY79,351,0007T

ZE==%: AR#¥105,530,0007T)
METHELEEB TYE - UWERK
EEEROT BRITREAMME R (T
25) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mRE B IRAR AL

Year ended 31 December 2024 & Z= —=F

“WEF A=+ HLEFE

Notes:

In August 2022, Zhejiang Wenzhou Intermediate People’s Court
CHIT A &I & A REPRT) has enforced an order to auction
and sell the land use right held by Hangzhou Xinming Property
Investment Limited (%1 )1 ¥7 B3 & % 4% & B R 2 7)) ("Hangzhou
Xinming”), in respect of the 20 immovable properties located at
Tower 2, Xinming Commercial Centre, Gongshu District,
Hangzhou City, the PRC and Xiaohe Road, Gongshu District,
Hangzhou City (“Xinming Commercial Centre”), the PRC which
are classified as completed properties held for sale since
Hangzhou Xinming was unable to repay the overdue borrowings
with principal amount of approximately RMB193,250,000 plus
interests and penalty owed to Zhejiang Zheshang Asset
Management Company Limited* (i TEA N EEE R AR QA
(“Zhejiang Zheshang") (the “Total Outstanding Loan").

During the year ended 31 December 2022, an auction in respect
of the said land use right of Hangzhou Xinming has taken
place and the said land use right had been sold in the said
auction for an amount of RMB35,332,000 which is same as the
aggregate reserve price to repay the Total Outstanding Loan
and accordingly the loss on court-ordered sale of approximately
RMB5,660,000 was charged to profit or loss for the year ended
31 December 2022.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, another auction in
respect of the land use right of Hangzhou Xinming, in respect
of another 28 immovable properties located at Xinming
Commercial Centre had been taken place and the said land
use right had been sold in the said auction for an amount of
RMB56,328,000 which is same as the aggregate reserve price
to repay the Total Outstanding Loan and accordingly the loss
on court-ordered sale of approximately RMB34,641,000 was
charged to profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2023.

For further details, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 12 August 2022 and 18 October 2022.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, an auction in
respect of certain completed properties held for sale of
Taizhou Xinming has taken place and the said completed
properties held for sale had been sold in the said auction
for an amount of RMB2,114,000 which is same as the
aggregate reserve price and accordingly the loss on
court-ordered sale of approximately RMB3,319,000 was
charged to profit or loss for the year ended 31 December
2024

*  English name is for identification purpose only.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R B I IRAREE

Year ended 31 December 2024 HZE=—Z—NFE+-_A=+—HIFE

COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE 18. HEHENERIYWE(E)
(CONTINUED)
The movements in impairment of completed properties held BIELEERIMEZRERES ST
for sale are as follows: T
024 2023
== m4 =%
B’00( RMB’000
R 8 AREFIT
At the beginning of the reporting R & B )
period 390,290 370,816
Additions NE 7,050 19,474
At the end of the reporting period ~ RIREHIR 397,340 390,290
TRADE RECEIVABLES 19. ESZBWRIE
024 2023
4 ZEZ=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
=k AREFT
Trade receivables B 5 I ERIE 11,474 28,734
Less: Allowance for impairment W ORERE (8,273) (27,308)
3,201 1,426

Trade receivables represent rentals receivable from tenants
which are normally payable on demand and sales income
receivables from customers which are payable in accordance
with the terms of the related sales and purchase agreements.
The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables and has a credit control department to minimise
credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by
management. In view of the aforementioned and the fact
that the Group's trade receivables relate to a large number of
diversified customers, there is no significant concentration of
credit risk.

Trade receivables are unsecured and non-interest-bearing.

BHREFERERKBEFMES(—K
BERMN) REREFOHERA
TyIRAR AR B B M IR - A%
1% 20 7 R 5 i B R UK (o] R AR IR Y B AR
2 WRBEEEHHPIREEER
B BHIGHREEEEERER - EN
PA_ERidt R A SR B RO E 5 e R TR B R
ZZTCEFER BAKEYEEER
EAEFEERR -

B RUGRARERRNLE -
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mRE B IRAR AL

Year ended 31 December 2024 BE—Z —MF+—A=+—HI-FE

19. TRADE RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date, and net of loss
allowance, is as follows:

19.

8% WA ()
REEHK - ERBEEAHANE S EI
OB CIRBREE) ERANWT :

Within 1 year —&FR

024 2023
T4 T
RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AREFIT

3,201 1,426

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

B RYGEREBEREESHIT

024 2023

T 94 —E-=F

RMB’000 RMB'000

R 8 AR T IT

At the beginning of the reporting R B )

period 27,308 27,123

Increase in allowance, net RIS N F 2R 8,273 185

Written off ivEz] (27,308) =

At the end of the reporting period Rk HIR 8,273 27,308
An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date WAED MRS RE BEET - FAEE

using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses.
The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings
of various customer segments with similar loss patterns
(i.e., by geographical region, product type, customer type
and rating, and coverage by letters of credit or other forms
of credit insurance). The calculation reflects the probability-
weighted outcome, the time value of money and reasonable
and supportable information that is available at the reporting
date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of
future economic conditions. Generally, trade receivables are
written off if past due for more than one year and are not
subject to enforcement activity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBMRME

Year ended 31 December 2024 HZE=—Z—NFE+-_A=+—HIFE

19. TRADE RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

20.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure

on the Group's trade receivables using a provision matrix:

At 31 December 2024

19. ES R FIE(E)
THIEE T4 B 2 B E 5 e Uk 2B B
HEHE SRR (E PR EEEtE)

R-ZE-_MFE+=-HA=+—H

Expected
credit Gross carrying Expected credit
loss rate amount losses
AHEE
EiE=x RHAE FAHEEEE
% RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T AR¥ET T
Past due 0 5
Within 1 year —F R 72.10 11,474 8,273
At 31 December 2023 RZEBEZ=F+=ZHA=+—H
Expected
credit Gross carrying Expected credit
loss rate amount losses
FEHEE
EE X BRERE JEHEESSE
% RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARBT T
Past due i1 HA
Within 1 year —FNR 45.36 2,610 1,184
More than 1 year —F LA E 100.00 26,124 26,124
95.04 28,734 27,308
PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 20. ENRE - HbBEWRIERHE
OTHER ASSETS L& =
024 2023
e ZEZ=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
R AR®ETF T
Prepayments SELNECE 2,397 3,152
Other tax recoverable H b AT Uk [B1 7 18 2,123 2,123
Deposits and other receivables e R HEAEWGIE 174,186 167,970
178,706 173,245
Less: Allowance for impairment B RE R (133,201) (133,012)
45,505 40,233

HEAPEZERARA R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRI

Year ended 31 December 2024 BE—Z —MF+—A=+—HI-FE

20. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 20. ANRIE - EttERRIERH

OTHER ASSETS (CONTINUED) ftEE(E)
Deposits and other receivables mainly represent deposits with e MEMEWRIETE AHEERIK
suppliers. In the situation where no comparable companies & MEEFBFAEEEETRNITEL
with credit ratings can be identified, expected credit losses BNA) AE2ERSENELEBERL
are estimated by applying a loss rate approach with reference HRABEREA G EHEEEE B
to the historical loss record of the Group. The loss rate is BR G EE R R L P2 A R IR R
adjusted to reflect the current conditions and forecasts of B R IBRIRREEER - RZF Y
future economic conditions, as appropriate. The average l0ss FH+ A=+ —RETENELRAR
rate applied for where there were no comparable companies BRTEROFEHEEERAR765%(ZF
at 31 December 2024 was 76.5% (2023: 79.2%). T=F 1 79.2%) °
The movements in allowance for impairment are as follows: WERBEHNAT
024 2023
T[4 —ECo=fF
B’00( RMB'000
R A ARBT T
At the beginning of the reporting N
period 133,012 130,441
Increase in impairment BN 18,567 2,571
Written off o (18,378) =
At the end of the reporting period ~ RIREHIR 133,201 133,012
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BHmRMEE
Year ended 31 December 2024 HE T _NF+-_A=+—HILFE
21. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 21. RERAEEEY
024 2023
=4 =%
B’000 RMB'000
R AR T T
Cash and equivalents RERAESEEY
Cash at bank, unrestricted RITIRE - RS 662 1,335
Denominated in RMB AARBEEE 661 1,332
Denominated in HK$ LAY TTEHE 1 2
Denominated in US$ LAZETTRTE - 1
662 1,335
024 2023
i —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
R AR®ETF T
Restricted deposits ZREFR
Represented by restricted pre-sales AR $IFEE S RE 25
proceeds 1,412 520
The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, ARBATTERERAEMERE » A
however, under the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control M BIERRINESIBIED R 4ETE - &
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and ERNEEERE  AEERESRE
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is RIEETINEEBNRITEARE N B
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through BEHMER - BTRSIRENREGHERT
banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business. Cash TR RE)Z S F) = BREVF B -

at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates.

FAREZERERAT —T-WEFHR 197
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e BRI

Year ended 31 December 2024 BE—Z —MF+—A=+—HI-FE

21. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

22.

23.

(CONTINUED)

In accordance with relevant documents issued by the PRC
State-Owned Land and Resource Bureau, certain property
development companies of the Group are required to place
in designated bank accounts certain amounts of pre-sale
proceeds of properties as deposits for constructions of related
properties. The deposits can only be used for purchases of
construction materials and the payments of construction fees
of the relevant property projects when approval from the PRC
State-Owned Land and Resource Bureau is obtained.

TRADE PAYABLES

An aging analysis of the outstanding trade payables the end of
the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

21. RERBEESEYWR)

REFERGLHEREERELNE
X AKRBETETYUEREAF
BRKBEENERSREANE T 2EE
BREERITEFAERERBRYE
MER - ZEFARAAEESTEEA
THEREEBIERANEEREN
HEXEEMERBENEEER -

22. BEZERRIE
RIMEHRENBEAHMAEERS
A IR BB DAT AT -

024 2023

= Jal 11 = =%

B’00( RMB'000

R ARBT T

Less than one year DR—F 16,842 131,593
Over one year —F A+ 442,724 352,105
459,566 483,698

The trade payables are unsecured and non-interest-bearing.

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

ESRAREREERREE -
23. Htt BN KRB RETEHA

024 2023

LB e

RMB’000 RMB'000

R ARET T

Other payables and accruals Hin e RN R IERTE A 337,605 263,545

Interest penalties ks 1,502,093 1,072,149

Other tax payables H A IR 87,036 82,957

BE City Loan (Note (a)) IR E R (FisE@)) 117,280 117,280

Deposits related to sales of HIHEMEBBNIRE

properties - 2,132

Interest payables FERT & 358,116 269,054

Deposits related to construction HERNBEBENIZS - 2,333

Payroll and welfare payables B TE KRBT 1,780 3,721

Rental payables B E - 159

Others Hth 43,709 20,000
Provision for litigations and claims & 7A K B8 = B (KT aE (b))

(Note (b)) 40,000 40,000

2,487,619 1,873,330
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R B I IRAREE

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE T NFE+_—A=+—HILFE

Except for interest payables and interest penalties which
are repayable on demand and BE City Loan set out below,
other payables and accruals are unsecured and non-interest-
bearing

Notes:

(@ Included in other payables and accruals at 1 January 2022 was a
loan of RMB43,000,000 from bz &= BR A R (BE City
Investment Holding Group Limited*) (“BE City Investment”)
which carries interest rate of 15% per annum to the Company’s
subsidiary LXRELEIE X B R A A (Shandong Xingmeng Property
Limited*) (“Shandong Xingmeng") and is repayable after one
year from date of drawdown (“BE Investment Loan"”). The BE
Investment Loan was secured by a charge on 75% equity
interest in a subsidiary of the Company and a corporate
guarantee of a subsidiary of the Company (collectively the
“Charges”).

During the year ended 31 December 2022, BE City Investment,
1b 423k T 2 B BR A &) (BE City Development Limited) (“BE City
Development”) and the Group entered into a loan transfer
agreement pursuant to which BE City Development has
provided a loan of RMB33,000,000 in cash to the Group for
partial settlement of BE Investment Loan and the Charges
were transferred to loan from BE City Development upon full
settlement of BE Investment Loan. The remaining balance of BE
Investment Loan of RMB10,000,000 was also settled during year
ended 31 December 2022.

At 31 December 2022, the loan from BE City Development
of RMB39,000,000 (“BE Development Loan”) carries interest
rate of 24% per annum and is repayable within one year.
The BE Development Loan was secured by charge on 75%
equity interest in a subsidiary of the Company and corporate
guarantee of a subsidiary of the Company. The full balance of
BE Development Loan was settled during the year ended 31
December 2023.

At 31 December 2023, the loan from BE City Development of
RMB117,280,000 (“BE Loan”) carries interest rate of 21% per
annum and is repayable within two years. The BE Loan was
secured by charge on 75% equity interest in a subsidiary of the
Company, completed properties held for sale and corporate
guarantee of a subsidiary of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, BE CE City Investment
initiated proceedings in the IR #& B R AR AR (“Court
C") against Shandong Xingmeng to demand outstanding BE
Loan approximately RMB117,280,000 together with interest and
penalty which shall accrue up to the date of actual payment
and all litigation costs relating to the case shall be borne by
Shandong Xingmeng.

In April 2024, the Court C handed down the first-instance
judgement that, among others, Shandong Xingmeng shall
pay outstanding BE Loan of RMB117,280,000 and interest
amounting to RMB5,720,000 as of 24 November 2023 to BE City
Development.

* English name is for identification purpose only.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mRE B IRAR AL

Year ended 31 December 2024 & Z= —=F

“WEF A=+ HLEFE

Notes: (Continued)

(@

*

(Continued)

In April 2024, Shandong Xingmeng did not accept the civil
judgment of the Court, and appealed to the IU R & & # A B
5 B (“Court D). After accepting the case on 3 June 2024,
Court D had formed a collegial panel for the hearing. In 19
August 2024, the Court D handed down the second instance
judgement that, among others, Shandong Xingmeng shall pay
outstanding BE Loan of RMB117,280,000 and interest amounting
to RMB5,720,000 to BE City Development.

In August 2024, || R # B & 2 F R A 7 did not accept the civil
judgment of the Court D, and appealed to the & # A R X
&= = A R X Bt (“Court E"). After accepting the case on 27
November 2024, Court E had formed a collegial panel for the
hearing. Up to the date of this report, there is no further update
of the above litigation.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, a service provider (the
“Plaintiff”) of the Company’s subsidiary Hi/HFAE ¥R EBR A
Al (Hangzhou Xinming Property Investment Limited*)
("Hangzhou Xinming") initiated proceedings in the People’s
Court of Gongshu District (“Court A"), Hangzhou City, Zhejiang
Province against Hangzhou Xinming to demand outstanding
entrusted management service fee, employee salary and benefit
and penalty in the sum of approximately RMB68,652,000,
together with penalty which shall accrue up to the date of actual
payment and all litigation costs relating to the case shall be
borne by Hangzhou Xinming.

In September 2020, the Court A handed down the first-instance
judgement that, among others, Hangzhou Xinming shall pay
outstanding entrusted management service, employee salary
and benefit in the sum of approximately RMB24,688,000 and
penalty of approximately RMB13,188,000 to the Plaintiff together
with penalty calculated at 0.03% per day from 1 April 2020 to
the date of repayment of amount aforementioned.

In November 2020, Hangzhou Xinming did not accept the
civil judgment of the Court, and appealed to the Intermediate
People’s Court of Hangzhou City, Zhejiang Province (“Court
B"). After accepting the case on 19 January 2021, Court B had
formed a collegial panel for the hearing. During the year ended
31 December 2021, the Court B handed down the second-
instance judgement that, among others, Hangzhou Xinming
shall pay outstanding entrusted management service, employee
salary and benefit in the sum of approximately RMB24,688,000
and penalty of approximately RMB2,443,417 to the Plaintiff
together with penalty calculated at 0.03% per day from 1 April
2020 to the date of repayment of amount aforementioned.

Accordingly, the Group has charged RMB40,000,000 to profit
or loss in relation to the above litigation for the year ended 31
December 2020. Up to the date of this report, there is no further
update of the above litigation.

English name is for identification purpose only.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBMRME

Year ended 31 December 2024 HZE=—Z—NFE+-_A=+—HIFE

24. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 24. EHNEE
Details of contract liabilities are as follows: EHBEFBEEINOT -
024 2023
wi: —E-=4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
R ¥ AR T T
Short-term advances received from REZFHNEHBHK
customers
Sale of properties HEWE 171,213 194,332
Contract liabilities represent the sales proceeds received from EHABERRERREAEETREY
buyers in connection with the Group’s pre-sale of properties ¥ B IR HEFTSRIE ©
at the end of the reporting period.
25. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 25. ST ERITREMER
BORROWINGS
2024 2023
- o1 13 ZZC=f
Effective Effective
interest rate  Maturity interest rate  Maturity
ERFE  HHA ERFE  HEA
% RMB'000 % RMB'000
% ARBTR % ARBTR
(Unaudited) (Audited)
(REBEH) (E5%)
Current Il
Current portion of STRETHAEDS - 3.00-15.60  On demand 1,212,708 6.80-11.50  On demand or 1,279,465
interest-bearing BEA or within within one
borrowings, secured one year year
—FR —5"
024 2023
wg- —E-=HF
RMB’000 RMB'000
R ARBT T
Analysed into: DA
Interest-bearing borrowings AR —FANEENGEEBK
repayable within one year 1,212,708 1,279,465

o —
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRI

Year ended 31 December 2024 = —ZF &+ —-A=+—RHIFE

At 31 December 2024, the Group’s borrowings amounting
approximately RMB1,209,000,000 (2023: RMB1,279,465,000)
were overdue pursuant to the relevant agreements which
constituted events of defaults.

In connection with the default and cross-default (if applicable),
the Group was subject to penalties of approximately
RMB1,028,095,000 (2023: RMB1,175,760,000) which were
included in the other payables and accruals at 31 December
2024.

The Group's borrowings are secured by the pledges of the
following assets 31 December 2024 and 2023 as follows:

(i) At 31 December 2024, the Group's borrowings of
approximately RMB216,847,000 (2023: RMB239,606,000)
were secured by the 100% equity interest in & M & & B
K & ¥ & R 2 7 (Taizhou Wenshang Times Property
Limited*) (“Wenshang Times”), a subsidiary of the
company.

At 31 December 2024, the Group's borrowings of
approximately RMB879,877,000 (2023: RMB875,000,000)
were secured by the Group's investment properties
with aggregate carrying values of approximately
RMB792,847,000 (2023: RMB918,200,000).

*  English name is for identification purpose only.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R B I IRAREE

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE T NFE+_—A=+—HILFE

At 31 December 2024, the Group's borrowings of
approximately RMB216,847,000 (2023: RMB239,606,000)
were jointly guaranteed by (i) the Controlling Shareholder,
Mr. Chen Chengshou, (i) the non-executive director, Ms.
Gao Qiaogin, (iii) a subsidiary of the Company, and (iv)
Xinming Group Limited, a related party of the Group.

At 31 December 2024, the Group's borrowings of
approximately RMB532,152,000 (2023: RMB584,858,000)
were jointly guaranteed by (i) the Controlling
Shareholders, Mr. Chen Chengshou, (ii) the non-
executive director, Ms. Gao Qiaogin, and (iii) a subsidiary
of the Company.

At 31 December 2024, the Group's borrowings of
approximately RMB460,000,000 (2023: RMB455,000,000)
were jointly guaranteed by (i) the Controlling
Shareholders, Mr. Chen Chengshou, (ii) the non-executive
director, Ms. Gao Qiaoqin, (iii) Xinming Group Limited, a
related party of the Group, and (iv) Miss Chen Xi and Mr.
Chen Junshi, the daughter and the son of the Controlling
Shareholder, Mr. Chen Chengshou and (v) a subsidiary of
the Company.

(i)

RZE_WmNFE+ A =+—
S| $$lm%ﬂmAE%
M6M7WWﬂ_$::¢ AE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRI

Year ended 31 December 2024 BE—Z —MF+—A=+—HI-FE

On 1 June 2018, the Company issued convertible bonds in the
aggregate principal amount of HK$300,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB252,604,000) (the “Convertible Bonds”) at
the price of 100% of their principal amount. The Convertible
Bonds were redeemable at the option of the bondholders at
a price of HK$1.39 per bond on 1 June 2020. The convertible
bonds bore interest at the rate of 6.5% plus 1% handling fee
per annum (the “Coupon Rate”) and were payable in arrears
every six months.

The convertible bonds were jointly guaranteed by the
Controlling Shareholder, Mr. Chen Chengshou, and the non-
executive director, Ms. Gao Qiaogin, pursuant to a deed
of guarantee, and secured by Xinxing Company Limited by
940,000,000 shares of the Company held by Xinxing Company
Limited, a company controlled by Mr. Chen Chengshou.

The Convertible Bonds were matured on 31 May 2020 and
the outstanding principal amount was not yet settled up to 31
December 2024.

The Convertible Bonds were recognised as financial liabilities
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through
profit or loss.

At 1 January 2023 R-ZE-_=F—H—H
Changes in fair value NIRRT

At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F+=A=+—H
Changes in fair value NABEEZE

At 31 December 2024 R-EBE-_ME+_-_HA=+—8H

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group’s Convertible Bonds
were valued by management of the Group by using discounted
cash flow method with the following key assumptions:

Discount Rate Coupon Rate

The fair value of the Convertible Bonds was categorised into
level 3 fair value hierarchy as defined in IFRS 13, Fair Value
Measurement. The significant unobservable input into this
valuation approach is the discount rate. An increase in the
discount rate used in isolation would result in a decrease in
the fair value measurement of the Convertible Bonds.
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7. ISSUED CAPITAL

28.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBMRME

Year ended 31 December 2024 HZE=—Z—NFE+-_A=+—HIFE

27. BRTER

Number of
shares Nominal value Nominal value
R EE HE HE
Equivalent to
HK$ RMB
B TAEARETT
Authorised: EE
At 31 December 2024 and RZEZNFER-T_=4F
2023 +=-—A=+—H 1,880,000,000 18,800,000 14,891,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRAR:
At 31 December 2024 and RZEZMFERT_=F
2023 +=—A=+—H 1,878,622,000 18,786,220 14,880,000
RESERVES 28. f#1E
Share premium IR 15 E

Share premium represents the excess of the net proceeds or
consideration from issuance of the Company’s shares over
their par value.

Merger reserves

The merger reserve represents the aggregate amount of the
paid-up capital of those companies comprising the Group
prior to the incorporation of the Company and the application
of merger method of accounting for business combinations
under common control. Details of the movements in the
merger reserve are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity.

Capital reserves

Capital reserve comprises the difference arising from changes
in ownership interests in subsidiaries which do not result in
change of control.

ity EREAR ﬂﬁé?ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂ%ﬁlﬁﬁ
BRREBOERNEENHD

EOtHRE

B AR IE R AN A A A 32 LA K 8 FA
HEZEGSTOEBE NG GTHER

$%@ﬁTQTW@E§$m$ & Bt

FEZDFFENGEREREBE -

EXR@EE
EXNREERLTSETITHEEEN
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LAl
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRI

Year ended 31 December 2024 BE—Z —MF+—A=+—HI-FE

29. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 29. R & RERKF
OF CASH FLOWS

(@) Major non-cash transactions (a) EXFHRERXS
Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated BRE "S- WNWER-_E-_=—4F+—
financial statements, the Group has no major non-cash B=+—HILFE  BREAHTE
transactions during the years ended 31 December 2024 WEHE I H Fﬁﬁzgg%%  ANEE
and 2023. BMETEIFRERS
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) MEZBEELENEEEE
activities
Interest-  Included in
bearing bank “Other
and other payables and
borrowings accruals” Total
T Al E At
FFESETR EARER
HAs &R FEsTERA et
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARETT ARETRT

At 1 January 2023 R-ZTE-=F—H—H 1,279,755 39,000 1,318,755
Changes from financing cash B ER & REZ T
flows (290) 78,280 77,990
At 31 December 2023 and i —
1 January 2024 +TZHA=+—HBXK
—E-F—HA—H 1,279,465 117,280 1,396,745
Changes from financing cash RER & REL
flows (66,757) - (66,757)
At 31 December 2024 R-ZEBE-_ME
+=A=+—8H 1,212,708 117,280 1,329,988
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

30. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

31.

At the end of the reporting period, contingent liabilities not
provided for in the consolidated financial statements were as
follows:

30.

Guarantees in respect of mortgage

facilities granted to purchasers of iR EIHER

RARENEERERNRIBRE

mEMBHwRRME
Year ended 31 December 2024 HZE=—Z—NFE+-_A=+—HIFE
HAREE
RIFEHR - WEAGRE M BRERTIR
BRENIABENT
024 2023
T4 —E=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
KB AREFIT
27,996 28,570

the Group's properties

The Group provided guarantees in respect of mortgage
facilities granted by certain banks to the purchasers of the
Group's completed properties held for sale. Pursuant to
the terms of the guarantee agreements, in case of default
on mortgage payments by the purchasers, the Group is
responsible for repaying the outstanding mortgage loans
together with any accrued interest and penalty owed by the
defaulted to banks. The Group is then entitled to take over the
legal titles of the related properties. The Group’s guarantee
period commences from the date of grant of the relevant
mortgage loan and ends after the execution of individual
purchaser’s collateral agreement.

The Group did not incur any material losses during the year
in respect of the guarantees provided for mortgage facilities
granted to purchasers of the Group’s completed properties
held for sale. The directors considered that in case of default
on payments, the net realisable value of the related properties
would be sufficient to repay the outstanding mortgage
loans together with any accrued interest and penalty, and
therefore no provision has been made in connection with the
guarantees.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

31.

AEEFBETRITAXAKERELED
BIMENBERERNIRBERE RHEE
R - RBERBZEOER - HERER
BEAR  AEEAREERERLZR
EBCERIZ A7 /& RRITHY (] FEET F
EREIR - Hg  AEEARERENH
WMENBEERE - AEENEREER
HAREZBERE A EEHNTENER
MIERIBRR B -

AEEYENFARAKERIFLED
RIVMENERBRNRBRERME
RMELEFNERNEE - EFRS 0
BEBRNR - HEMENAERFE
R ABEEREE R EFUEREME
B REI - BB A BIERTIR
B -

Contracted, but not provided for
properties under development

ERIERBERAETYE

BRI
\p 2023
T4 —E=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AREFT
24,467 3,774
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRI

Year ended 31 December 2024 BE—Z —MF+—A=+—HI-FE

Name and relationship

Name of related party

MEL A8 HE

Mr. Chen Chengshou
BRACPSEE

Ms. Gao Qiaogin
mhEr+

Xinming Group Limited
TS BEER AR

Yuanyang Holdings Group Share Limited Company

REEREEBR AT

Hangzhou Taoyuan Shanzhuang Property Development
Limited (“Hangzhou Taoyuan”)

MNBR L ER AR QB ([HMNBEIR])

Qi'an Insurance Brokers Limited (“Qi'an Insurance”)
WERBELBRAT ([1BZRE])

Hangzhou Kaijie Decoration Co., Ltd.
MMFEEFIEBR A A
Zhejiang Tianmao Landscape Engineering Co., Ltd.

HIREKBEMRTZBR AR

8 mERBER

Relationship with the Group
SRS EIEER

Controlling Shareholder
AR R

Wife of the Controlling Shareholder
ZERRE 2 ET

Controlled by the Controlling Shareholder
P 4% AR AR R A%

Significantly influenced by Mr. Zheng Xiangtian,
brother of the Controlling Shareholder
REARTE(ERRROM L) ERTE

Controlled by the Controlling Shareholder
P 4% AR AR SR A% A

Controlled by the Controlling Shareholder
P 4% AR AR R A%

Significantly influenced by Mr. Zheng Xiangtian,
brother of the Controlling Shareholder
REARTE(ERRROM L) ERTE

Controlled by Mr. Zheng Xiangtian, brother of
the Controlling Shareholder
FREPFIR S A& (I IR AR SR A B St ) 12 6]

In addition to the information disclosed elsewhere in the Mz A SR EM IR Fﬁ?&éﬁﬁ’]
consolidated financial statements, the Group had no significant BN BEZT_NFR-ZTZ=F

transactions with related parties during the years ended 31

December 2024 and 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e EHRRME
Year ended 31 December 2024 HZE=—Z—NFE+-_A=+—HIFE
32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 32. BB ARG (&)
(CONTINUED)
Compensation of key management personnel of FEEFEEEABNGMH
the Group
024 2023
=gl 11 2 —E=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
=k AREF T
Salaries, bonus, allowances and e TE4 - R REYF R
benefits-in-kind 2,216 2,189
Total compensation paid to key MEZEEABINOENRE
management personnel 2,216 2,189

33.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 33.

The table below is an analysis of the carrying amounts of
financial instruments by category at the end of the reporting

BEREINEMTR
TRARBEHREEREBSNESET
BRBREED -

period:
024 2023
itk —T=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
=k AREFIT
Financial assets at amortised cost BREBHERATENEREE
Trade receivables B 5 I ERIE 3,201 1,426
Financial assets included in FTATER A « B EUGRIE &
prepayments, other receivables HEMEENSREE
and other assets 40,985 34,958
Restricted deposits PR HI7F 5K 1,412 520
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBEeFEY 662 1,335
46,260 38,239
Financial liabilities at amortised cost IREBY KA EWNSHEE
Trade payables E S FRIE 459,566 483,698
Financial liabilities included in other st AEMENFIAN EZTE B
payables and accruals cRAaE 2,360,583 1,745,908
Interest-bearing bank and other FTEIRIT REABE R
borrowings 1,212,708 1,279,465
4,032,857 3,509,071
Financial liabilities at FVPL BARBEFAEBENESHERS
Convertible bonds Al AR E S 282,125 272,662
R EERARAD
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRI

Year ended 31 December 2024 BE—Z —MF+—A=+—HI-FE

4. EMIAZAREBERAARE
BERE &

34. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group's financial RE l@mﬁlﬁ( HEHEAAEES
instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that BRAEERINMERBERAALEBEN
reasonably approximate to fair values, are as follows: ™
Carrying amounts Fair values
SREIE AREE
024 2023 024 2023
=gl 1 k- —E=F ==l 11 —E=F
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
R ¥ ARE®ETF T R ARBTIT
Financial liabilities SRIAE
Convertible bonds AR ES 282,125 272,662 282,125 272,662

EIEEEHH fﬁ%&fﬁﬁgf?@ - E
%FEHAZ B SENRE - GTATRM

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and
cash equivalents, trade receivables, trade payables, financial
assets included in prepayments, other receivables and other ,HJ@FEJ%Z IE&Ei\’rtﬂﬁFZ%raﬁi
assets, financial liabilities included in other payables and ﬁ? FTAEAMENE IE&FE.#EFHZ
accruals, approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to TRMBELAANEBELAEERETDEBERS

the short-term maturities of these instruments.

The Group's finance department headed by the finance
manager is responsible for determining the policies and
procedures for the fair value measurement of financial
instruments. The finance manager reports directly to the
chief financial officer and the audit committee. At the end
of each reporting period, the finance department analyses
the movements in the values of financial instruments and
determines the major inputs applied in the valuation. The
valuation is reviewed and approved by the chief financial
officer. The valuation process and results are discussed with
the audit committee twice a year for interim and annual
financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties,
other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The following
methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair
values:

The convertible bonds were recognised as financial liabilities
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R B I IRAREE

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE T NFE+_—A=+—HILFE

Fair value hierarchy
Liabilities measured at fair value

Level 1
E—R
RMB'000
AREFIT
Convertible bonds R ES
At 31 December 2024 N-EBE-_mE
t=A=+—H
At 31 December 2023 RZZEZ=F
+=—R=+—8H =
At 31 December 2024 and 2023
Fair value Valuation
Liability hierarchy technique
=L AREEER 1 {BL 3 1l
Convertible bonds  Level 3 Discounted cash flow
method
AR ES E= BEemEAREE

Save as disclosed above, during the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers
into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and financial
liabilities. Accordingly, the Group assessed the fair value of the
Convertible Bonds using discounted cash flow method at 31
December 2024 and 2023 since the valuation using binomial
model was no longer applicable to assess fair value of the
Convertible Bonds upon maturity.

AREEER
RARBEFENER
Level 2 Level 3 Total
FE-R E=R st
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTT AR¥TT
- 272,662 272,662
RE-B-MER=-F-=F+=A
=+—AH
Relationship of
Unobservable unobservable inputs
input to fair value
TR ER S A 5 B
TABRBARE AAREENER
Discount rate The higher the discount
rate, the lower the fair
value
B = BIREEE - AREE
FR

BEXHEEEN BE-ZT-_NFR
“E-=F+-A=+—HIEFE @
cREERCRBEMS  ANEER
BWEE —REME_H7EHER R
EE-HHBANEDL - At - HRE
AZEXAEAGEREBETHERAR
EABREEANAAEBE BRZ
THERZFEZ=F+=A=+—8H"
REBFE R &R E IR AT T B
BENARBE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

B RS SR M =

Year ended 31 December 2024 BE—Z —MF+—A=+—HI-FE

34. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 4. ERMIAZAARBERAAE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) EER(E)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued) NABEERGE)
Liabilities measured at fair value (Continued) BAAREBEFENEEE)
The details of the movements of the recurring fair value KEHEAARBEFTESEAAAEEE
measurements categorised as Level 3 of the fair value ﬁ&%—@iﬁ’]x&iﬁ%l T
hierarchy are as follows:
Convertible
bonds
BB ES
RMB’000
ARBT T
At 1 January 2023 R-ZE-_=%F—HF—H 268,848
Changes in fair value NABEZD 3,814
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 RZE_=ZF+-_A=+—8HK
—FZWFE—H—H 272,662
Changes in fair value DAEEEE 9,463
At 31 December 2024 R-EBE-_ME+_-_A=+—H 282,125
35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 35. €RlEAMREE BERBER
AND POLICIES
The Group's principal financial instruments mainly include cash rEENTIESHIETIZREEREA
and cash equivalents, restricted deposits, trade receivables EReEENRe kRSB - R
and trade payables, which arise directly from its operations. HITFER  EZEWZENARE FEMNR
The Group has other financial assets and liabilities such as B oASEHFAEMemEERARE
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, convertible M BRITREMER - TRKRES -
bonds, deposits and other receivables, and other payables Ze REMBUEKIE - U RHEAE R
and accruals. The main purpose of these financial instruments IE&FE.#EH% ZETRMIAENETER
is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. BEATSEMNELHEEES -
The main risks arising from the Group's financial instruments rEEeRmTAMEEANEERR AT
are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and Rk - INERR - EERBREREE
liquidity risk. The Group does not hold or issue derivative AR  AEEUEBFBRETITES
financial instruments either for hedging or for trading raEIELM’EéTFHZA,‘ZﬁH E2gR
purposes. The board of directors reviews and agrees policies S EEE RS R A BRE - TyBan
for managing each of the risks which are summarised below: T
Interest rate risk F == = e
The Group's exposure to market risk for changes in interest EE AR R BB AT AT SRR E
rates relates primarily to its interest- bearing bank and other ZEZB ARG ERITREMERE
borrowings with a floating interest rate. The Group does not B NEBWHFERITES R T AL
use derivative financial instruments to hedge its interest rate EF R g o
risk.
212
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R B I IRAREE

Year ended 31 December 2024 HZE=—Z—NFE+-_A=+—HIFE

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

The Group's policy is to manage its interest cost using a mix
of fixed and floating rate debts. At 31 December 2024 and
2023, 100% of the Group's interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings bore interest at fixed rates. The Group’s exposure
to interest rate risk is not significant.

Foreign currency risk

The Group's businesses are located in the PRC and all
transactions are conducted in RMB. Most of the Group’s assets
and liabilities are denominated in RMB. The Group has not
hedged its foreign exchange rate risk. At 31 December 2024
and 2023, the Group's exposure to foreign currency risk is not
significant.

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third
parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish
to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification
procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on
an ongoing basis and the Group's exposure to bad debts is not
significant. For transactions that are not denominated in the
functional currency of the relevant operating unit, the Group
does not offer credit terms without the specific approval of
the Head of Credit Control.

35. TR EREEBRBERBER(E)

Fl=E ks (E)
AEBZBEBUEERZFEHFEREE
BEMAFAEZEFNBERAR - RZF
THERZFE=F+A=+—8 "
AEE100%:T BERIT R HEAERIZE T
MZe B - REBFAAZ ZAERRABKRIL
FEK

EA

ARERTEEERE - RERZHMN
ARBET - ARBABHEERAE
MARBHE - AEBWARE HHER
Bk R—_T_MER_-_FT_=F+—
A=+—B  AKEMEZZINERER
IAREKX -

FERR
AEEEEERTABERINE=T
EIRD - ARENBRBMBITEIN
EEMRSINEFPHERIEERER
FFoo SN » REBF R R R B WGRIR K
g BATAKIBERANER I NEX o §
RAFAR R L EEMINEE BT EDN
Ry AEEERAEEEEENREIER
EHENBERAT I EHETEER -
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e BRI

Year ended 31 December 2024 BE—Z —MF+—A=+—HI-FE

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 35. €REMEEAERBK(E)
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging = L Be B 5 R P BR
The tables below shows the credit quality and the maximum TERETRTZA=1+—8 ' ERAE
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, EEERXRNEEEZRRERNESE
which is mainly based on past due information unless other ERB(EEERBAINHER - KRIE
information is available without undue cost or effort, and BEHAMBARETVERANNIEHA]
period end staging classification as at 31 December. RAER) KRR DS -
The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for 2N REMEENREBELK
financial assets and the exposure to credit risk for the financial CRIERENERENEERR -
guarantee contracts.
At 31 December 2024 R-ZB-MFE+=-A=+—H
12-month
ECL Lifetime ECL
128 AR
REFR 2HENEERE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
g ERE E A% @t
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT AR¥TR AR¥ETr AR¥Tnr AR¥Tx
Trade receivables (Note (i) B 5 R E (R0 - - 11,474 - 11,474
Financial assets included in STABRHE - Bt EKHIER
prepayments, other receivables and EhEENSREER
other assets
~Normal (Note (ii) — EB (Fit3E(i) 4,372 - - - 4,372
- Doubtful (Note (ii) AR - 10 167,726 2,078 169,814
Restricted deposits RRAER
- Not yet past due — K@ H 1,412 - - - 1,412
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREZEY
- Not yet past due il 662 - - - 662
6,446 10 179,200 2,078 187,734
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBMRME

Year ended 31 December 2024 HZE=—Z—NFE+-_A=+—HIFE

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Credit risk (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued)

At 31 December 2023

35. *EREEEERBE(E)

FERR (&)
BERBRRFRERDE(H)

RZE-_=F+=-_A=+—H

12-month
ECL Lifetime ECL
1208 A B
REER SHRBEERE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F-Re 1 F-RE Bltrt &5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT  AREBTT  ARETT  ARETT ARETR
Trade receivables (Note (i) B SRR () = = - 28,734 28,734
Financial assets included in AR - EfEKGER
prepayments, other receivables and HhEENSREE
other assets
- Normal (Note (ii) — IE% (FitaE(i) 51,000 - - - 51,000
- Doubtful (Note (ii) — Tk (JaE (i) - 24,161 92,809 - 116,970
Restricted deposits RIRHFH
- Not yet past due — kg 520 - - - 520
Cash and cash equivalents B RALEED
- Not yet past due Nl 1,335 - - - 1,335
52,855 24,161 92,809 28,734 198,559
Notes: iz -

(i) For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified
approach for impairment, information based on the provision
matrix is disclosed in Note 19 to the consolidated financial

statements.

(i The credit quality of the financial assets included in
prepayments, other receivables and other assets is considered
to be “normal” when they are not past due and there is no
information indicating that the financial assets had a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. Otherwise,
the credit quality of the financial assets is considered to be

“doubtful”.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group's exposure
to credit risk arising from trade receivables and the financial
assets included in prepayments, other receivables and other
assets are disclosed in notes 19 and 20 to the consolidated
financial statements respectively.

() BAEEEAGCHEERENES
RWRIEM S - BHDERGEESIH

WRM 1P IRE B EER -

(i) HErATER R - At EURIE R
MWEENEREEY RANAHESE
HBERZEeREENEERRAY
IRHERIA R Z LN - A EERER
WRIEIER ] - BAl > ZEEREE

BEEERERIEF5E] -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRI

Year ended 31 December 2024 = —ZF &+ —-A=+—RHIFE

Credit risk (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of the
financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables
and other assets are as follows:

12-month
ECL
1218 A 7
FEEE
Stage 1
E—H
RMB'000
AREET T
At 1 January 2023 RZT—=%F
—H—H 4,068
Increase (Decrease) in BB I OR )
allowance, net FEE 6,699
At 31 December 2023 and W -ZT-=4%F
1 January 2024 +=-—A=+—8
R ZEZNE
_H N
Increase (Decrease) in B O )
allowance, net FER
At 31 December 2024 R-ZE-mE
+=—A=+—H

The significant increase in allowance for impairment in Stage 3
for the years ended 31 December 2024 is due to the prolonged
weak investment sentiments in the commercial property
market in the PRC, which adversely affect relationship with the
Group’s business partner and suppliers.

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using
a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the
maturity of both its financial instruments and financial assets
(e.g., trade receivables) and projected cash flows from
operations.

The Group's objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings. Cash flows are being
closely monitored on an ongoing basis.

Annual Report 2024

EERR (&)

=S E R R FRE RS E(E)

FEATRN IR - RERHREREGBE
ENSREERERBREBESHNT -

Lifetime ECL

2HEMEEBE
Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
B B=H mct
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AR¥TT ARETR
20,786 105,587 130,441
3,375 (7,503) 2,571

HE_ZT_NF+_A=1+—HILFE
= MR E B R IE LS 0 T B R B R
MEMBHRERFTHFEER  H4 &
EHEEEBRH MHERHBERERT

MEE -

REETE R
AEEFABRERDESHEEER
BESRRZAR - W TAEERESR
TEEGRMEE(MEHRWFHIEA) 23
HAARREFHRSREZTRA

AEENBEREREBERFERITRE
e SRR E BB REER I 2R

T - ReRERERITIERE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R B I IRAREE

Year ended 31 December 2024 HZE=—Z—NFE+-_A=+—HIFE

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at
the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual
undiscounted payments, was as follows:

At 31 December 2024

35. SREREREEE

REE S E (&)
E’H*t& HIR  AREERGHRBEN
FOTRABEINRBERWT

R-ZE-_NFE+=-A=+—H

On d 0 0
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Trade payables & SN FKIE - 459,566 459,566
Other payables and accruals H fth E A< 5RIE KR FEEH B 2,243,303 117,280 2,360,583
Interest-bearing bank and other T RRIT R E MK
borrowings 1,212,708 - 1,212,708
Convertible bonds AR ES 282,125 - 282,125
3,738,136 576,846 4,314,982
At 31 December 2023 RZEBZ=F+=ZHA=+—H
Within
On demand 1 year Total
BREK 1FR @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETT AR%Trx
Trade payables g SRR FRIE - 483,698 483,698
Other payables and accruals H R IR ERTE A 1,628,628 117,280 1,745,908
Interest-bearing bank and other FTEERTT R E M AR
borrowings 1,279,465 - 1,279,465
Convertible bonds AT R (E F 272,662 - 272,662
3,180,755 600,978 3,781,733
Capital management BEXER
The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is AEEEAEENETZAEARRAL
to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating and a healthy BROIEATRRBRENE R L EAL

capital ratio in order to support its business and maximise
shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions.
To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made
in the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital
during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

REXBREBRREESAE -

AEEEEEEARB I RIBLENRR
MEBPHUEFHRAE - SEFIAEE
$%%’$%Eﬂﬁ%ﬂ%$ﬁﬁ%%
CARERREEARBITHR - HE
_Y_EE&_?_—$+ A=1—
BILFE  YEHEREANER K
REIEFFEHTE -

HEAFEZERARDR

—ZomEFEHR 217
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2024 BE—Z —MF+—A=+—HI-FE

36. SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the subsidiaries at the end of the reporting period

are as follows:

36. MYEB A T

REHRMBRARNFENT

Place of Percentage of
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ equity attributable
registration and registered share to the Company
business capital FAFEEERE A
Name of subsidiary MR/ BRLER/ Directly Indirectly ~ Principal activities
MEBARER EMREELH EfRE Ef BE  FEEH
Xinming Capital Limited The British Virgin Islands US§50,000 100% - Investment holding
(the "BVI) (2023 100%)
Xinming Capital Limited EBRAHS 50,0005 100% - RESR
((#BRaEE]) (ZZZ=% :100%)
Xinming China Investment Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 = 100%  Investment holding
(2023:100%)
HATEREERAT &b 1,000,000% 7T - 100% REER
(ZEZ=ZF:100%)
Wangdate Marketing Consultancy Hong Kong HK$1 10% - Investment management
Company
Wangdate Marketing Consultancy Bk 1T 10% - REER
Company
RMEACLERAAERAR The PRC RMB30,000,000 - 100%  Investment holding
(Hangzhou Times Enterprise (2023: 100%)
Management Consulting Limited)
RNBACEERAAERAA Gl AR30,000,00070 - 100% RARR
(ZZZ=F 1 100%)
FREEREAERAR (Xinming Group  The PRC RMB50,000,000 - 100%  Investment holding
Holding Limited) (2023 100%)
MREEERAR AR i AR 50,000,007 = 00%  wEER
(ZZZ=F 1 100%)
BHmHARNERREERAR (Taizhou  The PRC RMB10,000,000 = 100%  Property development
City Xinming Real Estate Development (2023: 100%)
Company Limited)
BT RRNEREERAT el ARE10,000,0007T - 00% WERE
(ZZZ=5 1 100%)
Taizhou Xinming The PRC RMB30,000,000 - 100%  Property development and
(2023:100%)  property investment
B3 P AE#30,000,0007 = 00% MERERWERE
(ZZZ=F 1 100%)
Wenshang Times The PRC RMB50,000,000 - 100%  Property development and
(2023:100%)  property investment
AR # ARE50,000,0007T - 100% MERERNFRE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBMRME

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE T NFE+_—A=+—HILFE

Percentage of

Place of
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/
registration and registered share
husiness capital
Name of subsidiary AL/ BRTLER/
MEARER ERREELE ERBEA
Shanghai Xinming The PRC RMB50,000,000
i9:Eitd t A& 50,000,007
Shandong Xingmeng The PRC RMB50,000,000
IEL # K %50,000,0007
Hangzhou Xinming The PRC RMB50,000,000
FMRER # AR 50,000,000
ANEREZERAT The PRC RMB100,000,000
(Hangzhou Zhiyao Commercial
Limited)
MNBRAEXERAT m AR 100,000,000
MIEMREERRRAE (hejiang  The PRC RMB5,000,000
Jinhang Investment Management
Limited)
HIRMREERARAA t AR 5,000,007

Note: The subsidiaries established in the PRC are registered as limited
liability companies under PRC law.

* English name is for identification purpose only.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in
the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding
during the reporting period or at the end of the reporting
period.

equity attributable
to the Company

AAAREREAD

Directly Indirectly ~ Principal activities
E# HE  TERXH

= 79%  Property development and
(2023: 79%) property investment
= 1%  DEFERNERE
(ZE=ZF:79%)

- 75%  Property development and
(2023:75%)  property management
- 5% MERERMEEE
(ZBZ=F:75%)

= 100%  Property development and
(2023:100%)  property management
100%
- (ZEZZE00%) DERERDEER

- 100%  Industrial investment
(2023: 100%)

= 100% EXke
(ZBZ=F:100%)

- 79%  Investment management
(2023 79%)

= 7% REEE
(ZBZ=% : 79%)

BEEE - pOrPR BRSO BT B X B Ty AR R o B A
REMASBERAR -

ERINHEBEERRTEFEFERAR
BRAEBARY FEENKRAMNE
NAE - BERL  RHECHEBARN
HERERFBEBNITE °

BUEM B A RN R E AL REHRE
BEMAARER 2 EBES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2024 BE—Z —MF+—A=+—HI-FE

37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY

37. A A A BB AR O R

024 2023
T4 —E=F
Note B’00( RMB’000
B 5 S i AREFIT
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables H B FRIE 513,436 449,065
Convertible bonds TR ES 282,125 272,622
795,561 721,687
Net current assets REEE T 795,561 721,687
Total assets less current BWEERRBERE
liabilities (795,561) (721,687)
NET LIABILITIES EEFE (795,561) (721,687)
Capital and reserves EXR#E
Issued capital BEEITRA 14,880 14,880
Reserves (i 37(a) (810,441) (736,567)
TOTAL EQUITY B (795,561) (721,687)
37(a) Movement of the reserves 37() REEH
Share Accumulated Total
premium losses reserves
B3 RE R2itE#E ERCFCEE]
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETFT ARETRT ARETT
At 1 January 2023 WZE-_=F—H—H 496,155 (1,121,415) (625,260)
Loss and total other FABELEMEEEER
comprehensive loss for the FERE
year - (111,307) (111,307)
At 31 December 2023 and RZZE—=F
1 January 2024 +-—A=+—8K
—ZT-&E—A—H 496,155  (1,232,722) (736,567)
Loss and total other FRNBEEMEMEEER
comprehensive loss for the R
year - (73,874) (73,874)
At 31 December 2024 R-Z_E
+=-g=+—H 496,155  (1,306,596) (810,441)
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On 16 January 2025, the Company was informed by
Mr. Lai Kar Yan (Derek) and Mr. Ho Kwok Leung Glen
of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu whom were appointed
by Chance Talent Management Limited as joint and
several receivers over the Placing Shares and the Sale
Shares (“the Receivers”) that on 8 January 2025 (after
trading hours), the Xinxing Company Limited (acting by
the Receivers as its attorney without personal liability
pursuant to the powers granted under the Share
Charge), the Receivers and Innovax Securities Limited
("Placing Agent”) entered into the Placing Agreement,
pursuant to which the Placing Agent place an aggregate
of 752,137,800 Placing Shares held by the Vendor
(representing approximately 40.04% of the entire issued
share capital of the Company as of 8 January 2025) to the
Placees at the Placing Price.

On 16 January 2025, the Company was informed by the
Receivers that on 13 January 2025, the Placing Agent
successfully placed all the 752,137,800 Placing Shares
at the Placing Price of HK$0.011 per Placing Share to
the respective Placees. The 752,137,800 Placing Shares
placed under the Placing represents approximately
40.04% of the entire issued share capital of the Company
as at 16 January 2025.

Details of the placing of existing shares by controlling
shareholder were set out in the Company’s
announcements dated 16 January 2025 and 21 January
2025.

RZZEZAF—A+XB AR
7] & Chance Talent Management
LimitedZE R B & R H R HE R
MEEEREREE ANEEH
BERAEHMITORERLEER
MEREE(TEEADSH  R®
ZERF-ANB(RGEHR
% ) - Xinxing Company Limited
(HEEARBZEREETH
EHERER %/\ﬁ%ﬁﬁ,ﬁ/ﬁ%
BEAEMR) EEARAR
%ﬁﬁﬁ@ﬁﬂ((@a%ﬁﬁj)ﬂz
IeE e - Hit - S RERE
EEMEAEARSEEFFIFEH
752,127,800% AL & A% 15 <7fa*‘75%z
ETRF-ANBAERAR
BBITIRAL740.04%) °

%:%:Ei—ﬂ+ﬁﬁ $
RIEEEAEN R aF
—A+=8" @E%ﬁfiaﬁzm%
E G A E 15 0.0118 T I |
B FE# B A BE B 2 36752,137,800
PREEERRD - BEEETFEEEN
752,137,800 R e E R =&
“RFE—A+TRAARREIEE
1T K %740.04% ©

BRERRREEREGRNOFE
BRARREH R T _A%F—H
TRERZZE_AFE—-A=+—H

DPNTE
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On 16 January 2025, the Company was informed by the
Receivers that on 8 January 2025 (after trading hours),
the Vendor (acting by the Receivers as its attorney
without personal liability pursuant to the powers granted
under the Share Charge), the Receivers and the Share
Purchaser entered into the Share Sale Agreement
pursuant to which, the Vendor (acting by the Receivers
as its attorney without personal liability pursuant to
the powers granted under the Share Charge) agreed
to sell and the Share Purchaser agreed to purchase
an aggregate of 187,862,200 Sale Shares (representing
10.00% of the entire issued share capital of the Company
as of 8 January 2025) at the total consideration of
HK$1,983,700.

The Company was further informed by the Receivers that
completion of the Share Sale took place on 16 January
2025.

After the Share Sale, the Share Purchaser, Motivational
Mathematics, held an aggregate of 187,862,200 Shares,
representing 10.00% of the existing issued share
capital of the Company and has become a substantial
shareholder of the Company.

On 16 January 2025, the Company was informed by
Chance Talent that on 15 January 2025, Advance Day and
Chance Talent (“CB Sellers”) transferred the convertible
bonds, free from all encumbrances, together with all
rights and entitlements attaching to them, to the CB
Purchaser, Motivational Mathematics Limited, at the total
consideration of HK$31.5 million. After the Share Sale and
the CB Sale and as at the date of this report, Motivational
Mathematics Limited held an aggregate of 187,862,200
Shares, representing 10.00% of the existing issued share
capital of the Company and upon full exercise of the
conversion rights attaching to the convertible bonds,
Motivational Mathematics Limited will be interested in
403,689,538 Shares, representing approximately 19.27%
of the enlarged issued share capital of the Company.
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RZZEZRAF—H+B  XQF
EEEAESN R-_ZT-_RAF—
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HEDE B BEAREEA
REZERERETHRIERER
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REERDEER_TE_RF—
ANBARRG 2B EITRAL
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
hFMBHRE

For the Year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ—ZE—NF+—_A=+—HILFE

The five-year financial summary is as follows: TEMBHMENT

For the year ended 31 December

BET-A=t-HLEE

024 2023 2022 2021 2020
g 4 —E-=F —E-C-F —E--F TECTE
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
R ARET T ARBT T ARBT T ARET T
CONTINUING OPERATIONS  HERQ& ik
REVENUE g+ 86,843 422,580 35,198 101,833 128,537
Cost of sales SHERR (66,176) (369,140) (15,187) (24,214) (66,977)
Gross profit EH 20,667 53,440 20,011 77,619 61,560
Other income and gains Hip A R 21 (6,186) (22,738) 279,894 3,435
Selling and distribution costs & kD R A (3,577) (4,496) (13,206) (19,592) (18,533)
Administrative expenses THAX (19,821) (33,165) (55,634) (41,476) (48,134)
Other expenses HiA% (473,844) (440,315) (599,391) (421,367) (1,051,238)
Net loss on de-consolidation  EUH4RA ABR—FINE
of a subsidiary ARMEBEFE - - - (640,056) =
Loss on court-ordered sale of  JERm S HEREHEN
completed properties held BRTIMENEE
for sale (3,319) (34,641) (280,788) - -
Loss on court-ordered sale of  ERRBmSHE—BREY
an investment property i) - - (686,597) - -
Changes in fair value of REMERAEBED
investment properties (12,270) (17,900) (1,082,900) (2,000) (22,900)
Changes in fair value of EREHFANEEEEY
convertible bonds (9,463) (3,814) (24,336) 8,092 20,363
Finance costs MEKA (96,663) (77,079) (84,044) (83,053) (973)
LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX  RFiEHAIER (598,269) (564,156) (2,829,623) (841,939) (1,056,420)
Income tax (expenses)/credit  FER(FX),/H% 8,578 (28,475) 440,019 10,833 (59,484)
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FREE (589,691) (592,631) (2,389,604) (831,106) (1,115,904)
Other comprehensive expense E&ATHEH I BEBH
item that maybe reclassified ~ WHEM2EAXER :
subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange difference arising  #HEEINEREE Y
on translation of foreign EHER
operation (57) - - - -
Total comprehensive expense ~ F£R2HEE XA
for the year (589,748) (592,631) (2,389,604) (831,106) (1,115,904)
Loss for the year attributable to: B\ T A+ B ERES
Owners of the Company AARERA (542,523) (526,121) (2,250,428) (863,935) (1,000,756)
Non-controlling interests IR (47,168) (66,510) (139,176) 32,829 (115,148)
(589,691) (592,631) (2,389,604) (831,106) 1,115,904
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For the year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=t-HLEE

024 2023 2022 2021 2020
wE: —E-=F -2 “T-—fF —Z-%F
RMB’00( RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
R ARET T ARET T ARET T ARET T
Total comprehensive expense ~ FRA2EEAXLE
for the year (589,748) (592,631) (2,389,604) (831,106) (1,115,904)
Total comprehensive expense AT ALEEER2E
for the year attributable to: B
Owners of the parent company  &ARIHEHB A (542,580) (526,121) (2,250,428) (863,935) (1,000,756)
Non-controlling interests RS (47,168) (66,510) (139,176) 32,829 (115,148)
(589,748) (592,631) (2,389,604) (831,106) (1,115,904)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERERE
Non-current assets FRBEE 1,134,461 1,128,977 1,139,066 3,064,833 3,386,208
Current assets MEEE 1,010,250 1,086,700 1,487,760 2,158,841 3,036,023
Current liabilities TEaE 5,518,233 5,006,871 4,830,364 4,722,485 4,977,168
Non-current liabilities FREEE 175,742 168,322 163,347 478,470 581,013
Non-controlling interests IR (304,798) (203,485) (136,975) 2,201 (20,403)
Total (deficit) equity (BAt ) EmEE (3,549,264) (2,959,516) (2,366,885) 22,719 864,050
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